# A GROTHENDIECK TOPOS OF GENERALIZED FUNCTIONS I: BASIC THEORY

#### PAOLO GIORDANO, MICHAEL KUNZINGER, AND HANS VERNAEVE

ABSTRACT. The main aim of the present work is to arrive at a mathematical theory close to the historically original conception of generalized functions, i.e. set theoretical functions defined on, and with values in, a suitable ring of scalars and sharing a number of fundamental properties with smooth functions, in particular with respect to composition and nonlinear operations. This is how they are still used in informal calculations in Physics. We introduce a category of generalized functions as smooth set-theoretical maps on (multidimensional) points of a ring of scalars containing infinitesimals and infinities. This category extends Schwartz distributions. The calculus of these generalized functions is closely related to classical analysis, with point values, composition, non-linear operations and the generalization of several classical theorems of calculus. Finally, we extend this category of generalized functions into a Grothendieck topos of sheaves over a concrete site. This topos hence provides a suitable framework for the study of spaces and functions with singularities. In this first paper, we present the basic theory; subsequent ones will be devoted to the resulting theory of ODE and PDE.

#### Contents

1. Introduction: foundations of generalized functions as set-theoretical	
maps	2
2. The ring of scalars and its topologies	4
2.1. Topologies on $\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$	7
2.2. Open, closed and bounded sets generated by nets	9
3. Generalized functions as smooth set-theoretical maps	12
4. Embedding of Schwartz distributions	16
5. Differential calculus and the Fermat-Reyes theorem	27
6. Integral calculus using primitives	31
7. Some classical theorems for generalized smooth functions	34
8. Multidimensional integration and hyperlimits	40
8.1. Integration over functionally compact sets	41
8.2. Hyperfinite limits	44
8.3. Properties of multidimensional integral	46

<sup>2020</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification. 46-XX, 46Fxx, 30Gxx, 46Txx, 46F30, 26E30, 58A03. Key words and phrases. Generalized functions, Nonlinear functional analysis, Non-Archimedean analysis, Topos.

P. Giordano has been supported by grants P30407, P33538, P34113, P30233, P25311, P25116 and P26859 of the Austrian Science Fund FWF.

M. Kunzinger has been supported by grant P30233 of the Austrian Science Fund FWF.

H. Vernaeve has been supported by grant 1.5.129.18N of the Research Foundation Flanders FWO.

9. Sheaf properties	49
9.1. The Lebesgue generalized number	51
9.2. The dynamic compatibility condition	52
9.3. Proof of the sheaf property	53
10. The Grothendieck topos of generalized smooth functions	56
10.1. Coverages, sheaves and sites	56
10.2. The category of glueable functions	58
10.3. Coverage of glueable functions	60
10.4. The sheaf of glueable functions	61
10.5. Concrete sites and generalized diffeological spaces	62
11. Conclusions and future perspectives	64
References	65

## 1. INTRODUCTION: FOUNDATIONS OF GENERALIZED FUNCTIONS AS SET-THEORETICAL MAPS

The aim of the present work is to lay the foundations for a new approach to the theory of generalized functions, so-called *generalized smooth functions* (GSF). In developing such a theory, various objectives can be pursued, and our motivations mainly come from applications in mathematical physics and nonlinear singular differential equations, where the need for such a nonlinear theory is well-known (see, e.g., [47, 110, 52, 17, 8, 91, 81, 11, 48] for applications in mathematical physics, [106, 105, 53, 27, 50, 17] for differential equations, and references therein).

In particular, our aim is to arrive at a mathematical theory close to the historically original conception of generalized function, [20, 73, 60]: in essence, the idea of authors such as Dirac, Cauchy, Poisson, Kirchhoff, Helmholtz, Kelvin and Heaviside (who informally worked with "numbers" which also comprise infinitesimals and infinite scalars) was to view generalized functions as certain types of smooth settheoretical maps obtained from ordinary smooth maps by introducing a dependence on suitable infinitesimal or infinite parameters. We call this idea the Cauchy-Dirac approach to generalized functions. For example, the density of a Cauchy-Lorentz distribution with an infinitesimal scale parameter was used by Cauchy to obtain classical properties which nowadays are attributed to the Dirac delta, [60]. More generally, in the GSF approach, generalized functions are seen as set-theoretical functions defined on, and attaining values in, a suitable non-Archimedean ring of scalars containing infinitesimals and infinities, as well as sharing essential properties of ordinary smooth functions. In the present work, we will develop this point of view, and prove that it generalizes the mentioned Cauchy-Dirac approach. In our view, the main benefits of this theory lie in a clarification of a number of foundational issues in the theory of generalized functions, namely:

- (i) GSF include all Schwartz distributions, see Thm. 25, and Colombeau generalized functions, see [43].
- (ii) They allow nonlinear operations on generalized functions, Sec. 3, and to compose them unrestrictedly, Thm. 28.
- (iii) GSF are simpler than standard approaches as they allow us to treat generalized functions more closely to classical smooth functions. In particular, they

 $\mathbf{2}$ 

allow us to prove a number of analogues of fundamental theorems of classical analysis: e.g., mean value theorem, intermediate value theorem, extreme value theorem, Taylor's theorem, see Sec. 7, local and global inverse function theorem, [42], integrals via primitives, Sec. 6, multidimensional integrals, Sec. 8, theory of compactly supported functions, [41]. Therefore, this approach to generalized functions results in a flexible and rich framework which allows both the formalization of calculations appearing in physics and the development of new applications in mathematics and mathematical physics.

- (iv) Several results of the classical theory of calculus of variations can be developed for GSF: the fundamental lemma, second variation and minimizers, higher order Euler-Lagrange equations, D'Alembert principle in differential form, a weak form of the Pontryagin maximum principle, necessary Legendre condition, Jacobi fields, conjugate points and Jacobi's theorem, Noether's theorem, see [75, 28].
- (v) The closure with respect to composition leads to a solution concept of differential equations close to the classical one. In the second and third article of this series, we will introduce a non-Archimedean version of the Banach fixed point theorem that is well suited for spaces of GSF, a Picard-Lindelöf theorem for both ODE and PDE, results about the maximal set of existence, Gronwall theorem, flux properties, continuous dependence on initial conditions, full compatibility with classical smooth solutions, etc., see [77, 44].

Moreover, we think that a satisfactory theory of generalized functions as used in mathematical physics should also provide an extension to function spaces, possibly in a Cartesian closed category or, better, in a topos. The use of a Cartesian closed category as a useful framework for mathematics and mathematical physics can be motivated in several ways:

- (i) It is well known that a non trivial problem of the category **Man** of smooth manifolds is the absence of closure properties with respect to interesting categorical operations such as the construction of function spaces Man(M, N), subspaces, equalizers, etc., see [7, 9, 14, 30, 37, 38, 58, 72, 62, 74, 82, 107, 108, 109]. The search for a Cartesian closed category embedding **Man** is the most widespread approach to solving this problem.
- (ii) In physics, the necessity to use infinite-dimensional spaces frequently appears. A classical example is the space Man(M, N) of all smooth mappings between two smooth manifolds M and N, or some of its subspaces, e.g. the space of all the diffeomorphisms of a smooth manifold. Typically, we are interested in infinite dimensional Lie groups, because they appear, e.g., in the study of both compressible and incompressible fluids, in magnetohydrodynamics, in plasma-dynamics or in electrodynamics (see e.g. [2] and references therein). It is also well established (see e.g. [30, 37, 34]) that Cartesian closedness is a desirable condition in the calculus of variations.
- (iii) The convenient setting, [72, 30], is the most advanced theory of smooth spaces extending the theory of Banach manifolds. Some applications of this notion to classical field theory can be found in [1]. In addition, several other approaches to a new notion of smooth space have been motivated by problems of physics. For example, the notion of diffeological space has been used in [107, 108, 109], starting also from a variant of [14], to study quantization of coadjoint orbits

in infinite dimensional groups of diffeomorphisms. Diffeological spaces form a Cartesian closed, complete, co-complete quasi-topos, [58, 7, 64].

For these reasons, we close this work by embedding our category of generalized functions into a Grothendieck topos, see Sec. 10.

Finally, a theory of generalized functions for mathematical physics frequently appears coupled with a theory of actual infinitesimals and infinities (see e.g. [56, 64, 63, 50]). This is natural, since informal descriptions of these functions used in many calculations in physics employ a language including infinitesimals or infinities. Historically, it has turned out that approaches requiring a substantial background knowledge in mathematical logic are only reluctantly accepted by some physicists and mathematicians. Therefore, even if sometimes they appear less powerful, theories that do not need such knowledge ([35, 101, 15]) are more easily accepted. In the following section, we introduce the non-Archimedean ring of scalars in a very natural way, without requiring any notions from mathematical logic or ultrafilter set theory.

The structure of the paper is as follows: we first introduce the new ring of scalars and its natural topology in Sec. 2; in Sec. 3 we define the notion of GSF and prove that GSF are always continuous; we present the embedding of Schwartz distributions and prove the closure of GSF with respect to composition (e.g. we study and graphically represent  $\delta \circ \delta$ ; in Sec. 5, 6, 7 we study the differential calculus, the (1dimensional) integral calculus, and several related classical theorems. In Sec. 8, we introduce multidimensional integration, with related convergence theorems. Sheaf properties for GSF defined on different types of domains are proved in Sec. 9: they e.g. allow one to glue GSF defined on infinitesimal domains to get a global GSF defined on a finite or even on an unbounded domain. Finally, in Sec. 10 we construct the Grothendieck topos of generalized functions, including a full introduction of all the necessary preliminaries. Throughout the paper, several theorems will treat the connections of notions related to GSF to the corresponding classical notions, in case the latter can at least be formulated. Even if other papers about GSF already appeared in the literature (see [43, 42, 75]), this is the first one where all these basic results (and several others) are presented with the related proofs.

The paper is completely self-contained: only a basic knowledge of Schwartz distribution theory and the concepts of category, functor and natural transformation are needed.

## 2. The ring of scalars and its topologies

Exactly as real numbers can be seen as equivalence classes of sequences  $(q_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of rationals<sup>1</sup>, it is very natural to consider a non-Archimedean extension of  $\mathbb{R}$  defined by a quotient ring  $\mathcal{R}/\sim$ , where  $\mathcal{R} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^I$ . Here  $\mathcal{R}$  is a subalgebra of nets  $(x_{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon \in I} \in \mathbb{R}^I$  defined on a directed set  $(I, \leq)$ , and with pointwise algebraic operations. For simplicity and for historical reasons, instead of  $I = \mathbb{N}$ , we consider I := (0, 1], corresponding to  $\varepsilon \to 0^+$ ,  $\varepsilon \in I$ , but any other directed set can be used instead of I. In this work, we will denote  $\varepsilon$ -dependent nets simply by  $(x_{\varepsilon}) := (x_{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon \in I}$ , and the corresponding equivalence class simply by  $[x_{\varepsilon}] := [(x_{\varepsilon})]_{\sim} \in \mathcal{R}/\sim$ . We aim at constructing the quotient ring  $\mathbb{R} := \mathcal{R}/\sim$  so that it contains infinitesimals and infinities. The following observation points to a natural way of achieving this goal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In the naturals  $\mathbb{N} = \{0, 1, 2, ...\}$  we include zero.

Let us assume that  $[z_{\varepsilon}] = 0 \in \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  and  $[J_{\varepsilon}] \in \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  is generated by an infinite net  $(J_{\varepsilon})$ , i.e. such that  $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} |J_{\varepsilon}| = +\infty$ . Then we would have

$$[z_{\varepsilon}] \cdot [J_{\varepsilon}] = 0 \cdot [J_{\varepsilon}] = 0$$
$$= [z_{\varepsilon} \cdot J_{\varepsilon}].$$
(2.1)

Finally, let us assume that

$$\forall [w_{\varepsilon}] \in \widetilde{\mathbb{R}} : \ [w_{\varepsilon}] = 0 \ \Rightarrow \ \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} w_{\varepsilon} = 0.$$
(2.2)

Under these assumptions, (2.1) yields  $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} z_{\varepsilon} \cdot J_{\varepsilon} = 0$ , and hence

$$\exists \varepsilon_0 \in I \, \forall \varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0] : \ |z_{\varepsilon}| \le \left| J_{\varepsilon}^{-1} \right|.$$

$$(2.3)$$

Consequently, the nets  $(z_{\varepsilon})$  representing 0, i.e. such that  $(z_{\varepsilon}) \sim 0$ , must be dominated by the reciprocals of every infinite number  $[J_{\varepsilon}] \in \mathbb{R}$ . It is not hard to prove that if every infinite net  $(J_{\varepsilon})$  is in the subalgebra  $\mathcal{R}$ , then (2.3) implies that the equivalence relation ~ must be trivial:

$$\exists \varepsilon_0 \in I \,\forall \varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0] : \ z_\varepsilon = 0. \tag{2.4}$$

This situation corresponds to the Schmieden-Laugwitz model, [104].

If we do not want to have the trivial model (2.4), we can hence either negate the natural property (2.2) (this is the case of nonstandard analysis; see [18] for more details) or to restrict the class of all the nets  $(J_{\varepsilon})$  generating infinite numbers in  $\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ . Since we want to start from a subalgebra  $\mathcal{R} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{I}$ , a *first* natural idea is to consider the following class of infinite nets

$$\mathcal{I} := \left\{ (\varepsilon^{-a}) \mid a \in \mathbb{R}_{>0} \right\}.$$
(2.5)

and hence to consider the subalgebra  $\mathcal{R} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^I$  containing nets  $(b_{\varepsilon}) \in \mathbb{R}^I$  bounded by some  $(J_{\varepsilon}) \in \mathcal{I}$ . This idea is generalized in the following definition, where we take exactly (2.3) as the widest possible definition of  $(z_{\varepsilon}) \sim 0$ :

**Definition 1.** Let  $\rho = (\rho_{\varepsilon}) \in (0, 1]^I$  be a net such that  $(\rho_{\varepsilon}) \to 0$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0^+$  (in the following, such a net will be called a *gauge*). Then

- (i)  $\mathcal{I}(\rho) := \{(\rho_{\varepsilon}^{-a}) \mid a \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}\}$  is called the *asymptotic gauge* generated by  $\rho$ .
- (ii) If  $\mathcal{P}(\varepsilon)$  is a property of  $\varepsilon \in I$ , we use the notation  $\forall^0 \varepsilon : \mathcal{P}(\varepsilon)$  to denote  $\exists \varepsilon_0 \in I \, \forall \varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0] : \mathcal{P}(\varepsilon)$ . We can read  $\forall^0 \varepsilon$  as "for  $\varepsilon$  small".
- (iii) We say that a net  $(x_{\varepsilon}) \in \mathbb{R}^{I}$  is  $\rho$ -moderate, and we write  $(x_{\varepsilon}) \in \mathbb{R}_{\rho}$  if

$$\exists (J_{\varepsilon}) \in \mathcal{I}(\rho) : x_{\varepsilon} = O(J_{\varepsilon}) \text{ as } \varepsilon \to 0^+,$$

i.e., if

$$\exists N \in \mathbb{N} \, \forall^0 \varepsilon : \ |x_{\varepsilon}| \le \rho_{\varepsilon}^{-N}$$

(iv) Let  $(x_{\varepsilon}), (y_{\varepsilon}) \in \mathbb{R}^{I}$ . Then we say that  $(x_{\varepsilon}) \sim_{\rho} (y_{\varepsilon})$  if

$$\forall (J_{\varepsilon}) \in \mathcal{I}(\rho) : \ x_{\varepsilon} = y_{\varepsilon} + O(J_{\varepsilon}^{-1}) \ \text{as} \ \varepsilon \to 0^+,$$

that is if

$$\forall n \in \mathbb{N} \, \forall^0 \varepsilon : \ |x_{\varepsilon} - y_{\varepsilon}| \le \rho_{\varepsilon}^n.$$

This is a congruence relation on the ring  $\mathbb{R}_{\rho}$  of moderate nets with respect to pointwise operations, and we can hence define

$${}^{\rho}\mathbb{R}:=\mathbb{R}_{\rho}/\sim_{
ho}$$

which we call Robinson-Colombeau ring of generalized numbers, [93, 15].

In particular, if the gauge  $\rho = (\rho_{\varepsilon})$  is non-decreasing, then we say that  $\rho$  is a (v)monotonic gauge. Clearly, considering a monotonic gauge narrows the class of moderate nets: e.g. if  $\lim_{\varepsilon \to \frac{1}{k}} x_{\varepsilon} = +\infty$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ , then  $(x_{\varepsilon}) \notin \mathbb{R}_{\rho}$  for any monotonic gauge  $\rho$ .

In the following,  $\rho$  will always denote a net as in Def. 1, even if we will sometimes omit the dependence on the infinitesimal  $\rho$ , when this is clear from the context. We will see below that we can choose  $\rho$  e.g. depending on the class of differential equations we need to solve for the generalized functions we are going to introduce.

We can also define an order relation on  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  by writing  $[x_{\varepsilon}] \leq [y_{\varepsilon}]$  if there exists  $(z_{\varepsilon}) \in \mathbb{R}^{I}$  such that  $(z_{\varepsilon}) \sim_{\rho} 0$  (we then say that  $(z_{\varepsilon})$  is  $\rho$ -negligible) and  $x_{\varepsilon} \leq y_{\varepsilon} + z_{\varepsilon}$ for  $\varepsilon$  small. Equivalently, we have that  $x \leq y$  if and only if there exist representatives  $[x_{\varepsilon}] = x$  and  $[y_{\varepsilon}] = y$  such that  $x_{\varepsilon} \leq y_{\varepsilon}$  for all  $\varepsilon$ . The following result follows directly from the previous definitions:

**Theorem 2.**  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  is a partially ordered ring. The real numbers  $r \in \mathbb{R}$  are embedded in  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  by viewing them as constant nets  $[r] \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ .

Although the order  $\leq$  is not total, we still have the possibility to define the infimum  $[x_{\varepsilon}] \wedge [y_{\varepsilon}] := [\min(x_{\varepsilon}, y_{\varepsilon})]$ , and analogously the supremum function  $[x_{\varepsilon}] \vee$  $[y_{\varepsilon}] := [\max(x_{\varepsilon}, y_{\varepsilon})]$  and the absolute value  $|[x_{\varepsilon}]| := [|x_{\varepsilon}|] \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ . Henceforth, we will also use the customary notation  ${}^{\rho}\mathbb{R}^*$  for the set of invertible generalized numbers. As in every non-Archimedean ring, we have the following

**Definition 3.** Let  $x \in {}^{\rho}\mathbb{R}$  be a generalized number. Then

- x is infinitesimal if  $|x| \leq r$  for all  $r \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ . If  $x = [x_{\varepsilon}]$ , this is equivalent to  $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} x_{\varepsilon} = 0$ . We write  $x \approx y$  if x y is infinitesimal, and  $D_{\infty} :=$  $\left\{ h \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}} \mid h \approx 0 \right\}$  for the set of all infinitesimals. x is *infinite* if  $|x| \geq r$  for all  $r \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ . If  $x = [x_{\varepsilon}]$ , this is equivalent to
- (ii)  $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} |x_{\varepsilon}| = +\infty.$
- (iii) x is finite if  $|x| \leq r$  for some  $r \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ .

For example, setting  $d\rho := [\rho_{\varepsilon}] \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ , we have that  $d\rho^{n} \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ , is an invertible infinitesimal, whose reciprocal is  $d\rho^{-n} = [\rho_{\varepsilon}^{-n}]$ , which is necessarily a positive infinite number. Of course, in the ring  ${}^{\rho}\mathbb{R}$  there exist generalized numbers which are not in any of the three classes of Def. 3, like e.g.  $x_{\varepsilon} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \sin\left(\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)$ . Definition 4.

If  $\mathcal{P}\{(x_{\varepsilon})\}\$  is a property of  $(x_{\varepsilon}) \in \mathbb{R}^n_{\rho}$ , then we also use the abbreviations: (i)

$$\forall [x_{\varepsilon}] \in X : \mathcal{P}\{(x_{\varepsilon})\} : \iff \forall (x_{\varepsilon}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n}_{\rho} : [x_{\varepsilon}] \in X \Rightarrow \mathcal{P}\{(x_{\varepsilon})\}$$
  
$$\exists [x_{\varepsilon}] \in X : \mathcal{P}\{(x_{\varepsilon})\} : \iff \exists (x_{\varepsilon}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n}_{\rho} : [x_{\varepsilon}] \in X, \mathcal{P}\{(x_{\varepsilon})\}.$$

For example, if  $X = \{x\} \subseteq {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$ , then  $\forall [x_{\varepsilon}] = x : \mathcal{P}\{(x_{\varepsilon})\}$  means that the property holds for all representatives of x, and  $\exists [x_{\varepsilon}] = x : \mathcal{P}\{(x_{\varepsilon})\}$  means that the same property holds for some representative of x.

- Our notations for intervals are:  $[a,b] := \{x \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}} \mid a \leq x \leq b\}, [a,b]_{\mathbb{R}} := [a,b] \cap \mathbb{R}$ , and analogously for segments  $[x,y] := \{x + r \cdot (y x) \mid r \in [0,1]\} \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{n}$ (ii) and  $[x, y]_{\mathbb{R}^n} = [x, y] \cap \mathbb{R}^n$ .
- For subsets  $J, K \subseteq I$  we write  $K \subseteq_0 J$  if 0 is an accumulation point of K and (iii)  $K \subseteq J$  (we read it as: K is co-final in J). For any  $J \subseteq_0 I$ , the constructions

 $\mathbf{6}$ 

introduced so far can be repeated with nets  $(x_{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon \in J}$ . We indicate this by using the symbol  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{n}|_{J}$ . If  $K \subseteq_{0} J$ ,  $x \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{n}|_{J}$  and  $x' \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{n}|_{K}$ , then x'is called a subpoint of x, denoted as  $x' \subseteq x$ , if there exist representatives  $(x_{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon \in J}, (x'_{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon \in K}$  of x, x' such that  $x'_{\varepsilon} = x_{\varepsilon}$  for all  $\varepsilon \in K$ . In this case we write  $x' = x|_K$ , dom(x') := K, and the restriction  $(-)|_K : {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n \longrightarrow {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n|_K$  is a well defined operation. In general, for  $X \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$  we set  $X|_J := \{x|_J \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n|_J \mid$  $x \in X$ . Finally note that

$$\left(\neg \forall^{0} \varepsilon : \mathcal{P}\left\{x_{\varepsilon}\right\}\right) \iff \exists J \subseteq_{0} I \,\forall \varepsilon \in J : \neg \mathcal{P}\left\{x_{\varepsilon}\right\}.$$

2.1. Topologies on  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$ . On the  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ -module  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$  we can consider the natural extension of the Euclidean norm, i.e.  $|[x_{\varepsilon}]| := |[x_{\varepsilon}|] \in {}^{\rho}\mathbb{R}$ , where  $[x_{\varepsilon}] \in {}^{\rho}\mathbb{R}^{n}$ . Even if this generalized norm takes values in  ${}^{\rho}\mathbb{R}$ , it shares some essential properties with classical norms:

$$\begin{split} |x| &= x \lor (-x) \\ |x| &\geq 0 \\ |x| &= 0 \Rightarrow x = 0 \\ |y \cdot x| &= |y| \cdot |x| \\ |x + y| &\leq |x| + |y| \\ ||x| - |y|| &\leq |x - y|. \end{split}$$

It is therefore natural to consider on  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$  topologies generated by balls defined by this generalized norm and a set of radii:

**Definition 5.** We say that  $\Re$  is a *set of radii* if

- $\mathfrak{R} \subseteq {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^*_{\geq 0}$  is a non-empty subset of positive invertible generalized numbers. (i)
- (ii) For all  $r, s \in \mathfrak{R}$  the infimum  $r \wedge s \in \mathfrak{R}$ .
- (iii)  $k \cdot r \in \mathfrak{R}$  for all  $r \in \mathfrak{R}$  and all  $k \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ .

Moreover, if  $\mathfrak{R}$  is a set of radii and  $x, y \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ , then:

- (iv) We write  $x <_{\Re} y$  if  $\exists r \in \Re$ :  $r \leq y x$ .
- (v)  $B_r^{\mathfrak{R}}(x) := \left\{ y \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n \mid |y x| <_{\mathfrak{R}} r \right\}$  for any  $r \in \mathfrak{R}$ . (vi)  $B_{\rho}^{\mathbb{E}}(x) := \{ y \in \mathbb{R}^n \mid |y x| < \rho \}$ , for any  $\rho \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ , denotes an ordinary Euclidean ball in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

For example,  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^*_{\geq 0}$  and  $\mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$  are sets of radii.

**Lemma 6.** Let  $\mathfrak{R}$  be a set of radii and  $x, y, z \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ . Then

- $\neg (x <_{\mathfrak{R}} x).$ (i)
- $x <_{\mathfrak{R}} y \text{ and } y <_{\mathfrak{R}} z \text{ imply } x <_{\mathfrak{R}} z.$ (ii)
- (iii)  $\forall r \in \mathfrak{R} : 0 <_{\mathfrak{R}} r.$

*Proof.* (i):  $x <_{\mathfrak{R}} x$  would imply  $r \leq 0$  for some  $r \in \mathfrak{R} \subseteq {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^*_{>0}$ . But then  $r^{-1}r =$ 1 < 0.

(ii): If  $r \leq y - x$  and  $s \leq z - y$  for  $r, s \in \mathfrak{R}$ , then  $2(r \wedge s) \leq r + s \leq z - x$ . (iii): In fact, we have  $0 <_{\Re} r$  if and only if  $s \leq r$  for some  $s \in \Re$ .

The relation  $<_{\Re}$  has better topological properties as compared to the usual strict order relation  $x \leq y$  and  $x \neq y$  (a relation that we will therefore never use) because of the following result:

**Theorem 7.** The set of balls  $\left\{B_r^{\mathfrak{R}}(x) \mid r \in \mathfrak{R}, x \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n\right\}$  generated by a set of radii  $\mathfrak{R}$  is a base for a topology on  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{n}$ .

*Proof.* It suffices to consider  $z \in B_r^{\mathfrak{R}}(x) \cap B_s^{\mathfrak{R}}(y)$  and to prove that  $B_{\nu}^{\mathfrak{R}}(z) \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  $B_r^{\mathfrak{R}}(x) \cap B_s^{\mathfrak{R}}(y)$  for some  $\nu \in \mathfrak{R}$ . The proof is essentially a reformulation of the classical proof in metric spaces. In fact, we have  $\bar{r} \leq r - |x - z|$  and  $\bar{s} \leq s - |y - z|$ for some  $\bar{r}, \bar{s} \in \mathfrak{R}$ . Set  $\nu := \bar{r} \wedge \bar{s} \in \mathfrak{R}$ . The inequality  $|w - z| <_{\mathfrak{R}} \nu$  implies  $\sigma \leq \nu - |w - z|$  for some  $\sigma \in \mathfrak{R}$ . Therefore,  $|w - x| \leq |w - z| + |z - x| \leq \nu - \sigma + r - \bar{r}$ and thereby  $\sigma \leq \bar{r} + \sigma - \nu \leq r - |w - x|$ , i.e.  $|w - x| <_{\Re} r$ . This proves that  $B_{\nu}^{\mathfrak{R}}(z) \subseteq B_{r}^{\mathfrak{R}}(x)$ , and the other inclusion follows analogously.  $\square$ 

Henceforth, we will only consider the sets of radii  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^*_{>0}$  and  $\mathbb{R}_{>0}$ . The topology generated in the former case is called *sharp topology*, whereas the latter is called Fermat topology. We will call sharply open set any open set in the sharp topology, and large open set any open set in the Fermat topology; clearly, the latter is coarser than the former. Let us note explicitly that taking an infinitesimal radius  $r \in {}^{\rho}\mathbb{R}^*_{>0}$ we can consider infinitesimal neighborhoods of  $x \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$  in the sharp topology. Of course, this is not possible in the Fermat topology. The existence of infinitesimal neighborhoods implies that the sharp topology induces the discrete topology on  $\mathbb{R}$ , see [40]. The necessity to consider infinitesimal neighborhoods occurs in any theory containing continuous generalized functions which have infinite derivatives. Indeed, from the mean value theorem Thm. 49(i) below, we have  $f(x) - f(x_0) =$  $f'(c) \cdot (x - x_0)$  for some  $c \in [x, x_0]$ . Therefore, we have  $f(x) \in B_r(f(x_0))$ , for a given  $r \in {}^{\rho}\mathbb{R}_{>0}$ , if and only if  $|x - x_0| \cdot |f'(c)| < r$ , which yields an infinitesimal neighborhood of  $x_0$  in case f'(c) is infinite; see [40, 41] for precise statements and proofs corresponding to this intuition. By an innocuous abuse of language, we write x < y instead of  $x <_{\rho \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^*_{>0}} y$  and  $x <_{\mathbb{R}} y$  instead of  $x <_{\mathbb{R}_{>0}} y$ . For example,  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^*_{\geq 0} = {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}_{\geq 0}$ . We will simply write  $B_r(x)$  to denote an open ball in the sharp topology and  $B_r^F(x)$  for an open ball in the Fermat topology. Proceeding by contradiction, it is not difficult to prove that the sharp topology on  $\rho \mathbb{R}^n$  is Hausdorff and that the set of all the infinitesimals  $D_{\infty}$  is a clopen set; moreover, as will be proved more generally in [77], this topology is also Cauchy complete.

The following result is useful in dealing with positive and invertible generalized numbers.

## **Lemma 8.** Let $x \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ . Then the following are equivalent:

- x is invertible and x > 0, i.e. x > 0. (i)
- For each representative  $(x_{\varepsilon}) \in \mathbb{R}_{\rho}$  of x we have  $\forall^{0} \varepsilon : x_{\varepsilon} > 0$ . (ii)
- (iii)
- For each representative  $(x_{\varepsilon}) \in \mathbb{R}_{\rho}$  of x we have  $\exists m \in \mathbb{N} \forall^{0} \varepsilon : x_{\varepsilon} > \rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}$ . There exists a representative  $(x_{\varepsilon}) \in \mathbb{R}_{\rho}$  of x such that  $\exists m \in \mathbb{N} \forall^{0} \varepsilon : x_{\varepsilon} > \rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}$ . (iv)

*Proof.* (i)  $\Rightarrow$  (ii): Since x is positive, we can find a representative  $[x_{\varepsilon}] = x$  such that  $x_{\varepsilon} \geq 0$  for all  $\varepsilon$ . But x is also invertible, so for all  $\varepsilon$  we can also write  $x_{\varepsilon}y_{\varepsilon} = 1 + z_{\varepsilon}$ , where  $(z_{\varepsilon}) \sim_{\rho} 0$  is a negligible net. By contradiction, assume that  $x_{\varepsilon_k} \leq 0$  for each  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , where  $(\varepsilon_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \to 0^+$ . Then  $x_{\varepsilon_k} = 0$  and hence  $x_{\varepsilon_k} y_{\varepsilon_k} = 0 = 1 + z_{\varepsilon_k} \to 1$  for  $k \to +\infty$ , which is a contradiction.

(ii)  $\Rightarrow$  (iii): Assume that there exists a representative  $[x_{\varepsilon}] = x$  such that  $x_{\varepsilon_k} \leq \rho_{\varepsilon_k}^k$ for each  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , where  $(\varepsilon_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \to 0^+$  monotonically. We then define a  $\rho$ -moderate net by  $\hat{x}_{\varepsilon} := 0$  if  $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_k$  and  $\hat{x}_{\varepsilon} := x_{\varepsilon}$  otherwise. For each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , if k is sufficiently

big, we have  $|x_{\varepsilon_k} - \hat{x}_{\varepsilon_k}| \leq \rho_{\varepsilon_k}^k \leq \rho_{\varepsilon_k}^n$ . This implies that  $(x_{\varepsilon}) \sim_{\rho} (\hat{x}_{\varepsilon})$ . Therefore  $(\hat{x}_{\varepsilon})$  is another representative of x, which contradicts (ii) by construction. (iii)  $\Rightarrow$  (i): By assumption,  $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \rho_{\varepsilon} = 0^+$ . This and (iii) yield that  $x_{\varepsilon} > \rho_{\varepsilon}^m > 0$ 

for  $\varepsilon$  small, say for  $\varepsilon \leq \varepsilon_0$ . Therefore,  $0 < y_{\varepsilon} := x_{\varepsilon}^{-1} \leq \rho_{\varepsilon}^{-m}$  for  $\varepsilon \leq \varepsilon_0$  (and  $y_{\varepsilon}$  arbitrarily defined elsewhere) is  $\rho$ -moderate and hence it is a representative of the inverse of x.

Finally, (iii) implies (iv) for logical reasons, and (iv) implies (i) because  $\rho_{\varepsilon} > 0$ .

2.2. **Open, closed and bounded sets generated by nets.** A natural way to obtain sharply open, closed and bounded sets in  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{n}$  is by using a net  $(A_{\varepsilon})$  of subsets  $A_{\varepsilon} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{n}$ . We have two ways of extending the membership relation  $x_{\varepsilon} \in A_{\varepsilon}$  to generalized points  $[x_{\varepsilon}] \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{n}$  (cf. [87, 43]):

**Definition 9.** Let  $(A_{\varepsilon})$  be a net of subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Then

- (i)  $[A_{\varepsilon}] := \left\{ [x_{\varepsilon}] \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n \mid \forall^0 \varepsilon : x_{\varepsilon} \in A_{\varepsilon} \right\}$  is called the *internal set* generated by the net  $(A_{\varepsilon})$ .
- (ii) Let  $(x_{\varepsilon})$  be a net of points of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Then we say that  $x_{\varepsilon} \in_{\varepsilon} A_{\varepsilon}$ , and we read it as  $(x_{\varepsilon})$  strongly belongs to  $(A_{\varepsilon})$ , if
  - (a)  $\forall^0 \varepsilon : x_{\varepsilon} \in A_{\varepsilon}$ .

(b) If  $(x'_{\varepsilon}) \sim_{\rho} (x_{\varepsilon})$ , then also  $x'_{\varepsilon} \in A_{\varepsilon}$  for  $\varepsilon$  small.

Moreover, we set  $\langle A_{\varepsilon} \rangle := \left\{ [x_{\varepsilon}] \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n \mid x_{\varepsilon} \in_{\varepsilon} A_{\varepsilon} \right\}$ , and we call it the *strongly internal set* generated by the net  $(A_{\varepsilon})$ .

- (iii) We say that the internal set  $K = [A_{\varepsilon}]$  is sharply bounded if there exists  $M \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}_{>0}$  such that  $K \subseteq B_M(0)$ .
- (iv) Finally, we say that the  $(A_{\varepsilon})$  is a sharply bounded net if there exists  $N \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ such that  $\forall^0 \varepsilon \, \forall x \in A_{\varepsilon} : |x| \leq \rho_{\varepsilon}^{-N}$ .

Therefore,  $x \in [A_{\varepsilon}]$  if there exists a representative  $[x_{\varepsilon}] = x$  such that  $x_{\varepsilon} \in A_{\varepsilon}$  for  $\varepsilon$  small, whereas this membership is independent from the chosen representative in case of strongly internal sets. An internal set generated by a constant net  $A_{\varepsilon} = A \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  will simply be denoted by [A].

The following theorem (cf. [87, 43] for the case  $\rho_{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon$ ) shows that internal and strongly internal sets have dual topological properties:

**Theorem 10.** For  $\varepsilon \in I$ , let  $A_{\varepsilon} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  and let  $x_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Then we have

- (i)  $[x_{\varepsilon}] \in [A_{\varepsilon}]$  if and only if  $\forall q \in \mathbb{R}_{>0} \forall^{0} \varepsilon : d(x_{\varepsilon}, A_{\varepsilon}) \leq \rho_{\varepsilon}^{q}$ . Therefore  $[x_{\varepsilon}] \in [A_{\varepsilon}]$ if and only if  $[d(x_{\varepsilon}, A_{\varepsilon})] = 0 \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ .
- (ii)  $[x_{\varepsilon}] \in \langle A_{\varepsilon} \rangle$  if and only if  $\exists q \in \mathbb{R}_{>0} \forall^{0} \varepsilon : d(x_{\varepsilon}, A_{\varepsilon}^{c}) > \rho_{\varepsilon}^{q}$ , where  $A_{\varepsilon}^{c} := \mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus A_{\varepsilon}$ . Therefore, if  $(d(x_{\varepsilon}, A_{\varepsilon}^{c})) \in \mathbb{R}_{\rho}$ , then  $[x_{\varepsilon}] \in \langle A_{\varepsilon} \rangle$  if and only if  $[d(x_{\varepsilon}, A_{\varepsilon}^{c})] > 0$ .
- (iii)  $[A_{\varepsilon}]$  is sharply closed.
- (iv)  $\langle A_{\varepsilon} \rangle$  is sharply open.
- (v)  $[A_{\varepsilon}] = [\operatorname{cl}(A_{\varepsilon})], \text{ where } \operatorname{cl}(S) \text{ is the closure of } S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n.$
- (vi)  $\langle A_{\varepsilon} \rangle = \langle \operatorname{int}(A_{\varepsilon}) \rangle$ , where  $\operatorname{int}(S)$  is the interior of  $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ .

*Proof.* (i)  $\Rightarrow$ : We have  $x'_{\varepsilon} \in A_{\varepsilon}$  for some representative  $[x'_{\varepsilon}] = [x_{\varepsilon}] \in [A_{\varepsilon}]$ . But  $d(x_{\varepsilon}, A_{\varepsilon}) \leq |x_{\varepsilon} - x'_{\varepsilon}| + d(x'_{\varepsilon}, A_{\varepsilon})$ , from which the conclusion follows.

(i)  $\Leftarrow$ : Since the net  $(\inf_{a \in A_{\varepsilon}} |x_{\varepsilon} - a|)$  is  $\rho$ -negligible, we can find a decreasing sequence  $(\varepsilon_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \downarrow 0$  such that  $\inf_{a \in A_{\varepsilon}} |x_{\varepsilon} - a| < \rho_{\varepsilon}^k$  for  $\varepsilon \leq \varepsilon_k$ . Hence, for each

 $\varepsilon \in (\varepsilon_{k+1}, \varepsilon_k]_{\mathbb{R}}$  we can find  $x'_{\varepsilon} \in A_{\varepsilon}$  such that  $|x_{\varepsilon} - x'_{\varepsilon}| \leq \rho_{\varepsilon}^k$ . Therefore,  $(x'_{\varepsilon})$  is another representative of  $[x_{\varepsilon}]$  and  $x'_{\varepsilon} \in A_{\varepsilon}$  for  $\varepsilon \leq \varepsilon_0$ .

(ii): Let  $[x_{\varepsilon}] \in \langle A_{\varepsilon} \rangle$  and suppose to the contrary that there exists a sequence  $\varepsilon_k \downarrow 0$ such that  $d(x_{\varepsilon_k}, A_{\varepsilon_k}^c) \leq \rho_{\varepsilon_k}^k$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . For each k, pick some  $x'_k \in A_{\varepsilon_k}^c$  with  $|x'_{\varepsilon_k} - x_{\varepsilon_k}| < 2\rho_{\varepsilon_k}^k$  and choose  $(x'_{\varepsilon}) \sim_{\rho} (x_{\varepsilon})$  such that  $x'_{\varepsilon_k} = x'_k$  for all k. Then  $x'_{\varepsilon_k} \notin A_{\varepsilon_k}$  for all k, contradicting  $x_{\varepsilon} \in_{\varepsilon} A_{\varepsilon}$ . Conversely, let  $d(x_{\varepsilon}, A_{\varepsilon}^c) > \rho_{\varepsilon}^q$  for  $\varepsilon$ small. Then in particular,  $x_{\varepsilon} \in A_{\varepsilon}$ . Also, if  $(x'_{\varepsilon}) \sim_{\rho} (x_{\varepsilon})$  then  $d(x'_{\varepsilon}, A^{c}_{\varepsilon}) > (1/2)\rho^{q}_{\varepsilon}$ for  $\varepsilon$  small, so  $x'_{\varepsilon} \in A_{\varepsilon}$ . Thus,  $[x_{\varepsilon}] \in \langle A_{\varepsilon} \rangle$ .

(iii): Let  $x = [x_{\varepsilon}] \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n \setminus [A_{\varepsilon}]$ . Then (i) yields that  $d(x_{\varepsilon_k}, A_{\varepsilon_k}) > \rho_{\varepsilon_k}^q$  for some  $q \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$  and some sequence  $(\varepsilon_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \downarrow 0$ . Set  $r := \frac{1}{2} d\rho^q$ , then  $y \in B_r(x)$  implies that for some representative  $[y_{\varepsilon}] = y$  we have  $d(y_{\varepsilon_k}, A_{\varepsilon_k}) \ge d(x_{\varepsilon_k}, A_{\varepsilon_k}) - |x_{\varepsilon_k} - y_{\varepsilon_k}| >$  $\rho_{\varepsilon_k}^q - \frac{1}{2}\rho_{\varepsilon_k}^q$ . Thereby (i) gives  $y \notin [A_{\varepsilon}]$ . This proves that  $\rho \mathbb{R}^n \setminus [A_{\varepsilon}]$  is sharply open. (iv): (ii) yields that  $[x_{\varepsilon}] \in \langle A_{\varepsilon} \rangle$  if and only if  $[x_{\varepsilon}]$  is in the interior of  $\langle A_{\varepsilon} \rangle$  with respect to the sharp topology.  $(\mathbf{v}),$ 

For example, it is not hard to show that the closure in the sharp topology of a ball of center  $c = [c_{\varepsilon}]$  and radius  $r = [r_{\varepsilon}] > 0$  is

$$\overline{B_r(c)} = \left\{ x \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^d \mid |x - c| \le r \right\} = \left[ \overline{B_{r_{\varepsilon}}^{\scriptscriptstyle E}(c_{\varepsilon})} \right].$$
(2.6)

In fact, it suffices to prove these equalities for c = 0, because the translation  $x \mapsto x - c$  is sharply continuous. If  $(x_n)$  is a sequence in  $\{x \mid |x| \leq r\}$  that converges to  $x_0$ , then  $|x_0| \leq |x_0 - x_n| + |x_n| \leq |x_0 - x_n| + r$ . Letting  $n \to +\infty$ , this shows that  $\{x \mid |x| \leq r\}$  is closed. Conversely, if  $|x| \leq r$ , to prove that x is an adherent point of  $B_r(0)$ , we need to show that

$$\forall s \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}_{>0} \, \exists \bar{x} \in B_r(0) \cap B_s(x)$$

Take  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $2d\rho^k \leq \min(r, s)$ , and representatives  $[x_{\varepsilon}] = x$  and  $[r_{\varepsilon}] = r$ such that  $|x_{\varepsilon}| \leq r_{\varepsilon}$  for small  $\varepsilon$ . The point  $\bar{x}_{\varepsilon} := x_{\varepsilon}$  if  $|x_{\varepsilon}| < r_{\varepsilon} - \rho_{\varepsilon}^{k}$  and  $\bar{x}_{\varepsilon} := x_{\varepsilon} - \frac{x_{\varepsilon}}{|x_{\varepsilon}|}\rho_{\varepsilon}^{k}$  otherwise satisfies the desired conditions. This proves the first equality in (2.6). The proof that  $\overline{B_r(0)} \supseteq \left| \overline{B_{r_{\varepsilon}}^{\scriptscriptstyle E}(0)} \right|$  is easy. Vice versa, if  $|\bar{x}_{\varepsilon}| \leq r_{\varepsilon} + z_{\varepsilon}$ for some representatives  $[\bar{x}_{\varepsilon}] = x$  and  $[z_{\varepsilon}] = 0$ , then setting  $x_{\varepsilon} := \bar{x}_{\varepsilon}$  if  $|\bar{x}_{\varepsilon}| \leq r_{\varepsilon}$ and  $x_{\varepsilon} := \frac{\bar{x}_{\varepsilon}}{|\bar{x}_{\varepsilon}|} r_{\varepsilon}$  otherwise gives another representative of x that shows that  $x \in$  $\overline{B_r^{\text{E}}(0)}$ .

From (2.6) and Thm. (10), it hence also follows that

$$B_r(c) = \langle B_{r_\varepsilon}^{\rm E}(c_\varepsilon) \rangle. \tag{2.7}$$

In a similar way, it can be shown that for every  $x, y \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ 

$$y \ge x \Leftrightarrow y \in \overline{\left\{z \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}} \mid z > x\right\}}.$$
(2.8)

Some relations between internal and strongly internal sets that we will use below are listed in the following

**Lemma 11.** Let  $(\Omega_{\varepsilon})$  be a net of subsets in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  for all  $\varepsilon$ , and  $(B_{\varepsilon})$  a sharply bounded net such that  $[B_{\varepsilon}] \subseteq \langle \Omega_{\varepsilon} \rangle$ . Then

- *(i)*  $\forall^0 \varepsilon : B_{\varepsilon} \subseteq \Omega_{\varepsilon}.$
- (ii) If each  $B_{\varepsilon}$  is closed, then  $\exists S \in \mathbb{N} \,\forall [x_{\varepsilon}] \in [B_{\varepsilon}] \,\forall^{0} \varepsilon : d(x_{\varepsilon}, \Omega_{\varepsilon}^{c}) \geq \rho_{\varepsilon}^{S}$ .

- (iii) If  $r = [r_{\varepsilon}] \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}_{>0}$ ,  $b = [b_{\varepsilon}] \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{n}$  and  $B_{r}(b) \subseteq \operatorname{int}([B_{\varepsilon}])$ , then  $\forall^{0}\varepsilon : B_{r_{\varepsilon}}^{\mathsf{E}}(b_{\varepsilon}) \subseteq B_{\varepsilon}$ .
- $(iv) \quad \text{If } x \in \langle A_{\varepsilon} \rangle \subseteq [B_{\varepsilon}], \text{ then } \forall [x_{\varepsilon}] = x \, \forall^0 \varepsilon: \, \, x_{\varepsilon} \in B_{\varepsilon}.$
- (v) If  $(C_{\varepsilon})$  is also sharply bounded and  $[B_{\varepsilon}] \subseteq \operatorname{int}([C_{\varepsilon}])$ , then there exists  $S \in \mathbb{N}$ such that: (a)  $\forall^0 \varepsilon : B_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{S}}^{\mathrm{E}}(B_{\varepsilon}) \subseteq C_{\varepsilon}$ (b)  $B_{\mathrm{d}\rho^{S}}(B) \subseteq C$ ,

where, in general

$$B_r^d(B) = \{x \mid d(x, B) < r\} = \bigcup_{b \in B} B_r^d(b)$$

(in  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$ , we also set  $d(x, B) := [d(x_{\varepsilon}, B_{\varepsilon})] \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ ).

(vi) If each  $B_{\varepsilon}$  is closed, then there exists a sharply bounded net  $(B_{\varepsilon}^+)$  of closed sets such that  $[B_{\varepsilon}^+] \subseteq \langle \Omega_{\varepsilon} \rangle$  is a sharp neighborhood of  $[B_{\varepsilon}]$ .

*Proof.* To prove (i), let us assume, by contradiction, that we can find sequences  $(\varepsilon_k)_k$  and  $(x_k)_k$  such that  $\varepsilon_k \downarrow 0$  and  $x_k \in B_{\varepsilon_k} \setminus \Omega_{\varepsilon_k}$ . Defining  $x_{\varepsilon} := x_k$  for  $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_k$ , and  $x_{\varepsilon} \in B_{\varepsilon}$  otherwise, we have that  $x := [x_{\varepsilon}]$  is moderate since  $(B_{\varepsilon})$  is sharply bounded. Hence  $x \in [B_{\varepsilon}]$ , but  $x_{\varepsilon_k} \notin \Omega_{\varepsilon_k}$  by construction, hence  $x \notin \langle \Omega_{\varepsilon} \rangle$  by Def. 9, which is impossible because  $[B_{\varepsilon}] \subseteq \langle \Omega_{\varepsilon} \rangle$ .

(ii): Assume that (i) holds for all  $\varepsilon \leq \varepsilon_0$ . If  $B_{\varepsilon}$  is closed, then  $B_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{R}^n$  because  $(B_{\varepsilon})$  is sharply bounded. We can therefore find a point  $\bar{x}_{\varepsilon} \in B_{\varepsilon}$  such that  $d(\bar{x}_{\varepsilon}, \Omega_{\varepsilon}^c) = d(B_{\varepsilon}, \Omega_{\varepsilon}^c)$ . At  $\bar{x} := [\bar{x}_{\varepsilon}] \in [B_{\varepsilon}]$  property (ii) of Thm. 10 yields the existence of some  $S \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $d(\bar{x}_{\varepsilon}, \Omega_{\varepsilon}^c) \geq \rho_{\varepsilon}^S$  for  $\varepsilon$  small. From this the conclusion follows because  $d(x_{\varepsilon}, \Omega_{\varepsilon}^c) \geq d(B_{\varepsilon}, \Omega_{\varepsilon}^c) = d(\bar{x}_{\varepsilon}, \Omega_{\varepsilon}^c)$  if  $x_{\varepsilon} \in B_{\varepsilon}$  for  $\varepsilon$  small. If  $[x'_{\varepsilon}] = [x_{\varepsilon}]$  is any other representative, then claim (ii) still holds because  $d(x_{\varepsilon}, x'_{\varepsilon})$  is negligible. (iii): By contradiction, assume that for some  $J \subseteq_0 I$  we can find  $x_{\varepsilon} \in B_{r_{\varepsilon}}^E(b_{\varepsilon}) \setminus B_{\varepsilon}$  for all  $\varepsilon \in J$ . Therefore,  $x := [(x_{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon \in J}] \in \overline{B_r(B)}|_J$ . But the assumption  $B_r(b) \subseteq$  int  $([B_{\varepsilon}])$  yields  $\overline{B_r(b)} \subseteq [B_{\varepsilon}] =: B$  and hence  $x \in B|_J$ , which is impossible. (iv): Directly from the previous result and Thm. 10(iv).

(v): We prove by contradiction that there exists  $S \in \mathbb{N}$  satisfying (a); we will then show that this S also works for (b). So, assume that for all  $s \in \mathbb{N}$  there exists  $J_s \subseteq_0 I$  and  $x_{s\varepsilon} \in B_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^s}^{\mathsf{E}}(B_{\varepsilon}) \setminus C_{\varepsilon}$  for all  $\varepsilon \in J_s$ . We can hence find  $\varepsilon_s \in J_s$  such that  $\varepsilon_s < \frac{1}{s}$  and  $x_{s\varepsilon_s} \in B_{\rho_{\varepsilon_s}^s}^{\mathsf{E}}(B_{\varepsilon_s}) \setminus C_{\varepsilon_s}$ . Choosing recursively these  $\varepsilon_s$ , we can assume that  $\varepsilon_{s+1} < \varepsilon_s$ , so that  $(\varepsilon_s)_s \downarrow 0$ . Set  $J := \{\varepsilon_s \in J_s \mid s \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}\} \subseteq_0 I$ . For each  $\varepsilon \in J$ , we can set  $x_{\varepsilon} := x_{s\varepsilon_s}$  for the unique  $s \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  such that  $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_s$ , so that  $x \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}|_J$ . For all  $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_p \in J$ , if  $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_s$ , then p > s because  $(\varepsilon_s)_s$  is strictly decreasing. Thereby

$$x_{\varepsilon} = x_{\varepsilon_p} \in B_{\rho_{\varepsilon_p}^p}^{\mathrm{E}}(B_{\varepsilon_p}) \setminus C_{\varepsilon_p} \subseteq B_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^s}^{\mathrm{E}}(B_{\varepsilon}) \setminus C_{\varepsilon}$$

because p > s and  $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_p$ . This proves that  $(d(x_{\varepsilon}, B_{\varepsilon}))_{\varepsilon \in J} \sim_{\rho} 0$  and hence that  $x := [(x_{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon \in J}] \in B|_J \subseteq \operatorname{int}(C)|_J$ . Therefore,  $B_r(x) \subseteq \operatorname{int}(C|_J)$  for some  $r \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}_{>0}|_J$ . Using (iii), we get  $B_{r_{\varepsilon}}^{\mathsf{E}}(x_{\varepsilon}) \subseteq C_{\varepsilon}$  for  $\varepsilon \in J$  sufficiently small, and hence  $x_{\varepsilon} \in C_{\varepsilon}$ , a contradiction. Now assume that  $S \in \mathbb{N}$  satisfies (a). Then for all  $x \in B_{d\rho^S}(B)$ , we have  $x \in B_{d\rho^S}(b)$  for some  $b = [b_{\varepsilon}] \in B$ . Therefore, for all  $[x_{\varepsilon}] = x$  and  $\varepsilon$  small, we have  $x_{\varepsilon} \in B_{r_{\varepsilon}}^{\mathsf{E}}(b_{\varepsilon}) \subseteq C_{\varepsilon}$  using (a). (vi): To prove this property, it suffices to consider an  $M \in {}^{\rho}\mathbb{R}_{>0}$  such that  $[B_{\varepsilon}] \in$  $B_M(0)$  and to define

$$B_{\varepsilon}^{+} := \overline{\left\{ x \in B_{M_{\varepsilon}}^{\mathsf{E}}(0) \mid d(x, \Omega_{\varepsilon}^{c}) \ge \rho_{\varepsilon}^{S+1} \right\}} \Subset \mathbb{R}^{n},$$

where  $S \in \mathbb{N}$  comes from (ii).

Let  $X = \langle A_{\varepsilon} \rangle$  be a strongly internal set,  $x, y \in X$  and both  $K, K^{c} \subseteq_{0} I$ . Set  $e_K := [1_{K\varepsilon}] \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ , where  $1_{K\varepsilon} := 1$  if  $\varepsilon \in K$  and  $1_{K\varepsilon} := 0$  otherwise. Then  $z := x \cdot e_K + y \cdot e_{K^c} \in X$  and  $z|_K \subseteq x, z|_{K^c} \subseteq y$  (we then say that X is closed with respect to *interleaving*; this property holds also for internal sets, see [87]). The same property does not hold if  $x \in B_r(c) \setminus B_s(d)$  and  $y \in B_s(d) \setminus B_r(c)$ , so that  $B_r(c) \cup B_s(d)$  is sharply open but is not strongly internal. The same kind of example can be repeated e.g. considering arbitrary unions of pairwise disjoint balls.

To obtain large open sets starting from a net of subsets  $A_{\varepsilon} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ , we can consider the analogue of  $\langle A_{\varepsilon} \rangle$  but using the radii of the Fermat topology:

**Definition 12.** Let  $(A_{\varepsilon})$  be a net of subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and let  $(x_{\varepsilon})$ ,  $(x'_{\varepsilon})$  be nets of points of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Then

- We write  $(x_{\varepsilon}) \sim_{\mathbf{F}} (x'_{\varepsilon})$  to denote the property |x x'| < r for all  $r \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ , (i) i.e.,  $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} |x_\varepsilon - x'_\varepsilon| = 0.$
- We say that  $x_{\varepsilon} \in_{\mathbf{F}} A_{\varepsilon}$ , and we read it as  $(x_{\varepsilon})$  strongly belongs to  $(A_{\varepsilon})$  in the (ii) Fermat topology, if
  - (a)  $\forall^0 \varepsilon : x_{\varepsilon} \in A_{\varepsilon}$ .

(b) If  $(x_{\varepsilon}') \sim_{\mathbf{F}} (x_{\varepsilon})$ , then also  $x_{\varepsilon}' \in A_{\varepsilon}$  for  $\varepsilon$  small. Moreover, we set  $\langle A_{\varepsilon} \rangle_{\mathbf{F}} := \left\{ [x_{\varepsilon}] \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n \mid x_{\varepsilon} \in_{\mathbf{F}} A_{\varepsilon} \right\}$ , and we call it the *strongly* internal set generated by the net  $(A_{\varepsilon})$  in the Fermat topology.

The following result can be proved simply by generalizing the proof of Thm. 10.

**Theorem 13.** For  $\varepsilon \in I$ , let  $A_{\varepsilon} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  and let  $x_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Then we have  $[x_{\varepsilon}] \in \langle A_{\varepsilon} \rangle_{\mathrm{F}} \text{ if and only if } \exists r \in \mathbb{R}_{>0} \, \forall^0 \varepsilon: \ d(x_{\varepsilon}, A_{\varepsilon}^c) > r.$ (i)(ii)  $\langle A_{\varepsilon} \rangle_{\mathrm{F}}$  is a Fermat open set.

Sharply bounded internal sets (which are always sharply closed by Thm. 10 (iii)) serve as compact sets for our generalized functions. We will show this by proving for them an extreme value theorem (see Thm. 51); for a deeper study of this type of sets in the case  $\rho = (\varepsilon)$  see [41]; in the same particular setting, the notion of sharp topology was introduced in [10, 97]; see also [80, 50] for an analogue of Lem. 8; see [87] for the study of internal sets, and see [43] for strongly internal sets.

## 3. Generalized functions as smooth set-theoretical maps

3.0.1. Definition and sharp continuity. Using the ring  ${}^{\rho}\mathbb{R}$ , it is easy to consider a Gaussian with an infinitesimal standard deviation. If we denote this probability density by  $f(x,\sigma)$ , and if we set  $\sigma = [\sigma_{\varepsilon}] \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}_{>0}$ , where  $\sigma \approx 0$ , we obtain the net of smooth functions  $(f(-, \sigma_{\varepsilon}))_{\varepsilon \in I}$ . This is the basic idea we are going to develop in the following definitions. We will first introduce the notion of a net  $(f_{\varepsilon})$  defining a generalized smooth function of the type  $X \longrightarrow Y$ , where  $X \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$  and  $Y \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^d$ . This is a net of smooth functions  $f_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\Omega_{\varepsilon}, \mathbb{R}^d)$  that induces well-defined maps of the form  $[\partial^{\alpha} f_{\varepsilon}(-)] : \langle \Omega_{\varepsilon} \rangle \longrightarrow {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{d}$ , for every multi-index  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{n}$ .

**Definition 14.** Let  $X \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$  and  $Y \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^d$  be arbitrary subsets of generalized points. Let  $(\Omega_{\varepsilon})$  be a net of open subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , and  $(f_{\varepsilon})$  be a net of smooth functions, with  $f_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\Omega_{\varepsilon}, \mathbb{R}^d)$ . Then we say that

 $(f_{\varepsilon})$  defines a generalized smooth function :  $X \longrightarrow Y$ 

if:

(i)  $X \subseteq \langle \Omega_{\varepsilon} \rangle$  and  $[f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})] \in Y$  for all  $[x_{\varepsilon}] \in X$ .

(ii)  $\forall [x_{\varepsilon}] \in X \, \forall \alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n : (\partial^{\alpha} f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})) \in \mathbb{R}^d_{\rho}.$ 

We recall that the notation

$$\forall [x_{\varepsilon}] \in X : \mathcal{P}\{(x_{\varepsilon})\}$$

means

$$\forall (x_{\varepsilon}) \in \mathbb{R}^n_{\rho} : \ [x_{\varepsilon}] \in X \ \Rightarrow \ \mathcal{P}\{(x_{\varepsilon})\},$$

i.e. for all representatives  $(x_{\varepsilon})$  generating a point  $[x_{\varepsilon}] \in X$ , the property  $\mathcal{P}\{(x_{\varepsilon})\}$  holds.

A generalized smooth function (or map, in this paper these terms are used as synonymous) is simply a function of the form  $f = [f_{\varepsilon}(-)]|_X$ :

**Definition 15.** Let  $X \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$  and  $Y \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^d$  be arbitrary subsets of generalized points. Then we say that

 $f: X \longrightarrow Y$  is a generalized smooth function

if  $f \in \mathbf{Set}(X, Y)$  and there exists a net  $f_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\Omega_{\varepsilon}, \mathbb{R}^d)$  defining a generalized smooth map of type  $X \longrightarrow Y$ , in the sense of Def. 14, such that

$$\forall [x_{\varepsilon}] \in X : f([x_{\varepsilon}]) = [f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})].$$
(3.1)

We will also say that f is defined by the net of smooth functions  $(f_{\varepsilon})$  or that the net  $(f_{\varepsilon})$  represents f. The set of all these generalized smooth functions (GSF) will be denoted by  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(X,Y)$  or simply by  $\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(X,Y)$ .

Let us note explicitly that definitions 14 and 15 state minimal logical conditions to obtain a set-theoretical map from X into Y and defined by a net of smooth functions. In particular, the following Thm. 16 states that in equality (3.1) we have independence from the representatives for all derivatives  $[x_{\varepsilon}] \in X \mapsto [\partial^{\alpha} f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})] \in$  ${}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{d}, \alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{n}$ .

**Theorem 16.** Let  $X \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$  and  $Y \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^d$  be arbitrary subsets of generalized points. Let  $(\Omega_{\varepsilon})$  be a net of open subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , and  $(f_{\varepsilon})$  be a net of smooth functions, with  $f_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\Omega_{\varepsilon}, \mathbb{R}^d)$ . Assume that  $(f_{\varepsilon})$  defines a generalized smooth map of the type  $X \longrightarrow Y$ , then

$$\forall \alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n \, \forall (x_{\varepsilon}), (x'_{\varepsilon}) \in \mathbb{R}^n_{\rho} : \ [x_{\varepsilon}] = [x'_{\varepsilon}] \in X \ \Rightarrow \ (\partial^{\alpha} f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})) \sim_{\rho} (\partial^{\alpha} f_{\varepsilon}(x'_{\varepsilon}))$$

*Proof.* Let  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n$  and  $(x_{\varepsilon})$ ,  $(x'_{\varepsilon})$  be two representatives of the same point  $x = [x_{\varepsilon}] = [x'_{\varepsilon}] \in X \subseteq \langle \Omega_{\varepsilon} \rangle$ . Thm. 10 (ii) yields

$$d(x_{\varepsilon}, \Omega_{\varepsilon}^{c}) > \rho_{\varepsilon}^{q} \tag{3.2}$$

for some  $q \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$  and  $\varepsilon$  small. Thus  $B_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{q}}^{E}(x_{\varepsilon}) \subseteq \Omega_{\varepsilon}$  for these values of  $\varepsilon$ . Choose  $r \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$  sufficiently big so that

$$2\rho_{\varepsilon}^{r} < \rho_{\varepsilon}^{q} \tag{3.3}$$

for  $\varepsilon$  small. Since  $(x_{\varepsilon}) \sim_{\rho} (x'_{\varepsilon})$  we have that

$$x'_{\varepsilon} \in B^{\mathrm{E}}_{\rho^{r}_{\varepsilon}}(x_{\varepsilon})$$
 (3.4)

for  $\varepsilon$  small, and the entire segment  $[x_{\varepsilon}, x'_{\varepsilon}]$  connecting  $x_{\varepsilon}$  and  $x'_{\varepsilon}$  lies in  $B^{\varepsilon}_{\rho^{\tau}_{\varepsilon}}(x_{\varepsilon})$ . Suppose that (3.2), (3.3) and (3.4) hold for  $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0]$ . Fix  $i \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$  and set  $\mu_{\varepsilon}(t) := \partial^{\alpha} f^i_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon} + t(x'_{\varepsilon} - x_{\varepsilon}))$  for  $t \in [0, 1]_{\mathbb{R}}$  and  $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0]$ . By the classical mean value theorem  $\partial^{\alpha} f^i_{\varepsilon}(x'_{\varepsilon}) - \partial^{\alpha} f^i_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon}) = \mu_{\varepsilon}(1) - \mu_{\varepsilon}(0) = \mu'_{\varepsilon}(\theta_{\varepsilon})$  for some  $\theta_{\varepsilon} \in (0, 1)$ , and hence for all  $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0]$  we get

$$\partial^{\alpha} f^{i}_{\varepsilon}(x'_{\varepsilon}) - \partial^{\alpha} f^{i}_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon}) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \partial^{\alpha+e_{k}} f^{i}_{\varepsilon}(\xi_{\varepsilon}) \cdot (x'^{k}_{\varepsilon} - x^{k}_{\varepsilon}), \qquad (3.5)$$

where  $\xi_{\varepsilon} := x_{\varepsilon} + \theta_{\varepsilon}(x'_{\varepsilon} - x_{\varepsilon})$  and  $e_k := (0, ...^{k-1}, .., 0, 1, 0, ..., 0) \in \mathbb{N}^n$ . The generalized point  $[\xi_{\varepsilon}] = [x_{\varepsilon}] \in X$  since  $(x'_{\varepsilon}) \sim_{\rho} (x_{\varepsilon})$ . Therefore by Def. 14 (ii) we get that every derivative  $(\partial^{\alpha+e_k} f^i_{\varepsilon}(\xi_{\varepsilon}))$  is  $\rho$ -moderate. From this and the equivalence  $(x'_{\varepsilon}) \sim_{\rho} (x_{\varepsilon})$ , equation (3.5) yields the conclusion  $(\partial^{\alpha} f_{\varepsilon}(x'_{\varepsilon})) \sim_{\rho} (\partial^{\alpha} f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon}))$ .  $\Box$ 

Note that taking arbitrary subsets  $X \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$  in Def. 14, we can also consider GSF defined on closed sets, like the set of all infinitesimals, or like a closed interval  $[a,b] \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ . We can also consider GSF defined at infinite generalized points. A simple case is the exponential map

$$e^{(-)}: [x_{\varepsilon}] \in \left\{ x \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}} \mid \exists z \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}_{>0}: x \le \log z \right\} \mapsto [e^{x_{\varepsilon}}] \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}.$$
(3.6)

The domain of this map depends on the infinitesimal net  $\rho$ . For instance, if  $\rho = (\varepsilon)$  then all its points are bounded by generalized numbers of the form  $[-N\log\varepsilon]$ ,  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ ; whereas if  $\rho = \left(e^{-\frac{1}{\varepsilon}}\right)$ , all points are bounded by  $[N\varepsilon^{-1}]$ ,  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ . Another possibility for the exponential function is to consider two gauges  $\rho \geq \sigma$  and the subring of  ${}^{\sigma}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  defined by

$${}_{\rho}^{\sigma}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}:=\{x\in {}^{\sigma}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}\mid \exists N\in\mathbb{N}:\ |x|\leq \mathrm{d}\rho^{-N}\},$$

where here we have set  $d\rho := [\rho_{\varepsilon}]_{\sim_{\sigma}} \in {}^{\sigma}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ . If we have

$$\forall N \in \mathbb{N} \,\exists M \in \mathbb{N} : \, \mathrm{d}\rho^{-N} \leq -M \log \mathrm{d}\sigma, \tag{3.7}$$

then  $e^{(-)}$ :  $[x_{\varepsilon}] \in {}^{\sigma}_{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}} \mapsto [e^{x_{\varepsilon}}] \in {}^{\sigma} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  is well defined. For example, if  $\sigma_{\varepsilon} := \exp\left(-\rho_{\varepsilon}^{1/\varepsilon}\right)$ , then  $\sigma \leq \rho$  and (3.7) holds for M = 1. Note that the natural ring morphism  $[x_{\varepsilon}]_{\sim_{\sigma}} \in {}^{\sigma}_{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}} \mapsto [x_{\varepsilon}]_{\sim_{\rho}} \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  is surjective but generally not injective.

A first regularity property of GSF is the continuity with respect to the sharp topology, as proved in the following

**Theorem 17.** Let  $X \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$ ,  $Y \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^d$  and  $f_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\Omega_{\varepsilon}, \mathbb{R}^d)$  be a net of smooth functions that defines a GSF of the type  $X \longrightarrow Y$ . Then

- $(i) \quad \forall [x_{\varepsilon}] \in X \, \forall \alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n \, \exists q \in \mathbb{R}_{>0} \, \forall^0 \varepsilon : \, \sup_{y \in B^E_{\rho^q_{\varepsilon}}(x_{\varepsilon})} |\partial^{\alpha} f_{\varepsilon}(y)| \leq \rho_{\varepsilon}^{-q}.$
- (ii) For all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n$ , the GSF  $g : [x_{\varepsilon}] \in X \mapsto [\partial^{\alpha} f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})] \in \mathbb{R}^d$  is locally Lipschitz in the sharp topology, i.e. each  $x \in X$  possesses a sharp neighborhood U such that  $|g(x) - g(y)| \leq L|x - y|$  for all  $x, y \in U$  and some  $L \in {}^{\rho} \mathbb{R}$ .
- (iii) Each  $f \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(X,Y)$  is continuous with respect to the sharp topologies induced on X, Y.

(iv) Assume that the GSF f is locally Lipschitz in the Fermat topology and that its Lipschitz constants are always finite:  $L \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then f is continuous in the Fermat topology.

*Proof.* We first prove (i) by contradiction, assuming that for some  $[x_{\varepsilon}] \in X$  and some  $\alpha$  there exists  $(\varepsilon_k)_k \downarrow 0$  and a sequence  $(y_k)_k$  of points in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  such that  $|x_{\varepsilon_k} - y_k| < \rho_{\varepsilon_k}^k$  but  $|\partial^{\alpha} f_{\varepsilon}(y_k)| > \rho_{\varepsilon_k}^{-k}$ . Define  $x'_{\varepsilon} := y_k$  for  $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_k$  and  $x'_{\varepsilon} := x_{\varepsilon}$ otherwise. Then  $(x'_{\varepsilon}) \sim_{\rho} (x_{\varepsilon})$  but  $(\partial^{\alpha} f_{\varepsilon}(x'_{\varepsilon}))$  is not  $\rho$ -moderate, which contradicts Def. 14 (ii).

To prove (ii), we apply (i) to each derivative  $\partial^{\alpha+e_k} f_{\varepsilon}$  to obtain

$$\forall k = 1, \dots, n \, \exists q_k \in \mathbb{R}_{>0} \exists \varepsilon_k \in I \, \forall \varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_k] : \sup_{\substack{y \in B_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{q_k}}^{\mathrm{E}}(x_{\varepsilon})}} |\partial^{\alpha + e_k} f_{\varepsilon}(y)| \le \rho_{\varepsilon}^{-q_k}.$$
(3.8)

Set  $q := \max_{k=1,\dots,n} q_k$ , so that for  $y, z \in B_{d\rho^q}(x)$  we get

$$\exists \varepsilon_0 \,\forall \varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0] : \ [y_\varepsilon, z_\varepsilon] \subseteq B^{\mathrm{E}}_{\rho^q_\varepsilon}(x_\varepsilon). \tag{3.9}$$

For any  $i \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$  and  $\varepsilon$  small we can write

$$\left|\partial^{\alpha} f_{\varepsilon}^{i}(y_{\varepsilon}) - \partial^{\alpha} f_{\varepsilon}^{i}(z_{\varepsilon})\right| = \left|\sum_{k=1}^{n} \partial^{\alpha+e_{k}} f_{\varepsilon}^{i}(\zeta_{\varepsilon}) \cdot (y_{\varepsilon}^{k} - z_{\varepsilon}^{k})\right|$$

where  $\zeta_{\varepsilon} := y_{\varepsilon} + \sigma_{\varepsilon}(z_{\varepsilon} - y_{\varepsilon})$  for some  $\sigma_{\varepsilon} \in (0, 1)$ . Therefore  $\zeta_{\varepsilon} \in B_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{q}}^{\mathsf{E}}(x_{\varepsilon}) \subseteq B_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{qk}}^{\mathsf{E}}(x_{\varepsilon})$ and (3.8) implies

$$|\partial^{\alpha} f_{\varepsilon}(y_{\varepsilon}) - \partial^{\alpha} f_{\varepsilon}(z_{\varepsilon})| \le d\sqrt{n}\rho_{\varepsilon}^{-q}|y_{\varepsilon} - z_{\varepsilon}|.$$

Property (iii) follows upon setting  $\alpha = 0$  in (ii). Property (iv) follows directly from the definition of locally Lipschitz function in the Fermat topology. In fact, we have that  $L|x - y| < r \in \mathbb{R}$  if  $y \in B_{r/L}^{F}(x)$ , which is an open ball in the Fermat topology because  $L \in \mathbb{R}$ .

In the following result, we show that the dependence of the domains  $\Omega_{\varepsilon}$  on  $\varepsilon$  can be avoided since it does not lead to a larger class of generalized functions. In spite of this possibility, we preferred to formulate Def. 14 using  $\varepsilon$ -dependent domains because the extension of  $f_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\Omega_{\varepsilon}, \mathbb{R}^d)$  to the whole of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  is not unique and hence introduces extrinsic elements.

**Lemma 18.** Let  $X \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$  and  $Y \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^d$  be arbitrary subsets of generalized points. Then  $f : X \longrightarrow Y$  is a GSF if and only if there exists a net  $v_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^d)$ defining a generalized smooth map of type  $X \longrightarrow Y$  such that  $f = [v_{\varepsilon}(-)]|_X$ .

*Proof.* The stated condition is clearly sufficient. Conversely, assume that  $f : X \longrightarrow Y$  is defined by the net  $f_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\Omega_{\varepsilon}, \mathbb{R}^{d})$ . For every  $\varepsilon \in I$  let  $\Omega'_{\varepsilon} := \left\{x \in \Omega_{\varepsilon} \mid d(x, \Omega_{\varepsilon}^{c}) > \rho_{\varepsilon}^{\frac{1}{\varepsilon}}\right\}, \Omega''_{\varepsilon} := \left\{x \in \Omega_{\varepsilon} \mid d(x, \Omega_{\varepsilon}^{c}) > \rho_{\varepsilon/2}^{\frac{2}{\varepsilon}}\right\}$  and choose  $\chi_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\Omega_{\varepsilon})$  with  $\operatorname{supp}(\chi_{\varepsilon}) \subseteq \Omega''_{\varepsilon}$  and  $\chi_{\varepsilon} = 1$  in a neighborhood of  $\Omega'_{\varepsilon}$ . Set  $f_{\varepsilon} := 0$  on  $\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus \Omega_{\varepsilon}$  and  $v_{\varepsilon} := \chi_{\varepsilon} \cdot f_{\varepsilon}$ , so that  $v_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n}, \mathbb{R}^{d})$ . If  $x = [x_{\varepsilon}] \in X \subseteq \langle \Omega_{\varepsilon} \rangle$ , then  $x_{\varepsilon} \in \Omega'_{\varepsilon} \subseteq \Omega_{\varepsilon}$  for  $\varepsilon$  small by Thm. 10, so for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{n}$  we get  $\partial^{\alpha} v_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon}) = \partial^{\alpha} f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})$ . Therefore,  $(v_{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon}$  defines a GSF of the type  $X \longrightarrow Y$  and clearly  $f = [f_{\varepsilon}(-)]|_{X} = [v_{\varepsilon}(-)]|_{X}$ .  $\Box$ 

Consider a GSF  $f : X \longrightarrow Y$ . We want to show that for a large class of domains X, the function f is uniquely determined by its values on particularly well behaved points  $x \in X$ . These domains and these points are introduced in the following

## Definition 19.

16

- (i) Let  $x \in {}^{\rho}\mathbb{R}^{n}$ . Then we say that the point x is *near-standard* if there exists a representative  $(x_{\varepsilon})$  of x such that  $\exists \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^{+}} x_{\varepsilon} =: x^{\circ} \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$  ( $x^{\circ}$  is called the standard part of x). Clearly, this limit does not depend on the representative of x.
- (ii) If  $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ , then  $\Omega^{\bullet} := \left\{ x \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n \mid \exists x^{\circ} \in \Omega \right\}$ .
- (iii) We say that  $X \subseteq {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$  contains its converging subpoints if for all  $J \subseteq_0 I$  and all  $x' \in X|_J$  which is near standard or infinite, there exists some  $x \in X$  with  $x' \subseteq x$  and such that  $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0, \varepsilon \in J} x'_{\varepsilon} = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} x_{\varepsilon}$ .

**Theorem 20.** Let  $X \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$ ,  $Y \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^d$ , and let  $f : X \longrightarrow Y$  be a GSF. If X contains its converging subpoints and if f(x) = 0 for all near-standard and for all infinite points  $x \in X$ . Then f = 0.

*Proof.* In fact, suppose that f vanishes on every near-standard and every infinite point belonging to X, but that  $f(x) \neq 0$  for some  $x \in X$ . Let  $(x_{\varepsilon})$  be a representative of x. Then there exist  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $(\varepsilon_k)_k \downarrow 0$  such that  $|f_{\varepsilon_k}(x_{\varepsilon_k})| > \rho_{\varepsilon_k}^m$ , where  $(f_{\varepsilon})$  is a net that defines f. If  $(x_{\varepsilon_k})_k$  is a bounded sequence, we can extract from it a convergent subsequence  $(x_{\varepsilon_{k_l}})_l$ . Setting  $J := \{k_l \mid l \in \mathbb{N}\}, x' = x|_J$  is a subpoint of x and by assumption there exists some  $y \in X$  that satisfies  $y|_J = x'$  and additionally is near-standard, with the same limit as x'. By construction,  $f(y) \neq 0$ , a contradiction. If, on the other hand, the sequence  $(x_{\varepsilon_k})_k$  is unbounded, then we can extract a subsequence with  $\lim_{l\to+\infty} |x_{\varepsilon_{k_l}}| = +\infty$ , and can then proceed as above to construct an infinite point  $y \in X$  at which  $f(y) \neq 0$ .

Analogously, we can prove the following:

**Theorem 21.** Let  $X \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$  and  $Y \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^d$ . Let  $(\Omega_{\varepsilon})$  be a net of open subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , and  $(f_{\varepsilon})$  be a net of smooth functions, with  $f_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\Omega_{\varepsilon}, \mathbb{R}^d)$ . Assume that X contains its converging subpoints. Then  $(f_{\varepsilon})$  defines a GSF of the type  $X \longrightarrow Y$  if and only if

- (i)  $X \subseteq \langle \Omega_{\varepsilon} \rangle$  and  $[f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})] \in Y$  for all  $[x_{\varepsilon}] \in X$ .
- (ii)  $\forall \alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{n}$ :  $(\partial^{\alpha} f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})) \in \mathbb{R}_{\rho}^{d}$  for all near-standard and for all infinite points  $[x_{\varepsilon}] \in X$ .

For example, if  $\Omega$  is an open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , and we define the set of compactly supported generalized points by

$$\mathbf{c}(\Omega) := \{ [x_{\varepsilon}] \in {}^{\rho} \mathbb{R}^n \mid \exists K \Subset \Omega \; \forall^0 \varepsilon : \; x_{\varepsilon} \in K \} \subseteq \langle \Omega \rangle,$$

then  $c(\Omega)$  contains its converging subpoints. Internal and strongly internal sets generated by a constant sequence  $A \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ , i.e. [A] and  $\langle A \rangle$ , provide further examples of a subset containing its converging subpoints. Moreover, an arbitrary union  $\bigcup_{j \in J} X_j$  of sets, with each  $X_j$  containing its converging subpoints, still contains its converging subpoints.

The subset  $c(\Omega)$  is the natural domain for embedded distributions, as shown in the following section.

#### 4. Embedding of Schwartz distributions

Introduction. Among the re-occurring themes of this work are the choices which the solution of a given problem within our framework may depend upon. For instance,

(3.6) shows that the domain of a GSF depends on the infinitesimal net  $\rho$ . It is also easy to show that the trivial Cauchy problem

$$\begin{cases} x'(t) - [\varepsilon^{-1}] \cdot x(t) = 0\\ x(0) = 1 \end{cases}$$

has no solution (in a finite interval) if  $\rho = (\varepsilon)$ , but it has the unique solution  $x(t) = \left[e^{\frac{1}{\varepsilon}t}\right] \in {}^{\bar{\rho}}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{R})$  for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  if we consider another gauge  $\bar{\rho} := (e^{-1/\varepsilon})$ . Therefore, the choice of the infinitesimal net  $\rho$  is closely tied to the possibility of solving a given class of differential equations. This illustrates the dependence of the theory on the infinitesimal net  $\rho$ .

Further choices concern the embedding of Schwartz distributions. Since we need to associate a net of smooth functions  $(f_{\varepsilon})$  to a given distribution  $T \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$ , this embedding is naturally built upon a regularization process. In our approach, this regularization will depend on an infinite number  $b \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ , and the choice of bdepends on what properties we need from the embedding. For example, if  $\delta$  is the (embedding of the) one-dimensional Dirac delta, then we have the property

$$\delta(0) = b, \tag{4.1}$$

We can also choose the embedding so as to get the property

$$H(0) = \frac{1}{2},\tag{4.2}$$

where H is the (embedding of the) Heaviside step function. Equalities like these are used in diverse applications (see, e.g., [17, 84] and references therein). In fact, we are going to construct a family of structures of the type  $(\mathcal{G}, \partial, \iota)$ , where  $(\mathcal{G}, \partial)$  is a sheaf of differential algebra and  $\iota : \mathcal{D}' \longrightarrow \mathcal{G}$  is an embedding. The particular structure we need to consider depends on the problem we have to solve. Of course, one may be more interested in having an intrinsic embedding of distributions. This can be done by following the ideas of the full Colombeau algebra (see e.g. [50, 46, 45, 51]). Nevertheless, this choice decreases the simplicity of the present approach and is incompatible with properties like (4.1) and (4.2).

The embedding. If  $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $r \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$  and  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , we use the notations  $r \odot \varphi$ for the function  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n \mapsto \frac{1}{r^n} \cdot \varphi\left(\frac{x}{r}\right) \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $x \oplus \varphi$  for the function  $y \in \mathbb{R}^n \mapsto \varphi(y-x) \in \mathbb{R}$ . These notations highlight that  $\odot$  is a free action of the multiplicative group  $(\mathbb{R}_{>0}, \cdot, 1)$  on  $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $\oplus$  is a free action of the additive group  $(\mathbb{R}_{>0}, +, 0)$ on  $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . We also have the distributive property  $r \odot (x \oplus \varphi) = rx \oplus r \odot \varphi$ . Our embedding procedure will ultimately rely on convolution with suitable mollifiers. To construct these, we need some technical preparations.

**Lemma 22.** For any  $n \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  there exists some  $\mu_n \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R})$  with the following properties:

- (i)  $\int \mu_n(x) \, \mathrm{d}x = 1.$
- (*ii*)  $\int_0^\infty x^{\frac{j}{n}} \mu_n(x) \, \mathrm{d}x = 0 \text{ for all } j \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}.$
- (*iii*)  $\mu_n(0) = 1.$
- (iv)  $\mu_n$  is even.
- (v)  $\mu_n(k) = 0 \text{ for all } k \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}.$

Proof. Consider the Fréchet space

$$F := \{ \mu \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}) \mid \mu \text{ even}, \ \forall k \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\} : \mu(k) = 0 \}$$

and define the continuous linear functionals  $f_m : F \to \mathbb{R}$ , where  $f_0(\mu) := \mu(0)$ ,  $f_1(\mu) := \int \mu(x) dx$ , and  $f_m(\mu) := \int_0^\infty x^{\frac{m-1}{n}} \mu(x) dx$   $(m \ge 2)$ . Our objective then is to implement conditions (i)–(iii) by showing the solvability of the system

$$f_0(\mu) = 1, \ f_1(\mu) = 1, \ f_m(\mu) = 0 \ (m \ge 2)$$

$$(4.3)$$

in F. To this end, we employ a classical result of M. Eidelheit ([22, Satz 2]). First, the family  $(f_m)_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$  is linearly independent. Next, the topology of  $F \subseteq \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R})$ is generated by the family of norms  $p_k(\mu) = \sup_{l+m \leq k} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}} (1+|x|)^l |\mu^{(m)}(x)|$ ,  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . Suppose now that  $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_i$  are nonzero numbers and that the order of the linear functional  $\sum_{m=0}^i \lambda_m f_m$  is less or equal l. Here, the order of an element f of  $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R})$  is defined to be the smallest k such that  $|f(\mu)| \leq Cp_k(\mu)$  for some C > 0 and all  $\mu \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R})$ . Let  $i_l := nl + 1$ , then certainly  $i \leq i_l$ . Hence both conditions of [22, Satz 2] are satisfied and we may conclude that (4.3) has a solution  $\mu_n$  in F.

Remark 23. In addition to conditions (i)-(v) from Lemma 22 we may require that  $\mu_n$  satisfy finitely many additional properties expressible by linearly independent functionals as in the above proof (again by [22, Satz 2]). In particular, we may prescribe the values for  $\mu_n$  or its derivatives at finitely many further points.

Finally, we note that any element of  $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R})$  satisfying condition (ii) from Lemma 22 must change sign infinitely often.

We call *Colombeau mollifier* (for a fixed dimension n) any function  $\mu$  that satisfies the properties of the previous lemma. Concerning embeddings of Schwartz distributions, the idea is classically to regularize distributions using a mollifier. The use of a Colombeau mollifier allows us, on the one hand, to identify the distribution  $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}(\Omega) \mapsto \int f\varphi$  with the GSF  $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\Omega) \subseteq {}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\Omega, \mathbb{R})$  (thanks to property (ii)); on the other hand, it allows us to explicitly calculate compositions such as  $\delta \circ \delta$ ,  $H \circ \delta$ ,  $\delta \circ H$  (see below).

It is worth noting that the condition (ii) of null moments is well known in the study of convergence of numerical solutions of singular differential equations, see e.g. [57, 24, 115] and references therein.

Next we show that the assignment  $U \mapsto {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(c(U), {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$   $(U \subseteq \Omega \text{ open})$  is a fine sheaf on  $\Omega$ . In fact, for  $V \subseteq U$ , the natural restriction map  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(c(U), {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}) \to \mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(c(V), {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$  can also be written, in terms of defining nets, as  $f = [f_{\varepsilon}] \mapsto [f_{\varepsilon}|_{V}]$ . Also,  $c(U) \cap c(V) = c(U \cap V)$ .

Suppose that  $\Omega_j$   $(j \in J)$  is an open covering of  $\Omega$  and that for each  $j \in J$  we are given  $f^j = [f^j_{\varepsilon}] \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(c(\Omega_j), {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$  such that  $f^j|_{c(\Omega_j \cap \Omega_k)} = f^k|_{c(\Omega_j \cap \Omega_k)}$  for all j,  $k \in J$ . Then letting  $\chi_j$   $(j \in J)$  be a partition of unity subordinate to  $\Omega_j$   $(j \in J)$ , the GSF defined by the net

$$f_{\varepsilon} := \sum_{j \in J} \chi_j \cdot f_{\varepsilon}^j \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\Omega)$$

is the unique element of  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(\mathbf{c}(\Omega), {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$  with  $f|_{\mathbf{c}(\Omega_j)} = f^j$  for all  $j \in J$ . In particular, we may define a corresponding notion of standard support for each  $f \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(\mathbf{c}(\Omega), {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$  by

stsupp
$$(f) := \left( \bigcup \left\{ \Omega' \subseteq \Omega \mid \Omega' \text{ open, } f|_{\Omega'} = 0 \right\} \right)^{c}$$
.



FIGURE 4.1. A representation of Dirac delta and Heaviside function. A Colombeau mollifier has a representation similar to Dirac delta (but with finite values).

The adjective standard underscores that this set is made only of standard points; a better notion of support for GSF is defined as  $\operatorname{supp}(f) = \overline{\{x \in X \mid |f(x)| > 0\}}$  and studied in [41].

As a final preparation for the embedding of  $\mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$  into  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(c(\Omega), {}^{\rho}\mathbb{R})$  we need to construct suitable *n*-dimensional mollifiers from a Colombeau mollifier  $\mu$  as given by Lemma 22. To this end, let  $\omega_n$  denote the surface area of  $S^{n-1}$  and set

$$c_n := \begin{cases} \frac{2n}{\omega_n} & \text{for } n > 1\\ 1 & \text{for } n = 1. \end{cases}$$

Then let  $\tilde{\mu} : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\tilde{\mu}(x) := c_n \mu(|x|^n)$ . Since  $\mu$  is even,  $\tilde{\mu}$  is smooth. Moreover, by Lemma 22, it has unit integral and all its higher moments  $\int x^{\alpha} \tilde{\mu}(x) dx$  vanish  $(|\alpha| \ge 1)$ . With this notation we have:

**Lemma 24.** Let  $\chi \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $\chi = 1$  on  $\overline{B_1^{\text{E}}(0)}$ , and  $\chi = 0$  on  $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_2^{\text{E}}(0)$ . Also, let  $b = [b_{\varepsilon}] \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  be an infinite positive number, i.e.  $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} b_{\varepsilon} = +\infty$ . Now set

$$\mu_{\varepsilon}^{b}(x) := (b_{\varepsilon}^{-1} \odot \tilde{\mu})(x)\chi(x|\log(b_{\varepsilon})|) = b_{\varepsilon}^{n}\tilde{\mu}(b_{\varepsilon}x)\chi(x|\log(b_{\varepsilon})|).$$
(4.4)

- (i)  $\forall \varepsilon : \ \mu^b_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n), \ stsupp(\mu^b_{\varepsilon}) \subseteq B^{\mathrm{E}}_{2|\log(b_{\varepsilon})|^{-1}}(0).$
- (*ii*)  $\forall \alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n \exists N \in \mathbb{N} : \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} |\partial^{\alpha} \mu_{\varepsilon}^b(x)| = O(b_{\varepsilon}^N) \ (\varepsilon \to 0).$
- $(iii) \quad \forall \alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n \, \forall q \in \mathbb{N} : \, \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} |\partial^{\alpha} (\mu_{\varepsilon}^b b_{\varepsilon}^n \tilde{\mu}(b_{\varepsilon}, \tilde{}))(x)| = O(b_{\varepsilon}^{-q}) \, (\varepsilon \to 0).$
- (iv)  $\forall q \in \mathbb{N} : \int \mu_{\varepsilon}^{b}(x) \, \mathrm{d}x = 1 + O(b_{\varepsilon}^{-q}) \ (\varepsilon \to 0).$
- $(v) \quad \forall q \in \mathbb{N} \, \forall \alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n: \ |\alpha| > 0 \ \Rightarrow \ \int x^\alpha \mu^b_\varepsilon(x) \, \mathrm{d} x = O(b_\varepsilon^{-q}) \ (\varepsilon \to 0) \ .$

*Proof.* All the claimed properties have been proved for the special case  $b_{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon^{-1}$  in [19, Sec. 3], and the arguments employed there carry over in a straightforward way to the present setting.

**Theorem 25.** Let  $(\emptyset \neq)\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  be an open set and let  $\mu_{\varepsilon}^b$  as in Lemma 24. Set  $\Omega_{\varepsilon} := \{x \in \Omega \mid d(x, \Omega^c) \geq \varepsilon, \ |x| \leq \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\}$  and fix some  $\chi \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n), \ \chi = 1$  on  $\overline{B_1^{\text{E}}(0)}, 0 \leq \chi \leq 1 \text{ and } \chi = 0 \text{ on } \mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_2^{\text{E}}(0)$ . Also, take  $\kappa_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{D}(\Omega)$  such that  $\kappa_{\varepsilon} = 1$  on a neighborhood  $L_{\varepsilon}$  of  $\Omega_{\varepsilon}$ . Then the map

$$\iota_{\Omega}^{b}: T \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega) \mapsto \left[ \left( (\kappa_{\varepsilon} \cdot T) * \mu_{\varepsilon}^{b} \right) (-) \right] \in {}^{\rho} \mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(\mathbf{c}(\Omega), {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}).$$
(4.5)

satisfies:

- (i)  $\iota^b : \mathcal{D}' \longrightarrow {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(\mathbf{c}(-), {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$  is a sheaf-morphism of real vector spaces: If  $\Omega' \subseteq \Omega$  is another open set and  $T \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$ , then  $\iota^b_{\Omega}(T)|_{\mathbf{c}(\Omega')} = \iota^b_{\Omega'}(T|_{\Omega'})$ .
- (ii)  $\iota^b$  preserves supports, hence is in fact a sheaf-monomorphism.
- (iii) Any  $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\Omega)$  can naturally be considered an element of  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(c(\Omega), {}^{\rho}\mathbb{R})$  via  $[x_{\varepsilon}] \mapsto [f(x_{\varepsilon})].$  Moreover,  $\forall q \in \mathbb{N}_{>0} \ \forall x \in c(\Omega) : |\iota_{\Omega}^{b}(f)(x) f(x)| \leq b^{-q}.$
- (iv) If  $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\Omega)$  and if  $b \geq d\rho^{-a}$  for some  $a \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ , then  $\iota^{b}_{\Omega}(f) = f$ . In particular,  $\iota^{b}$  then provides a multiplicative sheaf-monomorphism  $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(-) \hookrightarrow {}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(c(-),\mathbb{R}).$
- (v) For any  $T \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$  and any  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n$ ,  $\iota^b_{\Omega}(\partial^{\alpha}T) = \partial^{\alpha}\iota^b_{\Omega}(T)$ .
- (vi) Let  $b \ge d\rho^{-a}$  for some  $a \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ . Then for any  $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}(\Omega)$  and any  $T \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$ ,

$$\left[\int_{\Omega} \iota_{\Omega}^{b}(T)_{\varepsilon}(x) \cdot \varphi(x) \, \mathrm{d}x\right] = \langle T, \varphi \rangle \quad in \ {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$$

(vii)  $\iota^b_{\mathbb{R}^n}(\delta)(0) = c_n b^n$  and if  $b \ge d\rho^{-a}$  for some  $a \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ , then  $\iota^b_{\mathbb{R}}(H)(0) = \frac{1}{2}$ .

- (viii) The embedding  $\iota^b$  does not depend on the particular choice of  $(\kappa_{\varepsilon})$  and (if  $b \ge d\rho^{-a}$  for some  $a \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ )  $\chi$  as above.
- (ix)  $\iota^b$  does not depend on the representative  $(b_{\varepsilon})$  of b employed in (4.4).

*Proof.* We follow ideas from [50, Sec. 1.2] and [19]. Let  $T \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$  and let  $[x_{\varepsilon}] \in c(\Omega)$ . Then there exists some  $K \Subset \Omega$  such that  $x_{\varepsilon} \in K$  for  $\varepsilon$  small. Also, we may assume that  $K + B^{\mathbb{E}}_{2|\log(b_{\varepsilon})|^{-1}}(0) \subseteq L \subseteq \Omega_{\varepsilon}$  for these  $\varepsilon$ , where  $L \Subset \Omega$ . Then by (i) of Lemma 24, for  $\varepsilon$  small we have

$$\iota_{\Omega}^{b}(T)_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon}) = (\kappa_{\varepsilon} \cdot T) * \mu_{\varepsilon}^{b}(x_{\varepsilon}) = T * \mu_{\varepsilon}^{b}(x_{\varepsilon}) = \langle T, \mu_{\varepsilon}^{b}(x_{\varepsilon} - .) \rangle.$$
(4.6)

Since  $T \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$ , we have a seminorm estimate of the form

$$\forall \varphi \in \mathcal{D}_L(\Omega) : \ |\langle T, \varphi \rangle| \le C \max_{|\beta| \le m} \sup_{x \in L} |\partial^\beta \varphi(x)|.$$

Together with Lemma 24 (i) and (ii) this implies that  $(\partial^{\alpha} \iota_{\Omega}^{b}(T)_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})) \in \mathbb{R}^{n}_{\rho}$  for each  $\alpha$ . Hence  $\iota_{\Omega}^{b}$  indeed maps  $\mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$  into  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(\mathbf{c}(\Omega), {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$ .

To show (i), let  $\Omega' \subseteq \Omega$  be open and let  $[x_{\varepsilon}] \in c(\Omega')$ . Then using the notations introduced before (4.6), we may suppose that  $L \subseteq \Omega'_{\varepsilon}$ , and so for  $\varepsilon$  small we have  $\mu^b_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{D}(\Omega')$ . Therefore, (4.6) implies for such  $\varepsilon$ :

$$\iota_{\Omega}^{b}(T)_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon}) = \langle T, \mu_{\varepsilon}^{b}(x_{\varepsilon} - .) \rangle = \langle T|_{\Omega'}, \mu_{\varepsilon}^{b}(x_{\varepsilon} - .) \rangle = \iota_{\Omega'}^{b}(T|_{\Omega'})_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon}).$$

Next we show (ii). Suppose first that  $T|_{\Omega'} = 0$  for some open subset  $\Omega'$  of  $\Omega$ . Let  $[x_{\varepsilon}] \in c(\Omega')$  and pick  $K \subseteq \Omega'$  such that  $x_{\varepsilon} \in K$  for  $\varepsilon$  small. As above, for  $\varepsilon$  small we have stsupp $(\mu_{\varepsilon}^b(x_{\varepsilon} - .)) \subseteq \Omega'$ , as well as  $\iota_{\Omega}^b(T)_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon}) = \langle T, \mu_{\varepsilon}^b(x_{\varepsilon} - .) \rangle$ , which therefore vanishes. Hence  $\iota_{\Omega}^b(T)|_{\Omega'} = 0$ , and thereby stsupp $(\iota_{\Omega}^b(T)) \subseteq$  stsupp(T).

Conversely, let  $\Omega' \subseteq \Omega$  such that  $\iota_{\Omega}^{b}(T)|_{\Omega'} = 0$  and let  $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}(\Omega')$ . Since  $(\kappa_{\varepsilon}T) * \mu_{\varepsilon}^{b} \to T$  in  $\mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$ , in order to show  $\langle T, \varphi \rangle = 0$  it suffices to demonstrate that  $(\kappa_{\varepsilon}T) * \mu_{\varepsilon}^{b} \to 0$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ , uniformly on compact subsets of  $\Omega'$ . Suppose this were not the case, then we could find some  $L \in \Omega'$ , some c > 0 and sequences  $\varepsilon_{k} \downarrow 0$  and  $x_{k} \in L$  such that  $|(\kappa_{\varepsilon}T) * \mu_{\varepsilon_{k}}^{b}(x_{k})| \geq c$  for all k. Fixing any  $z \in \Omega'$  and setting  $x_{\varepsilon} := x_{k}$  for  $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_{k}$  and  $x_{\varepsilon} = z$  otherwise then defines an element  $[x_{\varepsilon}] \in c(\Omega')$  with  $\iota_{\Omega}^{b}(T)([x_{\varepsilon}]) \neq 0$ , a contradiction.

Consequently,  $\iota_{\Omega}^{b}$  induces an injective sheaf morphism (again denoted by)  $\iota^{b}$ :  $\mathcal{D}'(-) \longrightarrow {}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbf{c}(-), {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}).$ 

(iii): If  $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\Omega)$  then any derivative of f is uniformly (in  $\varepsilon$ ) bounded on any  $(x_{\varepsilon})$  (for  $[x_{\varepsilon}] \in c(\Omega)$ ). Thus  $f \in \mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(c(\Omega), {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$ . Now let  $[x_{\varepsilon}] \in c(\Omega)$  and suppose first that f has compact support. By Lemma 24 (iv), for any  $x \in \Omega$ ,  $f(x) = \int f(x)\mu_{\varepsilon}^{b}(y) dy + n_{\varepsilon}$ , where  $n_{\varepsilon} = O(b_{\varepsilon}^{-q})$  for every q > 0. Thus for  $\varepsilon$  small and any  $q \in \mathbb{N}$  we have by Taylor expansion

$$(\iota_{\Omega}^{b}(f)_{\varepsilon} - f)(x_{\varepsilon}) = \int (f(x_{\varepsilon} - y) - f(x_{\varepsilon}))\mu_{\varepsilon}^{b}(y) \,\mathrm{d}y + n_{\varepsilon}$$

$$= \sum_{k=1}^{q-1} \int \frac{1}{k!} ((-y \cdot D)^{k} f)(x_{\varepsilon})\mu_{\varepsilon}^{b}(y) \,\mathrm{d}y$$

$$+ \frac{b_{\varepsilon}^{-q}}{q!} \int ((-y \cdot D)^{q} f)(x_{\varepsilon} - \theta_{\varepsilon} b_{\varepsilon}^{-1} y)\tilde{\mu}(y)\chi(b_{\varepsilon}^{-1} y|\log(b_{\varepsilon})|) \,\mathrm{d}y + n_{\varepsilon},$$
(4.7)

where  $\theta_{\varepsilon} \in (0, 1)$ . Here, the first sum is  $O(b_{\varepsilon}^{-q})$  by Lemma 24 (v), as is the second term since f is compactly supported,  $\chi$  is globally bounded, and  $\tilde{\mu} \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . If f is not compactly supported, pick  $L \Subset \Omega$  such that  $x_{\varepsilon} \in L$  for  $\varepsilon$  small and let  $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}(\Omega)$  equal 1 in a neighborhood of L. Then  $f(x) = (\varphi f)(x)$  and (ii) implies that  $\iota_{\Omega}^{b}(f)(x) = \iota_{\Omega}^{b}(\varphi f)(x)$ , so the general case follows as well.

(iv): It suffices to observe that, by our assumption on b, (iii) implies that  $\iota_{\Omega}^{b}(f)([x_{\varepsilon}]) = [f(x_{\varepsilon})] = f(x)$  for any  $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\Omega)$  and any  $x = [x_{\varepsilon}] \in c(\Omega)$ .

(v): As in the proof of (iv) we may assume that T has compact support. Then for  $\varepsilon$  small we have

$$\iota^b_\Omega(\partial^\alpha T)_\varepsilon = \partial^\alpha T * \mu^b_\varepsilon = \partial^\alpha (T * \mu^b_\varepsilon) = \partial^\alpha \iota^b_\Omega(T)_\varepsilon.$$

(vi): Pick  $\zeta \in \mathcal{D}(\Omega)$  such that  $\zeta \equiv 1$  on a neighborhood of stsupp $(\varphi)$ . Then

$$\mathrm{stsupp}(\iota_{\Omega}^{b}(T) - \iota_{\Omega}^{b}(\zeta T)) \cap \mathrm{stsupp}\varphi = \mathrm{stsupp}(T - \zeta T) \cap \mathrm{stsupp}\varphi = \emptyset,$$

so we may replace T by  $\zeta T$ , i.e., we may assume without loss of generality that  $T \in \mathcal{E}'(\Omega)$ . By the representation theorem of distribution theory T then is a finite sum of terms of the form  $\partial^{\alpha} f$  with  $f \in \mathcal{C}^{0}(\Omega)$  compactly supported in  $\Omega$ , so it will suffice to treat the case  $T = \partial^{\alpha} f$ . For any  $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}(\Omega)$  we have

$$\begin{split} \int (\iota_{\Omega}^{b}(\partial^{\alpha}f)_{\varepsilon} - \partial^{\alpha}f)(x)\varphi(x) \, \mathrm{d}x &= \int \int (\partial^{\alpha}f(x-y) - \partial^{\alpha}f(x))\mu_{\varepsilon}^{b}(y)\varphi(x) \, \mathrm{d}y \mathrm{d}x + n_{\varepsilon} \\ &= \int \partial^{\alpha}f(x) \int \mu_{\varepsilon}^{b}(y)(\varphi(x+y) - \varphi(x)) \, \mathrm{d}y \mathrm{d}x + n_{\varepsilon}. \end{split}$$

with  $n_{\varepsilon} = O(b_{\varepsilon}^{-q})$  for any  $q \in \mathbb{N}$  by Lemma 24 (v). As in the proof of (iii) it follows that also the integral term in the above equality is of order  $O(b_{\varepsilon}^{-q})$ , giving the claim due to our assumption on b.

(vii): The first claim is immediate from  $\iota^b_{\mathbb{R}}(\delta)_{\varepsilon}(0) = \mu^b_{\varepsilon}(0)$ . To show the second, note first that

$$\iota^{b}_{\mathbb{R}}(H)_{\varepsilon}(0) - \int H(y)\mu^{b}_{\varepsilon}(-y) \,\mathrm{d}y = \int H(y)(\kappa_{\varepsilon}(y) - 1)\mu^{b}_{\varepsilon}(-y) \,\mathrm{d}y = 0$$

for  $\varepsilon$  small by the support properties of  $\kappa_{\varepsilon}$  and  $\chi$ . Furthermore, since  $\int_0^{\infty} \mu(y) \, dy = 1/2$ , we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left| \int H(y)\mu_{\varepsilon}^{b}(-y) \,\mathrm{d}y - \frac{1}{2} \right| &= \left| \int_{0}^{\infty} \mu(y)(\chi(b_{\varepsilon}^{-1}|\log(b_{\varepsilon})|)y) - 1) \,\mathrm{d}y \right| \\ &\leq \int_{b_{\varepsilon}|\log(b_{\varepsilon})|^{-1}}^{\infty} |\mu(y)| \,\mathrm{d}y = O(b_{\varepsilon}^{-q}) \end{split}$$

for any  $q \in \mathbb{N}$ , so the claim follows.

(viii): We first note that any two choices for either  $(\kappa_{\varepsilon})$  or  $\chi$  provide sheaf morphisms as in (i), (ii), hence it suffices to check that the resulting embeddings coincide on compactly supported distributions. For any such T we have  $\kappa_{\varepsilon}T = T$  for  $\varepsilon$  small, so independence from the choice of  $(\kappa_{\varepsilon})$  follows.

Now suppose that two different  $\chi$ 's have been chosen and denote the corresponding functions from (4.4) by  $\mu_{\varepsilon}^{b}$  and  $\bar{\mu}_{\varepsilon}^{b}$ , and the resulting embeddings by  $\iota^{b}$  and  $\bar{\iota}^{b}$ , respectively. Since  $T \in \mathcal{E}'(\Omega)$ , it satisfies a seminorm estimate of the form

$$\forall \varphi \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\Omega) : |\langle T, \varphi \rangle| \le C \max_{|\beta| \le m} \sup_{x \in L} |\partial^{\beta} \varphi(x)|.$$
(4.8)

for some  $L \in \Omega$ . Together with Lemma 24 (iii) this implies that, for any  $[x_{\varepsilon}] \in c(\Omega)$ and  $\varepsilon$  small, we have

$$|(\iota_{\Omega}^{b}(T)_{\varepsilon} - \bar{\iota}_{\Omega}^{b}(T)_{\varepsilon})(x_{\varepsilon})| = |\langle T, (\mu_{\varepsilon}^{b} - \bar{\mu}_{\varepsilon}^{b})(x_{\varepsilon} - .)\rangle| = O(b_{\varepsilon}^{-q})$$

for any  $q \in \mathbb{N}$ .

(ix): Let  $(c_{\varepsilon})$  be another representative of b, so  $(c_{\varepsilon}) \sim_{\rho} (b_{\varepsilon})$ . As in the proof of (viii) it then suffices to show that  $\iota^{b}(T) = \iota^{c}(T)$  for any  $T \in \mathcal{E}'(\Omega)$ . Given  $x = [x_{\varepsilon}] \in c(\Omega)$ , let  $K \Subset \Omega$  be such that  $x_{\varepsilon} \in K$  for  $\varepsilon$  small. Then by (4.8) and (4.5),

$$|(\iota^{b}(T) - \iota^{c}(T))(x_{\varepsilon})| \leq C \max_{|\beta| \leq m} \sup_{x \in K - L} |\partial^{\beta}(\mu_{\varepsilon}^{b} - \mu_{\varepsilon}^{c})(x)|.$$

Inserting from (4.4) it follows by a straightforward estimate that the right hand side here is of order  $O(\rho_{\varepsilon}^q)$  for any  $q \in \mathbb{N}$ , proving the claim.

22

Whenever we use the notation  $\iota^b$  for an embedding, we assume that  $b \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ satisfies the overall assumptions of Thm. 25 and of (iv) in that Theorem, and that  $\iota^{b}$  has been defined as in (4.5) using a Colombeau mollifier  $\mu$  for the given dimension. Note in particular that by Theorem 25 (ix) we are justified in using the short hand notation  $\iota^b$  for the embedding defined via any representative  $(b_{\varepsilon})$  of b.

Remark 26.

- In Def. 1, we introduced the asymptotic gauge  $\mathcal{I}(\rho)$ , and the entire construc-(i) tion depends on the fixed infinitesimal net  $\rho$  only through this set  $\mathcal{I}(\rho)$ . A more general definition of asymptotic gauge is possible (see [45]). Anyhow, [45, Sec. 4.3] shows that an embedding of Schwartz distribution having certain minimal properties necessarily requires that the asymptotic gauge be generated by a single net, as is the case for  $\mathcal{I}(\rho)$ .
- Let  $\delta, H \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}({}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}, {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$  be the corresponding  $\iota^{b}$ -embeddings of the Dirac (ii) delta and of the Heaviside function. Then  $\delta(x) = b \cdot \mu(b \cdot x)$  and  $\delta(x) = 0$  if x is near-standard and  $x^{\circ} \neq 0$  or if x is infinite because  $\mu \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R})$ . Also, by construction of  $\mu_{\varepsilon}^{b}$ ,  $\delta$  can be represented like in the first diagram of Fig. 4.1. E.g.,  $\delta(k/b) = 0$  for each  $k \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$ , and each  $\frac{k}{b}$  is a nonzero infinitesimal. Similar properties can be stated e.g. for  $\delta^2(x) = b^2 \cdot \mu (b \cdot x)^2$ .
- (iii) Analogously, we have H(x) = 1 if x is near-standard and  $x^{\circ} > 0$  or if x > 0is infinite; H(x) = 0 if x is near-standard and  $x^{\circ} < 0$  or if x < 0 is infinite.
- Let  $\operatorname{vp}(\frac{1}{x}) \in \mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{R})$  be the Cauchy principal value, so that  $\iota^b_{\mathbb{R}}(\operatorname{vp}(\frac{1}{x}))(x) =$ (iv)  $[(\operatorname{vp}(\frac{1}{x}) * \mu_{\varepsilon}^{b})(x_{\varepsilon})] = [\langle \operatorname{vp}(\frac{1}{x})(y), \mu_{\varepsilon}^{b}(x_{\varepsilon} - y) \rangle] \text{ and } \mu_{\varepsilon}^{b}(x) = b_{\varepsilon}\mu(b_{\varepsilon}x)\chi(x|\log b_{\varepsilon}|).$ If  $x = [x_{\varepsilon}]$  is far from the origin, in the sense that  $|x| \ge r$  for some  $r \in$  $\mathbb{R}_{>0}, \text{ then } \iota^{b}_{\mathbb{R}}(\operatorname{vp}(\frac{1}{x}))(x) = [\int_{-R_{\varepsilon}}^{R_{\varepsilon}} \frac{\mu^{b}_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon}-y)}{y} \, \mathrm{d}y], \text{ where } R_{\varepsilon} := x_{\varepsilon} + 2|\log b_{\varepsilon}|^{-1}.$ Proceeding as above for the smooth function  $x \mapsto \frac{1}{x}$  in a neighborhood of  $x_{\varepsilon}$ not containing the origin (i.e. for  $\varepsilon$  small), we can prove that  $\iota^b_{\mathbb{R}}(\operatorname{vp}(\frac{1}{r}))(x) =$  $\frac{1}{x}$ . The behavior of the GSF  $\iota^b_{\mathbb{R}}(\operatorname{vp}(\frac{1}{x}))$  in an infinitesimal neighborhood of the origin depends on the Colombeau mollifier  $\mu$ . For example, if in Lem. 22 we add the linear condition  $\int \frac{\mu_n(x)}{x} dx = 0$ , then also  $\iota^b_{\mathbb{R}}(\operatorname{vp}(\frac{1}{x}))(0) = 0$ .
- In [76], S. Lojasiewicz introduced the notion of a point value for distributions.  $(\mathbf{v})$ He defined that  $T \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$  has the point value  $c \in \mathbb{C}$  in  $x_0 \in \Omega$  if

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \langle T(x_0 + \varepsilon x), \varphi(x) \rangle = c \int \varphi(x) \, \mathrm{d}x \qquad \forall \varphi \in \mathcal{D}(\Omega).$$
(4.9)

Not every distribution has point values in arbitrary points — in fact, if it does, it already has to be a function of first Baire class ([76]). Conversely, a continuous function f clearly has point value f(x) in any point x in its domain.

We show that if T has point value c at  $x_0 \in \Omega$  then  $\iota_{\Omega}^b(T)_{\varepsilon}(x_0) \to c$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . In fact, since  $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is a normal space of distributions that is invariant under translations, by [103, Prop. 7] this follows if for any sequence  $\varepsilon_k \downarrow 0$ , the functions  $g_k := \mu_{\varepsilon_k}^b$  satisfy the following conditions: (a)  $\int g_k(x) \, \mathrm{d}x \to 1$ , and  $\forall \eta > 0$ :  $\int_{|x| \ge \eta} g_k(x) \, \mathrm{d}x \to 0$  as  $k \to \infty$ .

- (b) For each  $\alpha \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  that is 1 on a neighborhood of 0,  $(1-\alpha)g_k \to 0$  in  $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$  for  $k \to \infty$ .
- (c) For each  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n$  there exists some  $M_\alpha > 0$  such that, for any  $\eta > 0$ :  $\int_{|x| \le n} |x|^{|\alpha|} |\partial^{\alpha} g_k(x)| \, \mathrm{d}x \le M_{\alpha}.$

Indeed, all these properties follow readily from (4.4).

(vi) Colombeau's special (or simplified) algebra  $\mathcal{G}$  ([15, 16, 84, 50]) is defined, for  $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  open, as the quotient  $\mathcal{G}^s(\Omega) := \mathcal{E}_M(\Omega)/\mathcal{N}^s(\Omega)$  of moderate nets modulo negligible nets, where

$$\mathcal{E}_M(\Omega) := \{ (u_{\varepsilon}) \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\Omega)^I \mid \forall K \Subset \Omega \,\forall \alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n \,\exists N \in \mathbb{N} : \\ \sup_{x \in K} |\partial^{\alpha} u_{\varepsilon}(x)| = O(\varepsilon^{-N}) \}$$

and

$$\mathcal{N}^{s}(\Omega) := \{ (u_{\varepsilon}) \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\Omega)^{I} \mid \forall K \Subset \Omega \,\forall \alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{n} \,\forall m \in \mathbb{N} : \\ \sup_{x \in K} |\partial^{\alpha} u_{\varepsilon}(x)| = O(\varepsilon^{m}) \}.$$

It follows from [43, Th. 37] that  $\mathcal{G}^s(\Omega)$  can be identified with the algebra  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(c(\Omega), {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$  in the special case of  $\rho(\varepsilon) = \varepsilon$ . In this setting, Theorem 25 gives an alternative proof of the well known facts that the Colombeau algebra contains  $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\Omega)$  as a faithful subalgebra,  $\mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$  as a linear subspace and that the embedding is a sheaf morphism that commutes with partial derivatives. An alternative point of view is that Colombeau generalized functions correspond to those generalized smooth functions that are defined on compactly supported generalized points. As was already mentioned, more general domains are both useful in applications and are indeed a necessary requirement for obtaining a construction that is closed with respect to composition of generalized functions.

We close this section by considering the following natural problem: let us define two embeddings  $\iota_{\Omega}^{b}$ ,  $\iota_{\Omega}^{c}$  as in (4.5), but using two different infinite positive numbers  $b, c \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ , so that for all  $T \in \mathcal{E}'(\Omega)$  we have

$$\iota_{\Omega}^{b}(T) := \left[T * \mu_{\varepsilon}^{b}\right],$$
$$\iota_{\Omega}^{c}(T) := \left[T * \mu_{\varepsilon}^{c}\right].$$

The following result characterizes equality of such embeddings.

**Theorem 27.** Let  $b, c \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  be infinite positive numbers and let  $\mu$  be a Colombeau mollifier for dimension n. Let  $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  be open. Then  $\iota_{\Omega}^b = \iota_{\Omega}^c$  if and only if b = c in  ${}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ , i.e. if and only if they are equal as Robinson-Colombeau generalized number.

*Proof.* By Theorem 25 (ix),  $\iota^b$  is well-defined, i.e., does not depend on the representative of  $b \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ . Conversely, suppose that  $\iota^b_{\Omega} = \iota^c_{\Omega}$  and fix any  $x_0 \in \Omega$ . Then in particular  $\iota^b_{\Omega}(\delta_{x_0}) = \iota^c_{\Omega}(\delta_{x_0})$  in  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(c(\Omega), {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$ . Due to (4.4), (4.5), an evaluation of these GSF at  $x_0$  implies

$$\forall m \in \mathbb{N} : |(b_{\varepsilon}^n - c_{\varepsilon}^n)c_n| = O(\rho_{\varepsilon}^m),$$

so b = c in  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ .

4.0.1. Closure with respect to composition. In contrast to the case of distributions, there is no problem in considering the composition of two GSF. This property opens new interesting possibilities, e.g. in considering differential equations y' = f(y,t), where y and f are GSF. For instance, there is no problem in studying  $y' = \delta(y)$  (see [77]).

24

**Theorem 28.** Subsets  $S \subseteq {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{s}$  with the trace of the sharp topology, and generalized smooth maps as arrows form a subcategory of the category of topological spaces. We will call this category  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}$ , the category of GSF.

*Proof.* From Thm. 17 (iii) we already know that every GSF is continuous; we have hence to prove that these arrows are closed with respect to identity and composition in order to obtain a concrete subcategory of topological spaces and continuous maps. If  $T \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^t$  is an arbitrary object, then  $f_{\varepsilon}(x) := x$  is the net of smooth functions that globally defines the identity  $1_T$  on T. It is immediate that  $1_T$  is generalized smooth.

To prove that arrows of  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}$  are closed with respect to composition, let  $S \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{s}, T \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{t}, R \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{r}$  and  $f: S \longrightarrow T, g: T \longrightarrow R$  be GSF, then  $f(x) = [f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})] \in T$  and  $g(y) = [g_{\varepsilon}(y_{\varepsilon})] \in R$  for every  $x \in S$  and  $y \in T$ , where  $f_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\Omega'_{\varepsilon}, \mathbb{R}^{t})$  and  $g_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\Omega''_{\varepsilon}, \mathbb{R}^{r})$  are suitable nets of smooth functions as in Def. 14, and where  $\Omega'_{\varepsilon}$  is open in  $\mathbb{R}^{s}$  and  $\Omega''_{\varepsilon}$  is open in  $\mathbb{R}^{t}$ . Of course, the idea is to consider  $g_{\varepsilon} \circ f_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\Omega_{\varepsilon}, \mathbb{R}^{r})$ , where  $\Omega_{\varepsilon} := f_{\varepsilon}^{-1}(\Omega''_{\varepsilon})$  (let us note that, even in the case where  $\Omega''_{\varepsilon}$  does not depend by  $\varepsilon$ , generally speaking  $\Omega_{\varepsilon}$  still depends on  $\varepsilon$ ).

Take  $x \in S$ , so that  $f(x) = [f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})] \in T \subseteq \langle \Omega_{\varepsilon}'' \rangle$  and hence  $f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon}) \in_{\varepsilon} \Omega_{\varepsilon}''$  and  $x_{\varepsilon} \in \Omega_{\varepsilon}$  for  $\varepsilon$  small. If we take another representative  $(x_{\varepsilon}') \sim_{\rho} (x_{\varepsilon})$  we have f(x') = f(x) since f is well-defined and, proceeding as before, we still have that  $x_{\varepsilon}' \in \Omega_{\varepsilon}$  for  $\varepsilon$  sufficiently small. This proves that  $S \subseteq \langle \Omega_{\varepsilon} \rangle$ . Moreover, since  $[f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})] \in T$ , we also have that  $[g_{\varepsilon}(f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon}))] \in R$  and  $g(f(x)) = [g_{\varepsilon}(f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon}))]$ . It remains to show that the net  $(g_{\varepsilon} \circ f_{\varepsilon})$  defines a GSF (Def. 14) of the type  $S \longrightarrow R$ . To this end, let us consider any  $[x_{\varepsilon}] \in S$  and any  $\gamma \in \mathbb{N}^s$ . We can write

$$\partial^{\gamma}(g_{\varepsilon} \circ f_{\varepsilon})(x_{\varepsilon}) = p \left[ \partial^{\alpha_1} f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon}), \dots, \partial^{\alpha_A} f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon}), \partial^{\beta_1} g_{\varepsilon}(f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})), \dots, \partial^{\beta_B} g_{\varepsilon}(f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})) \right],$$
(4.10)

where p is a suitable polynomial (from the Faà di Bruno formula) not depending on  $x_{\varepsilon}$ . Every term  $\partial^{\alpha_i} f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})$  and  $\partial^{\beta_j} g_{\varepsilon}(f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon}))$  is  $\rho$ -moderate by (ii) of Def. 14. Since moderateness is preserved by polynomial operations, it follows that also  $\partial^{\gamma}(g_{\varepsilon} \circ f_{\varepsilon})(x_{\varepsilon})$  is  $\rho$ -moderate.

For instance, we can think of the Dirac delta as a map of the form  $\delta : {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}} \longrightarrow {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ , and therefore the composition  $e^{\delta}$  is defined in  $\{x \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}} \mid \exists z \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}_{>0} : \delta(x) \leq \log z\}$ , which of course does not contain x = 0 but only suitable non zero infinitesimals. On the other hand,  $\delta \circ \delta : {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}} \longrightarrow {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ . Moreover, from the inclusion of ordinary smooth functions (Thm. 25) and the closure with respect to composition, it directly follows that every  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(U,{}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$  is an algebra with pointwise operations for every subset  $U \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{n}$ . For an open subset  $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{n}$ , the algebra  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(c(\Omega),{}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$  contains the space  $\mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$  of Schwartz distributions.

A natural way to define a GSF is to follow the original idea of classical authors (see [60, 73, 20]) to fix an infinitesimal or infinite parameter in a suitable ordinary smooth function. We will call this type of GSF of *Cauchy-Dirac type*; the next theorem specifies this notion and states that GSF are of Cauchy-Dirac type whenever the generating net  $(f_{\varepsilon})$  is smooth in  $\varepsilon$ .

**Corollary 29.** Let  $X \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $Y \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $P \subseteq \mathbb{R}^m$  be open sets and  $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(P \times X, Y)$ be an ordinary smooth function. Let  $p \in [P]$ , and define  $f_{\varepsilon} := \varphi(p_{\varepsilon}, -) \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(X, Y)$ , then  $[f_{\varepsilon}(-)] : [X] \longrightarrow [Y]$  is a GSF. In particular, if  $f : [X] \longrightarrow [Y]$  is a GSF



FIGURE 4.2. A representation of  $\delta \circ \delta$ 

defined by  $(f_{\varepsilon})$  and the net  $(f_{\varepsilon})$  is smooth in  $\varepsilon$ , i.e. if

$$\exists \varphi \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}((0,1) \times X, Y) : f_{\varepsilon} = \varphi(\varepsilon, -) \quad \forall \varepsilon \in (0,1),$$

and if  $[\varepsilon] \in {}^{\rho} \mathbb{R}$ , then the GSF f is of Cauchy-Dirac type because  $f(x) = \varphi([\varepsilon], x)$  for all  $x \in [X]$ . Finally, Cauchy-Dirac GSF are closed with respect to composition.

*Proof.* In fact, the map  $x \in [X] \mapsto (p, x) \in [P] \times [X]$  is trivially generalized smooth and hence from the inclusion of smooth functions (Theorem 25) and the closure with respect to composition (Theorem 28) the conclusions follow.

**Example 30.** The composition  $\delta \circ \delta \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}({}^{\rho}\mathbb{R}, {}^{\rho}\mathbb{R})$  is given by  $(\delta \circ \delta)(x) = b\mu(b^{2}\mu(bx))$  and is an even function. If x is near-standard and  $x^{\circ} \neq 0$ , or x is infinite, then  $(\delta \circ \delta)(x) = b$ . Since  $(\delta \circ \delta)(0) = 0$ , by the intermediate value theorem (see Cor. 48 below), we have that  $\delta \circ \delta$  attains any value in the interval  $[0, b] \subseteq {}^{\rho}\mathbb{R}$ . If  $0 \leq x \leq \frac{1}{2b}$ , then (for a  $\mu$  as in Fig. 4) x is infinitesimal and  $(\delta \circ \delta)(x) = 0$  because  $\delta(x) \geq b\mu(\frac{1}{k})$  is an infinite number. If  $x = \frac{k}{b}$  for some  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ , then x is still infinitesimal but  $(\delta \circ \delta)(x) = b$  because  $\mu(bx) = 0$ . A representation of  $\delta \circ \delta$  is given in Fig. 4.2. Analogously, one can deal with  $H \circ \delta$  and  $\delta \circ H$ .

The theory of GSF originates from the theory of Colombeau quotient algebras. In this well-developed approach, strong analytic tools, including microlocal analysis, and an elaborate theory of pseudodifferential and Fourier integral operators have been developed over the past few years (cf. [15, 16, 84, 50, 54, 31, 32] and references therein). In these quotient algebras, each generalized function generates a unique GSF defined on a subset of  ${}^{(\varepsilon)}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ . On the other hand, Colombeau generalized functions are in general not closed with respect to composition because they cannot be defined on arbitrary domains  $X \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$ . We refer to [43] for details about the links between Colombeau algebras and GSF, and to [112, 113, 114] for a treatment of Colombeau algebras in the framework of nonstandard analysis.

#### 5. Differential calculus and the Fermat-Reyes theorem

In this section we show how the derivatives of a GSF can be calculated using a form of incremental ratio. The idea is to prove the Fermat-Reyes theorem for GSF (see [38, 40, 62]). Essentially, this theorem shows the existence and uniqueness of another GSF serving as incremental ratio. This is the first of a long list of results demonstrating the close similarities between ordinary smooth functions and GSF.

We recall that the *thickening* of an open set  $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  along  $v \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is  $th_v(\Omega) := \{(x,h) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \mid [x,x+hv]_{\mathbb{R}^n} \subseteq \Omega\}$ , and serves as a natural domain of a partial incremental ratio along v of any function defined on  $\Omega$ . In order to prove the Fermat-Reyes theorem, it is simpler to define what a thickening of  $U \subseteq {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$  along  $v \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$  is.

**Definition 31.** Let  $U \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$  and let  $v \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$ . Then we say that  $T \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{n+1}$  is a (sharp) thickening of U along v if

- (i)  $\forall x \in U : (x, 0) \in T$
- (ii) For all  $(x, h) \in T$  there exist  $a, b \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}_{>0}$ , with b < a, such that:
  - (a)  $|h \cdot v| < b$
  - (b)  $B_a(x) \subseteq U$
  - (c)  $B_a(x) \times B_b(0) \subseteq T$ .

Finally, we will say that T is a large thickening of U along v if the radii a, b in (ii) are real:  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ .

Remark 32.

- (i) Conditions (i) and (ii) imply that necessarily U is a sharply open set, whereas U is a large open set if T is a large thickening.
- (ii) Let  $(x,h) \in T$  and let the radii a, b be as in (ii). Then for all  $s \in [0,1]$  we have  $|x + shv x| \leq |hv| < b < a$ . Therefore  $[x, x + hv] \subseteq B_a(x) \subseteq U$ . This gives a connection with the classical definition of thickening and shows that if  $f: U \longrightarrow {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ , we can consider the difference f(x + hv) f(x).
- (iii) Condition (ii) of Def. 31 yields that T is a sharply open subset of  ${}^{\rho}\mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ ; it is a large open subset in case T is a large thickening.
- (iv) If T and  $\overline{T}$  are two (large) thickenings of U along v, then also  $T \cap \overline{T}$  is a (large) thickening of the same type. Finally, thickenings are also closed with respect to arbitrary non empty unions.

In the present setting, the Fermat-Reyes theorem is the following.

**Theorem 33.** Let  $U \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$  be a sharply open set, let  $v = [v_{\varepsilon}] \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$ , and let  $f \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(U, {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$  be a generalized smooth map generated by the net of smooth functions  $f_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\Omega_{\varepsilon}, \mathbb{R})$ . Then

(i) If S is a thickening of U along v such that  $S \subseteq \langle \operatorname{th}_{v_{\varepsilon}}(\Omega_{\varepsilon}) \rangle$ , then there exists a thickening  $T \subseteq S$  of U along v and a generalized smooth map  $r \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(T, {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$ , called the generalized incremental ratio of f along v, such that

 $f(x+hv) = f(x) + h \cdot r(x,h) \qquad \forall (x,h) \in T.$ 

Moreover  $r(x,0) = \left[\frac{\partial f_{\varepsilon}}{\partial v_{\varepsilon}}(x_{\varepsilon})\right]$  for every  $x \in U$ , and we can thus define  $\frac{\partial f}{\partial v}(x) := r(x,0)$ , so that  $\frac{\partial f}{\partial v} \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(U, {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}).$ 

(ii) Any two generalized incremental ratios of f coincide on the intersection of their domains.

If U is a large open set and S is a large thickening of U along v, then an analogous statement holds for a large thickening T of U along v.

Note that this result allows us to consider the partial derivative of f with respect to an arbitrary generalized vector  $v \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$  which can be, e.g., near-standard or infinite.

Before proving the theorem, it is essential to show that GSF are uniquely determined by invertible elements.

**Lemma 34.** Let  $U \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$  be an open set in the sharp topology, and let  $f \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(U,{}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^d)$  be a GSF. Then f(x) = 0 for every  $x \in U$  if and only if f(x) = 0 for all  $x \in U$  such that |x| is invertible.

Proof. Using Lem. 8, it is straightforward to prove that the group of invertible elements is dense in  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  with respect to the sharp topology. This implies that the set of points in U whose every coordinate is invertible is dense in U. Clearly for any such point y, |y| is invertible. Thus given any point  $x \in U$  there exists a sequence  $(x_k)$  in U converging to x in the sharp topology and such that  $|x_k|$  is invertible for each k. Since f is continuous with respect to the sharp topology (Thm. 17 (iii)), this yields  $0 = f(x_k) \to f(x)$ .

To show the existence of thickenings, we also need the following result

**Lemma 35.** Let  $(\Omega_{\varepsilon})$  be a net of open sets of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , and let  $v = [v_{\varepsilon}] \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$ . Then

- (i) if  $x \in \langle \Omega_{\varepsilon} \rangle$  then  $(x, 0) \in \langle \operatorname{th}_{v_{\varepsilon}}(\Omega_{\varepsilon}) \rangle$ .
- (*ii*) If  $(x,h) \in \langle \operatorname{th}_{v_{\varepsilon}}(\Omega_{\varepsilon}) \rangle$  then  $x + thv \in \langle \Omega_{\varepsilon} \rangle$  for all  $t \in [0,1]$ .
- (iii) If  $U \subseteq \langle \Omega_{\varepsilon} \rangle$  is sharply open, there exists a sharp thickening T of U along v such that  $T \subseteq \langle \operatorname{th}_{v_{\varepsilon}}(\Omega_{\varepsilon}) \rangle$ .

The same properties hold if we consider the strongly internal sets  $\langle \Omega_{\varepsilon} \rangle_{\rm F}$  and  $\langle \operatorname{th}_{v_{\varepsilon}}(\Omega_{\varepsilon}) \rangle_{\rm F}$ in the Fermat topology. In this case in (iii), U has to be supposed large open and the resulting thickening is large as well.

Proof. If  $x \in \langle \Omega_{\varepsilon} \rangle$ , then  $x_{\varepsilon} \in \Omega_{\varepsilon}$  for  $\varepsilon$  small, and we also have  $(x_{\varepsilon}, 0) \in \operatorname{th}_{v_{\varepsilon}}(\Omega_{\varepsilon})$ for the same  $\varepsilon$ . Now take  $(x'_{\varepsilon}, z_{\varepsilon}) \sim_{\rho} (x_{\varepsilon}, 0)$ , so that  $x = [x'_{\varepsilon}] \in \langle \Omega_{\varepsilon} \rangle$  and hence  $B_r(x) \subseteq \langle \Omega_{\varepsilon} \rangle$  for some  $r \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}_{>0}$  such that  $r_{\varepsilon} < d(x'_{\varepsilon}, \Omega_{\varepsilon}^{\varepsilon})$  for all  $\varepsilon \in I$  (see Thm. 10). The net  $(z_{\varepsilon}) \sim_{\rho} 0$ , so we also have  $|z_{\varepsilon}v_{\varepsilon}| < r_{\varepsilon}$  for  $\varepsilon$  small. Thus for  $\varepsilon$ sufficiently small we obtain both  $x'_{\varepsilon} \in \Omega_{\varepsilon}$  and  $|z_{\varepsilon}v_{\varepsilon}| < r_{\varepsilon}$ , so that for all  $s \in [0, 1]_{\mathbb{R}}$  we have that  $|x'_{\varepsilon} + sz_{\varepsilon}v_{\varepsilon} - x'_{\varepsilon}| \le |z_{\varepsilon}v_{\varepsilon}| < r_{\varepsilon} < d(x'_{\varepsilon}, \Omega_{\varepsilon}^{c})$ . Hence  $x'_{\varepsilon} + sz_{\varepsilon}v_{\varepsilon} \in \Omega_{\varepsilon}$ , i.e.  $(x'_{\varepsilon}, z_{\varepsilon}) \in \operatorname{th}_{v_{\varepsilon}}(\Omega_{\varepsilon})$  for  $\varepsilon$  sufficiently small. This shows that  $(x, 0) \in \langle \operatorname{th}_{v_{\varepsilon}}(\Omega_{\varepsilon}) \rangle$ , implying (i).

To prove (ii), assume that  $(x,h) \in \langle \operatorname{th}_{v_{\varepsilon}}(\Omega_{\varepsilon}) \rangle$  and  $t \in [0,1]$ . Therefore,  $0 \leq t_{\varepsilon} \leq 1$ for  $\varepsilon$  small and some representative  $(t_{\varepsilon})$  of t. Since  $(x_{\varepsilon},h_{\varepsilon}) \in_{\varepsilon} \operatorname{th}_{v_{\varepsilon}}(\Omega_{\varepsilon})$ , we have that  $x_{\varepsilon} + t_{\varepsilon}h_{\varepsilon}v_{\varepsilon} \in \Omega_{\varepsilon}$  for  $\varepsilon$  small. If we take another representative  $(y_{\varepsilon}) \sim_{\rho}$  $(x_{\varepsilon} + t_{\varepsilon}h_{\varepsilon}v_{\varepsilon})$ , then we can define  $x'_{\varepsilon} := y_{\varepsilon} - t_{\varepsilon}h_{\varepsilon}v_{\varepsilon}$  so that  $(x_{\varepsilon},h_{\varepsilon}) \sim_{\rho} (x'_{\varepsilon},h_{\varepsilon})$ . From  $(x_{\varepsilon},h_{\varepsilon}) \in_{\varepsilon} \operatorname{th}_{v_{\varepsilon}}(\Omega_{\varepsilon})$  we thus get that also  $(x'_{\varepsilon},h_{\varepsilon}) \in \operatorname{th}_{v_{\varepsilon}}(\Omega_{\varepsilon})$  for  $\varepsilon$  small. Therefore  $x'_{\varepsilon} + t_{\varepsilon}h_{\varepsilon}v_{\varepsilon} = y_{\varepsilon} \in \Omega_{\varepsilon}$  for  $\varepsilon$  small. This shows that  $x + thv \in \langle \Omega_{\varepsilon} \rangle$ .

Finally, in order to prove (iii), we assume that  $U \subseteq \langle \Omega_{\varepsilon} \rangle$  is a sharply open subset. For all  $x \in U \subseteq \langle \Omega_{\varepsilon} \rangle$ , we have  $(x, 0) \in \langle \operatorname{th}_{v_{\varepsilon}}(\Omega_{\varepsilon}) \rangle$  from (i), and hence Thm. 10 (iv) yields the existence of  $c_x \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}_{>0}$  such that  $B_{c_x}(x, 0) \subseteq \langle \operatorname{th}_{v_{\varepsilon}}(\Omega_{\varepsilon}) \rangle$ . Since U is a neighborhood of x, there exists  $a_x \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}_{>0}$ ,  $a_x < c_x$ , such that  $B_{a_x}(x) \subseteq U$ . Choose  $b_x \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}_{>0}$  such that  $b_x < c_x$ . Because  $v \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$  is  $\rho$ -moderate, we have  $|v| < d\rho^{-N}$  for some  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ . Take  $d_x \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}_{>0}$  such that  $d_x < b_x \cdot d\rho^N$  and define

$$T := \bigcup_{x \in U} B_{a_x}(x) \times B_{d_x}(0).$$

If  $|h| < d_x$ , then  $|h \cdot v| < |v| \cdot d_x < b_x$  and hence T is a sharp thickening of U along v. We finally note that  $(x',h) \in B_{a_x}(x) \times B_{d_x}(0)$  implies  $|(x',h) - (x,0)| \le |x' - x| + |h| < a_x + d_x < a_x + b_x < c_x$ , so that  $(x',h) \in B_{c_x}(x,0) \subseteq \langle \operatorname{th}_{v_{\varepsilon}}(\Omega_{\varepsilon}) \rangle$ . Therefore  $T \subseteq \langle \operatorname{th}_{v_{\varepsilon}}(\Omega_{\varepsilon}) \rangle$ .

Considering  $\sim_{\rm F}$  instead of  $\sim_{\rho}$  and radii in  $\mathbb{R}_{>0}$ , in the same way we can prove the analogous properties for strongly internal sets in the Fermat topology.

We can now prove the Fermat-Reyes theorem for GSF.

Proof of Theorem 33. Since U is sharply open, for any point  $x \in U$  we can find a ball  $B_{R_x}(x) \subseteq U$ ,  $R_x \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}_{>0}$ . Define  $a_x := \frac{R_x}{2}$  and  $b_x := \frac{a_x}{2}$ . Because  $v \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$ is  $\rho$ -moderate, we have  $|v| < d\rho^{-N}$  for some  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ . Take  $d_x \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}_{>0}$  such that  $d_x < b_x \cdot d\rho^N$  and set  $T := \bigcup_{x \in U} B_{a_x}(x) \times B_{d_x}(0)$ . Since for all  $x \in U$  the pair (x, 0) is an interior point of the given thickening S, we can assume to have chosen  $a_x$  and  $d_x$  so that  $T \subseteq S \subseteq \langle \operatorname{th}_{v_{\varepsilon}}(\Omega_{\varepsilon}) \rangle$ . In case U is large open, we can proceed as above to obtain  $a_x, d_x \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ , so that T would then be a large thickening.

Let us consider the net of smooth function  $r_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\operatorname{th}_{v_{\varepsilon}}(\Omega_{\varepsilon}))$  defined by  $r_{\varepsilon}(y,h) := \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\partial f_{\varepsilon}}{\partial v_{\varepsilon}}(y + thv_{\varepsilon}) dt$  for all  $\varepsilon \in I$ . We calculate the partial derivative  $\partial^{\alpha} r_{\varepsilon}(y_{\varepsilon}, h_{\varepsilon})$  for  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{n+1}$  and an arbitrary point  $(y,h) \in T$ . For simplicity, set  $\hat{\alpha} := (\alpha_{1}, \ldots, \alpha_{n})$ , and  $v_{\varepsilon} := (v_{1\varepsilon}, \ldots, v_{n\varepsilon}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$ .

$$\partial^{\alpha} r_{\varepsilon}(y_{\varepsilon}, h_{\varepsilon}) = \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\partial^{|\alpha|}}{\partial h^{\alpha_{n+1}} \partial y^{\hat{\alpha}}} \left[ \frac{\partial f_{\varepsilon}}{\partial v_{\varepsilon}} (y_{\varepsilon} + th_{\varepsilon} v_{\varepsilon}) \right] \mathrm{d}t$$
(5.1)

Applying the chain rule and the mean value theorem for integrals, (5.1) can be written as a sum of terms of the form  $\partial^{\beta} f(y_{\varepsilon} + t_{\varepsilon}h_{\varepsilon}v_{\varepsilon})v_{\varepsilon}^{\gamma}t_{\varepsilon}^{m}$ , for suitable multiindices  $\beta, \gamma$ , and  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ . Here,  $t_{\varepsilon} \in [0,1]_{\mathbb{R}}$  for all  $\varepsilon \in I$ . From  $(y,h) \in T$ , we get  $y \in B_{a_x}(x)$  and  $h \in B_{d_x}(0)$  for some  $x \in U$ . This gives  $|y + thv - x| \leq$  $|y - x| + |hv| < a_x + b_x < R_x$ , so that  $y + thv \in B_{R_x}(x) \subseteq U$ . From Def. 14 (ii) we hence have that  $(\partial^{\beta} f_{\varepsilon}(y_{\varepsilon} + t_{\varepsilon}h_{\varepsilon}v_{\varepsilon}))$  is  $\rho$ -moderate. Since moderateness is preserved by polynomials, and  $t_{\varepsilon} \in [0,1]_{\mathbb{R}}$  is moderate, from (5.1) we obtain that  $(\partial^{\alpha}r_{\varepsilon}(y_{\varepsilon},h_{\varepsilon}))$  is moderate. This proves that  $r := [r_{\varepsilon}(-,-)]|_{T} : T \longrightarrow {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  is a GSF. We have

$$h \cdot r(x,h) = \left[h_{\varepsilon} \cdot \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\partial f_{\varepsilon}}{\partial v_{\varepsilon}} (x_{\varepsilon} + th_{\varepsilon}v_{\varepsilon}) \,\mathrm{d}t\right]$$
$$= \left[\int_{0}^{h_{\varepsilon}} \frac{d}{ds} \left\{f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon} + sv_{\varepsilon})\right\} (s) \,\mathrm{d}s\right]$$
$$= \left[f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon} + h_{\varepsilon}v_{\varepsilon})\right] - \left[f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})\right] = f(x + hv) - f(x).$$

Of course  $r(x,0) = \left| \frac{\partial f_{\varepsilon}}{\partial v_{\varepsilon}}(x_{\varepsilon}) \right|$ , and this concludes the existence part.

To prove uniqueness, consider  $(x, h) \in T \cap \overline{T}$ , where T and  $\overline{T}$  are two thickenings (along v) of the incremental ratios r,  $\overline{r}$ . Define R(k) := r(x, k) and  $\overline{R}(k) := \overline{r}(x, k)$ for  $k \in B_b(0)$ , where  $(x, h) \in B_a(x) \times B_b(0) \subseteq T \cap \overline{T}$  by the definition of thickening. Since  $k \in B_b(0) \mapsto (x, k) \in T \cap \overline{T}$  is a GSF, both R and  $\overline{R}$  are still generalized smooth maps by the closure with respect to composition. Moreover

$$k \cdot R(k) = k \cdot r(x, k) = f(x + kv) - f(x), \tag{5.2}$$

and analogously  $k \cdot \bar{R}(k) = f(x+kv) - f(x) = k \cdot R(k)$ . Therefore  $R(k) = \bar{R}(k)$  for every  $k \in B_b(0)$  which is invertible, and Lemma 34 yields  $R = \bar{R}$ . Since  $h \in B_b(0)$ we get  $R(h) = r(x,h) = \bar{R}(h) = \bar{r}(x,h)$ .

We will use the notation  $\frac{\partial f}{\partial v}[-,-]_T \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(T,{}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$  (or simply  $\frac{\partial f}{\partial v}[-,-]$  in case the domain is clear from the context) for the generalized smooth incremental ratio of a function  $f \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(U,{}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$  defined on the thickening T, so as to distinguish it from the derivative  $\frac{\partial f}{\partial v} \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(U,{}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$ . Since any partial derivative of a GSF is still a GSF, higher order derivatives  $\frac{\partial^{\alpha} f}{\partial v^{\alpha}} \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(U,{}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$  are simply defined recursively.

As follows from Thm. 33 (i) and Thm. 25 (v), the concept of derivative defined using the Fermat-Reyes theorem is compatible with the classical derivative of Schwartz distributions via the embeddings  $\iota^b$  from Thm. 25. The following result follows from the analogous properties for the nets of smooth functions defining fand g.

**Theorem 36.** Let  $U \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$  be an open subset in the sharp topology, let  $v \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$ and  $f, g: U \longrightarrow {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  be generalized smooth maps. Then

 $\begin{array}{ll} (i) & \frac{\partial(f+g)}{\partial v} = \frac{\partial f}{\partial v} + \frac{\partial g}{\partial v} \\ (ii) & \frac{\partial(r\cdot f)}{\partial v} = r \cdot \frac{\partial f}{\partial v} \quad \forall r \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}} \\ (iii) & \frac{\partial(f\cdot g)}{\partial v} = \frac{\partial f}{\partial v} \cdot g + f \cdot \frac{\partial g}{\partial v} \\ (iv) & For \ each \ x \in U, \ the \ map \ df(x).v := \frac{\partial f}{\partial v}(x) \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}} \ is \ {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}} \ linear \ in \ v \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{n}. \end{array}$ 

Using the Fermat-Reyes theorem, it is also possible to give intrinsic proofs (i.e. without using nets of smooth functions that define a given GSF), as exemplified in the following

**Theorem 37.** Let  $U \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$  and  $V \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^d$  be open subsets in the sharp topology and  $g \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(V,U), f \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(U,{}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$  be generalized smooth maps. Then for all  $x \in V$  and all  $v \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^d$ 

$$\frac{\partial (f \circ g)}{\partial v}(x) = \mathrm{d}f(g(x)) \cdot \frac{\partial g}{\partial v}(x)$$
$$\mathrm{d}(f \circ g)(x) = \mathrm{d}f(g(x)) \circ \mathrm{d}g(x).$$

*Proof.* For h small (in the sharp topology), we can write

$$f\left[g(x+hv)\right] = f\left[g(x) + h\frac{\partial g}{\partial v}[x,h]\right].$$
(5.3)

Set  $u(x,h) := \frac{\partial g}{\partial v}[x,h] \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$ . Then (5.3) yields

$$f[g(x+hv)] = f(g(x)) + h \cdot \frac{\partial f}{\partial u(x,h)}[g(x),h].$$

Therefore, the uniqueness of the smooth incremental ratio of  $f \circ g$  in the direction v implies

$$\frac{\partial \left(f \circ g\right)}{\partial v}[x,h] = \frac{\partial f}{\partial u(x,h)} \left[g(x),h\right].$$

For h = 0, we get

$$\frac{\partial \left(f \circ g\right)}{\partial v}(x) = \frac{\partial f}{\partial u(x,0)}\left(g(x)\right) = \mathrm{d}f(g(x)).u(x,0) = \mathrm{d}f(g(x)).\frac{\partial g}{\partial v}(x),$$

which is our conclusion.

#### 6. INTEGRAL CALCULUS USING PRIMITIVES

In this section, we inquire existence and uniqueness of primitives F of a GSF  $f \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}([a, b], {}^{\rho}\mathbb{R})$  (see also [121] for an analogous approach). To this end, we shall have to introduce the derivative F'(x) at boundary points  $x \in [a, b]$ , i.e. such that x - a or b - x is not invertible. Let us note explicitly, in fact, that the Fermat-Reyes Theorem 33 is stated only for sharply open domains. We shall therefore require the following result.

**Lemma 38.** Let  $a, b \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  be such that a < b. Then the interior int([a,b]) in the sharp topology is dense in [a,b].

*Proof.* Take representatives of a, b and  $x \in [a, b]$  such that  $a_{\varepsilon} < b_{\varepsilon}$  and  $a_{\varepsilon} \leq x_{\varepsilon} \leq b_{\varepsilon}$  for  $\varepsilon$  small. Thm. 10 (ii) yields int  $([a, b]) = \langle (a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon}) \rangle$ . To prove the conclusion, it suffices to define

$$y_{k\varepsilon} := \begin{cases} x_{\varepsilon} & \text{if } a_{\varepsilon} + \rho_{\varepsilon}^{k} \le x_{\varepsilon} \le b_{\varepsilon} - \rho_{\varepsilon}^{k} \\ a_{\varepsilon} + \rho_{\varepsilon}^{k} & \text{if } x_{\varepsilon} < a_{\varepsilon} + \rho_{\varepsilon}^{k} \\ b_{\varepsilon} - \rho_{\varepsilon}^{k} & \text{if } x_{\varepsilon} > b_{\varepsilon} - \rho_{\varepsilon}^{k} \end{cases}$$

for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\varepsilon \in I$ . We have  $d(y_{k\varepsilon}, (a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon})^c) \geq \rho_{\varepsilon}^k$ , so that  $y_k \in \langle (a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon}) \rangle$ . Moreover,  $|y_{k\varepsilon} - x_{\varepsilon}| < \rho_{\varepsilon}^k$  for all  $\varepsilon$ , and from this the desired limit condition follows.

The following result shows that every GSF can have at most one primitive GSF up to an additive constant.

**Theorem 39.** Let  $X \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  and let  $f \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(X, {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$  be a generalized smooth function. Let  $a, b \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ , with a < b, such that  $(a, b) \subseteq X$ . If f'(x) = 0 for all  $x \in int(a, b)$ , then f is constant on (a, b). An analogous statement holds if we take any other type of interval (closed or half closed) instead of (a, b).

*Proof.* By Lemma 18, we can assume that f is defined by a net of smooth functions  $f_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$ . From the Fermat-Reyes Theorem 33, we know that  $f'(x) = [f'_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})]$  for every interior point  $x = [x_{\varepsilon}] \in X$ . For all  $x, y \in int(a, b) \subseteq X$ , we can write

$$f(x) - f(y) = [f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon}) - f_{\varepsilon}(y_{\varepsilon})] = \left[ (y_{\varepsilon} - x_{\varepsilon}) \cdot \int_{0}^{1} f_{\varepsilon}'(x_{\varepsilon} + s(y_{\varepsilon} - x_{\varepsilon})) \,\mathrm{d}s \right]$$
$$= (y - x) \cdot [f_{\varepsilon}'(x_{\varepsilon} + s_{\varepsilon}(y_{\varepsilon} - x_{\varepsilon}))] = (y - x) \cdot f'(x + s(y - x)), \quad (6.1)$$

where  $s_{\varepsilon} \in [0, 1]_{\mathbb{R}}$  is provided by the integral mean value theorem and  $s := [s_{\varepsilon}] \in [0, 1]$ . Since  $x, y \in int(a, b)$ , we have  $x + s(y - x) \in int(a, b)$  and hence f'(x + s(y - x)) = 0. Thereby, (6.1) yields f(x) = f(y) as claimed. For a different type of interval, it suffices to consider Lemma 38 and sharp continuity of GSF (Thm. 17).

Remark 40. From the Fermat-Reyes Thm. 33 and from Thm. 39, it follows that the function i(x) := 1 if  $x \approx 0$  and i(x) := 0 otherwise cannot be a GSF on any large neighborhood of x = 0. This example stems from the property that different standard real numbers can always be separated by infinitesimal balls.

At interior points  $x \in [a, b]$  in the sharp topology, the definition of derivative  $f^{(k)}(x)$  follows from the Fermat-Reyes Theorem 33. At boundary points, we have the following

**Theorem 41.** Let  $a, b \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  with a < b, and  $f \in {}^{\rho} \mathcal{GC}^{\infty}([a, b], {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$  be a generalized smooth function. Then for all  $x \in [a, b]$ , the following limit exists in the sharp topology

$$\lim_{\substack{y \to x\\\in \operatorname{int}([a,b])}} f^{(k)}(y) =: f^{(k)}(x)$$

Moreover, if the net  $f_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\Omega_{\varepsilon}, \mathbb{R})$  defines f and  $x = [x_{\varepsilon}]$ , then  $f^{(k)}(x) = [f_{\varepsilon}^{(k)}(x_{\varepsilon})]$  and hence  $f^{(k)} \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\mathcal{C}^{\infty}([a,b], {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}).$ 

Proof. We have

y

$$\lim_{\substack{y \to x\\ \in \operatorname{int}([a,b])}} f^{(k)}(y) = \lim_{\substack{y \to x\\ y \in \operatorname{int}([a,b])}} \left[ f^{(k)}_{\varepsilon}(y_{\varepsilon}) \right] = [f^{(k)}_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})],$$

where the last equality follows due to the sharp continuity of  $[f_{\varepsilon}^{(k)}(-)]$  at every point  $x \in [a, b] \subseteq \langle \Omega_{\varepsilon} \rangle$  (Thm. 17 (iii) and Lem. 38).

We can now prove existence and uniqueness of primitives of GSF:

**Theorem 42.** Let  $a, b, c \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ , with a < b and  $c \in [a, b]$ . Let  $f \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}([a, b], {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$ be a generalized smooth function. Then, there exists one and only one generalized smooth function  $F \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}([a, b], {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$  such that F(c) = 0 and F'(x) = f(x) for all  $x \in [a, b]$ . Moreover, if f is defined by the net  $f_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$  and  $c = [c_{\varepsilon}]$ , then  $F(x) = \left[\int_{c_{\varepsilon}}^{x_{\varepsilon}} f_{\varepsilon}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s\right]$  for all  $x = [x_{\varepsilon}] \in [a, b]$ .

*Proof.* Fix representatives  $(a_{\varepsilon})$ ,  $(b_{\varepsilon})$  and  $(c_{\varepsilon})$  of a, b, c such that

$$a_{\varepsilon} \le c_{\varepsilon} \le b_{\varepsilon} \tag{6.2}$$

for  $\varepsilon$  small. By Lemma 18, we can assume that f is generated by a net  $f_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{R})$ . Set

$$F_{\varepsilon}(x) := \int_{c_{\varepsilon}}^{x} f_{\varepsilon}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \quad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(6.3)

We want to prove that the net  $(F_{\varepsilon})$  defines a GSF of type  $[a, b] \longrightarrow {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ , and therefore we take  $x \in [a, b]$  and  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}$ . Choose a representative  $(x_{\varepsilon})$  of x such that

$$a_{\varepsilon} \le x_{\varepsilon} \le b_{\varepsilon} \tag{6.4}$$

for  $\varepsilon$  small. If  $\alpha > 0$ , then  $F_{\varepsilon}^{(\alpha)}(x_{\varepsilon}) = f_{\varepsilon}^{(\alpha-1)}(x_{\varepsilon})$  and hence moderateness is clear since  $x \in [a, b]$ . For  $\alpha = 0$  we have  $F_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon}) = f_{\varepsilon}(\sigma_{\varepsilon}) \cdot (x_{\varepsilon} - c_{\varepsilon})$ , where

$$\sigma_{\varepsilon} \in [c_{\varepsilon}, x_{\varepsilon}] \cup [x_{\varepsilon}, c_{\varepsilon}] \quad \forall \varepsilon \in I$$
(6.5)

is obtained by the integral mean value theorem. For  $\varepsilon$  small, we have both (6.2) and (6.4), so that these inequalities and (6.5) yield  $\sigma \in [a, b] \subseteq U$ . Therefore  $(f_{\varepsilon}(\sigma_{\varepsilon}))$  and  $(F_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon}))$  are moderate. This proves condition Def. 14 (ii) for the net  $(F_{\varepsilon})$ , and

we can hence set  $F(x) := [F_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})] \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  for all  $x = [x_{\varepsilon}] \in [a, b]$ . If  $y \in int([a, b])$ , we can apply our differential calculus to the generalized smooth map  $F|_{int([a,b])} = [F_{\varepsilon}(-)]|_{int([a,b])}$ , obtaining  $F'(y) = [f_{\varepsilon}(y_{\varepsilon})] = f(y)$ . From this, if  $x \in [a, b]$ , we get

$$F'(x) = \lim_{\substack{y \to x \\ y \in \operatorname{int}([a,b])}} F'(y) = \lim_{\substack{y \to x \\ y \in \operatorname{int}([a,b])}} f(y) = f(x)$$

because f is sharply continuous at  $x \in [a, b] \subseteq U$ . The uniqueness part follows from Theorem 39.

**Definition 43.** Under the assumptions of Theorem 42, we denote by  $\int_{c}^{(-)} f :=$  $\int_{c}^{(-)} f(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \in {}^{\rho} \mathcal{GC}^{\infty}([a,b],{}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}) \text{ the unique generalized smooth function such that:}$ (i)  $\int_{c}^{c} f = 0$ 

(ii)  $\left(\int_{c}^{(-)} f\right)'(x) = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}x} \int_{c}^{x} f(s) \,\mathrm{d}s = f(x) \text{ for all } x \in [a, b].$ 

In Sec. 8, we develop a generalization of this concept of integration to GSF in several variables and to more general domains of integration  $M \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{d}$ . Example 44.

Since  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  contains both infinitesimal and infinite numbers, our notion of def-(i) inite integral also includes "improper integrals". Let e.g.  $f(x) = \frac{1}{x}$  for  $x \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}_{>0}$  and  $a = 1, b = d\rho^{-q}, q > 0$ . Then

$$\int_{a}^{b} f(s) \,\mathrm{d}s = \left[\int_{1}^{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{-q}} \frac{1}{s} \,\mathrm{d}s\right] = \left[\log \rho_{\varepsilon}^{-q}\right] - \log 1 = -q \log \mathrm{d}\rho,\tag{6.6}$$

which is, of course, a positive infinite generalized number. This apparently trivial result is closely tied to the possibility to define GSF on arbitrary domains, like  $F \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}([a, b], {}^{\rho}\mathbb{R})$  in Thm. 42 where b is an infinite number as in (6.6), which is one of the key properties allowing one to get the closure with respect to composition.

If  $p, q \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}, p < 0 < q$  and both p and q are not infinitesimal, then  $\int_{p}^{q} \delta(t) dt \approx 1$ . 1. If  $p \leq -r$  and  $q \geq s$  where  $r, s \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ , then  $\int_{p}^{q} \delta(t) dt = 1$ . (ii)

**Theorem 45.** Let  $f \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(X, {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$  and  $g \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(Y, {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$  be generalized smooth functions defined on arbitrary domains in  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ . Let  $a, b \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  with a < b and  $[a, b] \subseteq$  $X \cap Y$ . Then

$$(i) \qquad \int_{a}^{b} (f+g) = \int_{a}^{b} f + \int_{a}^{b} g$$

$$(ii) \qquad \int_{a}^{b} \lambda f = \lambda \int_{a}^{b} f \quad \forall \lambda \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$$

$$(iii) \qquad \int_{a}^{b} f = \int_{a}^{c} f + \int_{c}^{b} f \text{ for all } c \in [a, b]$$

$$(iv) \qquad \int_{a}^{b} f = -\int_{b}^{a} f$$

$$(v) \qquad \int_{a}^{b} f' = f(b) - f(a)$$

$$(v) \qquad \int_{a}^{b} f' = f(b) - f(a)$$

- $\begin{array}{ll} (vi) & \int_a^b f' \cdot g = [f \cdot g]_a^b \int_a^b f \cdot g' \\ (vii) & If \ f(x) \le g(x) \ for \ all \ x \in [a,b], \ then \ \int_a^b f \le \int_a^b g. \end{array}$

*Proof.* This follows directly from (6.3) and the usual rules of the integral calculus, or from Def. 43 and Thm. 33 for property (vii).  **Theorem 46.** Let  $f \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(T, {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$  and  $\varphi \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(S,T)$  be generalized smooth functions defined on arbitrary domains in  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ . Let  $a, b \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ , with a < b, such that  $[a,b] \subseteq S, \varphi(a) < \varphi(b)$  and  $[\varphi(a),\varphi(b)] \subseteq T$ . Finally, assume that  $\varphi([a,b]) \subseteq [\varphi(a),\varphi(b)]$ . Then

$$\int_{\varphi(a)}^{\varphi(b)} f(t) \, \mathrm{d}t = \int_{a}^{b} f[\varphi(s)] \cdot \varphi'(s) \, \mathrm{d}s$$

Proof. Define

$$F(x) := \int_{\varphi(a)}^{x} f(t) dt \quad \forall x \in [\varphi(a), \varphi(b)]$$
$$H(y) := \int_{\varphi(a)}^{\varphi(y)} f(t) dt \quad \forall y \in [a, b]$$
$$G(y) := \int_{a}^{y} f[\varphi(s)] \cdot \varphi'(s) ds \quad \forall y \in [a, b]$$

Each one of these functions is generalized smooth by Def. 43 of the integral or by Thm. 28, because it can be written as a composition of generalized smooth maps. We have H(a) = G(a) = 0,  $H(y) = F[\varphi(y)]$  for every  $y \in [a, b]$  and, by the chain rule (Prop. 37)  $H'(y) = F'[\varphi(y)] \cdot \varphi'(y) = f[\varphi(y)] \cdot \varphi'(y) = G'(y)$ , the last two equalities following by Def. 43 of the integral. From the uniqueness Theorem 39, the conclusion H = G follows.

Remark 47. (Relation to distributional primitives) Let  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ , a < b, and set  $\Omega = (a, b) \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ . By [105, Ch. II, §4] there exists a sequentially continuous operator  $R : \mathcal{D}'(\Omega) \to \mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$  assigning to any  $T \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$  a primitive R(T), i.e., R(T)' = T in  $\mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$ . Now let  $\iota := \iota_{\Omega}^{b} : \mathcal{D}'(\Omega) \to {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(c(\Omega), {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$  be an embedding as in Theorem 25, and fix any  $c \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  with  $a \leq c \leq b$ . Then

$$\iota(R(T))' = \iota(R(T)') = \iota(T) = \left(\int_{c}^{(-)} \iota(T)\right)'.$$

Therefore, Theorem 45(v) implies that

$$\int_{r}^{s} \iota(T) = \iota(R(T))(s) - \iota(R(T))(r)$$

for all  $s, t \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  with  $a \leq s, t \leq b$ .

#### 7. Some classical theorems for generalized smooth functions

It is natural to expect that several classical theorems of differential and integral calculus can be extended from the ordinary smooth case to the generalized smooth framework. Once again, we underscore that these faithful generalizations are possible because we do not have a priori limitations in the evaluation f(x) for GSF. For example, one does not have similar results in Colombeau theory, where an arbitrary generalized function can be evaluated only at compactly supported points. We start from the intermediate value theorem.

**Corollary 48.** Let  $f \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(X, {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$  be a generalized smooth function defined on the subset  $X \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ . Let  $a, b \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ , with a < b, such that  $[a,b] \subseteq X$ . Assume that f(a) < f(b). Then

$$\forall y \in {}^{\rho}\mathbb{R}: \ f(a) \le y \le f(b) \ \Rightarrow \ \exists c \in [a,b]: \ y = f(c).$$

*Proof.* Let f be defined by the net  $f_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{R})$ . For small  $\varepsilon$  and for suitable representatives  $(a_{\varepsilon}), (b_{\varepsilon}), (y_{\varepsilon})$ , we have

$$a_{\varepsilon} < b_{\varepsilon} \quad , \quad f_{\varepsilon}(a_{\varepsilon}) \le y_{\varepsilon} \le f_{\varepsilon}(b_{\varepsilon}).$$

By the classical intermediate value theorem we get some  $c_{\varepsilon} \in [a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon}]$  such that  $f_{\varepsilon}(c_{\varepsilon}) = y_{\varepsilon}$ . Therefore  $c := [c_{\varepsilon}] \in [a, b] \subseteq X$  and hence  $f(c) = [f_{\varepsilon}(c_{\varepsilon})] = [y_{\varepsilon}] =$  $\square$ y.

Using this theorem we can conclude that no GSF can assume only a finite number of values which are comparable with respect to the relation < on any nontrivial interval  $[a, b] \subseteq X$ , unless it is constant. For example, this provides an alternative way of seeing that the function i of Rem. 40 cannot be a generalized smooth map. We note that the solution  $c \in [a, b]$  of the previous generalized smooth equation y = f(x) need not even be continuous in  $\varepsilon$ . Indeed, let us consider the net of smooth functions depicted in Figure 7.1, where it is understood that, as  $\varepsilon$  approaches 0, the two waves at the extremes oscillate around the dashed rectilinear positions shown in the figure. Set  $f(x) = \left[\int_0^1 f_{\varepsilon}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s - f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})\right] \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  for  $x \in [0,1] \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ , and analyze the generalized smooth equation f(x) = 0. Let  $\varepsilon_k = \frac{1}{k}$  be the "times" where the two waves of the net  $(f_{\varepsilon})$  are rectilinear. At these times the solution  $f(x_{\varepsilon_k}) = 0$ can be any point  $x_{\varepsilon_k} \in [b,c]$ . Assume that for  $\varepsilon \in \left[\frac{1}{k}, \frac{1}{k} + \delta_k\right]$  only the wave on the left is rectilinear and for  $\varepsilon \in \left[\frac{1}{k} - \delta_k, \frac{1}{k}\right]$  only the wave on the right is rectilinear (where  $\delta_k \downarrow 0$  is sufficiently small). Therefore, in the first case, any solution must be of the form  $x_{\varepsilon} \in [c, 1]$  and in the second case  $x_{\varepsilon} \in [0, b]$ . Thus any solution must jump at every time  $\varepsilon_k$  and the height of the jump must be at least c-b.

This example allows us to draw the following general conclusion: if we consider generalized numbers as solutions of smooth equations, then we are forced to work on a non-totally ordered ring of scalars derived from discontinuous (in  $\varepsilon$ ) representatives. To put it differently: if we choose a ring of scalars with a total order or continuous representatives, we will not be able to solve every smooth equation, and the given ring can be considered, in some sense, incomplete. Of course, this does not mean that the study of better behaved (non-totally ordered) subrings of  ${}^{\rho}\mathbb{R}$ . useful for special purposes, is not interesting.

**Theorem 49.** Let  $f \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(X, {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^d)$  be a generalized smooth function defined in the sharply open set  $X \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$ . Let  $a, b \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$  such that  $[a, b] \subseteq X$ . Then

- (i) If n = d = 1, then  $\exists c \in [a,b] : f(b) f(a) = (b-a) \cdot f'(c)$ . (ii) If n = d = 1, then  $\exists c \in [a,b] : \int_a^b f(t) \, dt = (b-a) \cdot f(c)$ . (iii) If d = 1, then  $\exists c \in [a,b] : f(b) f(a) = \nabla f(c) \cdot (b-a)$ . (iv) Let h := b a. Then  $f(a+h) f(a) = \int_0^1 df(a+t \cdot h) \cdot h \, dt$ .

*Proof.* Using the usual notations, for small  $\varepsilon$  we have  $a_{\varepsilon} < b_{\varepsilon}$  and

$$\exists c_{\varepsilon} \in [a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon}] : f_{\varepsilon}(b_{\varepsilon}) - f_{\varepsilon}(a_{\varepsilon}) = (b_{\varepsilon} - a_{\varepsilon}) \cdot f_{\varepsilon}'(c_{\varepsilon})$$

$$c_{\varepsilon}b_{\varepsilon}$$

$$(7.1)$$

$$\exists c_{\varepsilon} \in [a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon}] : \int_{a_{\varepsilon}}^{b_{\varepsilon}} f_{\varepsilon} = (b_{\varepsilon} - a_{\varepsilon}) \cdot f_{\varepsilon}(c_{\varepsilon}), \qquad (7.2)$$

from which the conclusions (i) and (ii) follow directly. The several variables and vector valued cases (iii), (iv) follow as usual by reduction to the one-variable and scalar valued case. 



FIGURE 7.1. A net  $(f_{\varepsilon})$  defining a discontinuous solution of a smooth equation.

Internal sets generated by a sharply bounded net of compact sets serve as a substitute for compact subsets for GSF, as can be seen from the following extreme value theorem:

**Lemma 50.** Let  $\emptyset \neq K = [K_{\varepsilon}] \subseteq {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{n}$  be an internal set generated by a sharply bounded net  $(K_{\varepsilon})$  of compact sets  $K_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$  Assume that  $\alpha : K \longrightarrow {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  is a welldefined map given by  $\alpha(x) = [\alpha_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})]$  for all  $x \in K$ , where  $\alpha_{\varepsilon} : K_{\varepsilon} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  are continuous maps (e.g.  $\alpha(x) = |x|$ ). Then

$$\exists m, M \in K \,\forall x \in K : \ \alpha(m) \le \alpha(x) \le \alpha(M).$$

*Proof.* Since  $K \neq \emptyset$ , for  $\varepsilon$  sufficiently small, let us say for  $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0]$ ,  $K_{\varepsilon}$  is non empty and, by our assumptions, it is also compact. Since each  $\alpha_{\varepsilon}$  is continuous, for all  $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0]$  we have

$$\exists m_{\varepsilon}, M_{\varepsilon} \in K_{\varepsilon} \, \forall x \in K_{\varepsilon} : \, \alpha_{\varepsilon}(m_{\varepsilon}) \leq \alpha_{\varepsilon}(x) \leq \alpha_{\varepsilon}(M_{\varepsilon}).$$

Since the net  $(K_{\varepsilon})$  is sharply bounded, both the nets  $(m_{\varepsilon})$  and  $(M_{\varepsilon})$  are moderate. Therefore  $m = [m_{\varepsilon}], M = [M_{\varepsilon}] \in K$ . Take any  $x \in [K_{\varepsilon}]$ , then there exists a representative  $(x_{\varepsilon})$  such that  $x_{\varepsilon} \in K_{\varepsilon}$  for  $\varepsilon$  small. Therefore  $\alpha(m) = [\alpha_{\varepsilon}(m_{\varepsilon})] \leq [\alpha_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})] = \alpha(x) \leq \alpha(M)$ .

**Corollary 51.** Let  $f \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(X, {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$  be a generalized smooth function defined in the subset  $X \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{n}$ . Let  $\emptyset \neq K = [K_{\varepsilon}] \subseteq X$  be an internal set generated by a sharply bounded net  $(K_{\varepsilon})$  of compact sets  $K_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$ . Then

$$\exists m, M \in K \,\forall x \in K : \ f(m) \le f(x) \le f(M).$$

$$(7.3)$$

These results motivate the following

**Definition 52.** A subset K of  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{n}$  is called *functionally compact*, denoted by  $K \Subset_{\mathbf{f}} {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{n}$ , if there exists a net  $(K_{\varepsilon})$  such that

- (i)  $K = [K_{\varepsilon}] \subseteq {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$
- (ii)  $(K_{\varepsilon})$  is sharply bounded
- (iii)  $\forall \varepsilon \in I : K_{\varepsilon} \Subset \mathbb{R}^n$

If, in addition,  $K \subseteq U \subseteq {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$  then we write  $K \Subset_{\mathrm{f}} U$ . Finally, we write  $[K_{\varepsilon}] \Subset_{\mathrm{f}} U$  if (ii), (iii) and  $[K_{\varepsilon}] \subseteq U$  hold.

We refer to [41] for a deeper study of this type of compact sets in the case  $\rho = (\varepsilon)$ . Note that any interval  $[a, b] \subseteq {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  with  $b - a \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ , is *not* connected: in fact if  $c \in (a, b)$ , then both  $c + D_{\infty}$  and  $[a, b] \setminus (c + D_{\infty})$  are sharply open in [a, b]. Once again, this is a general property in several non-Archimedean frameworks (see e.g. [93, 62]). On the other hand, as in the case of functionally compact sets, GSF behave on intervals as if they were connected, in the sense that both the intermediate value theorem Cor. 48 and the extreme value theorem Cor. 51 hold for them (therefore, f([a, b]) = [f(m), f(M)], where we used the notations from the results just mentioned).

We close this section with generalizations of Taylor's theorem in various forms. In the following statement,  $d^k f(x) : {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{dk} \longrightarrow {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  is the k-th differential of the GSF f, viewed as an  ${}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ -multilinear map  ${}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{d} \times \ldots \times {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{d} \longrightarrow {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ , and we use the common notation  $d^k f(x) \cdot h^k := d^k f(x)(h, \ldots, h)$ . Clearly,  $d^k f(x) \in {}^{\rho} \mathcal{GC}^{\infty}({}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{dk}, {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$ . For multilinear maps  $A : {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^p \longrightarrow {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^q$ , we set  $|A| := [|A_{\varepsilon}|] \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ , the generalized number defined by the norms of the operators  $A_{\varepsilon} : \mathbb{R}^p \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^q$ .

**Theorem 53.** Let  $f \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(U, {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$  be a generalized smooth function defined in the sharply open set  $U \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^d$ . Let  $a, b \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^d$  such that the line segment  $[a, b] \subseteq U$ , and set h := b - a. Then, for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  we have

(i)  $\exists \xi \in [a,b]: f(a+h) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{j} f(a)}{j!} \cdot h^{j} + \frac{\mathrm{d}^{n+1} f(\xi)}{(n+1)!} \cdot h^{n+1}.$ 

(*ii*) 
$$f(a+h) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{j} f(a)}{j!} \cdot h^{j} + \frac{1}{n!} \cdot \int_{0}^{1} (1-t)^{n} \mathrm{d}^{n+1} f(a+th) \cdot h^{n+1} \mathrm{d}t.$$

Moreover, there exists some  $R \in {}^{\rho}\mathbb{R}_{>0}$  such that

$$\forall k \in B_R(0) \,\exists \xi \in [a, a+k]: \ f(a+k) = \sum_{j=0}^n \frac{\mathrm{d}^j f(a)}{j!} \cdot k^j + \frac{\mathrm{d}^{n+1} f(\xi)}{(n+1)!} \cdot k^{n+1} \quad (7.4)$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^{n+1}f(\xi)}{(n+1)!} \cdot k^{n+1} = \frac{1}{n!} \cdot \int_0^1 (1-t)^n \,\mathrm{d}^{n+1}f(a+tk) \cdot k^{n+1} \,\mathrm{d}t \approx 0.$$
(7.5)

Formulas (i) and (ii) correspond to a plain generalization of Taylor's theorem for ordinary smooth functions with Lagrange and integral remainder, respectively. Dealing with generalized functions, it is important to note that this direct statement also includes the possibility that the differential  $d^{n+1}f(\xi)$  may be infinite at some point. For this reason, in (7.4) and (7.5), considering a sufficiently small increment k, we get more classical infinitesimal remainders  $d^{n+1}f(\xi) \cdot k^{n+1} \approx 0$ .

*Proof.* Let  $f_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R})$  be a net of smooth functions that defines f. We have  $a + h = b \in [a, b] \subseteq U$  and U is sharply open, so by the Taylor formula applied to  $f_{\varepsilon}$  and by Theorem 33 we have

$$f(a+h) = [f_{\varepsilon}(a_{\varepsilon}+h_{\varepsilon})]$$

$$= \left[\sum_{j=0}^{n} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{j} f_{\varepsilon}(a_{\varepsilon})}{j!} h_{\varepsilon}^{j} + \frac{\mathrm{d}^{n+1} f_{\varepsilon}(\xi_{\varepsilon})}{(n+1)!} h_{\varepsilon}^{n+1}\right]$$

$$= \sum_{j=0}^{n} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{j} f(a)}{j!} h^{j} + \frac{\mathrm{d}^{n+1} f(\xi)}{(n+1)!} h^{n+1}$$

for some  $\xi_{\varepsilon} \in (a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon})$ , and where  $\xi = [\xi_{\varepsilon}] \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  so that  $\xi \in [a, b]$ . Analogously, we can prove (ii).

To prove the second part of the theorem, we start by considering a sharp ball  $B_r(a) \subseteq U$ , where  $r = [r_{\varepsilon}] > 0$ . Set  $H := \left[\overline{B_{r_{\varepsilon}/2}^{E}(a_{\varepsilon})}\right]$ , and

$$K:= \max\left(\left|\mathrm{d}^{n+1}f(M)\right|, \left|\mathrm{d}^{n+1}f(m)\right|\right) \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}},$$

where  $d^{n+1}f(M)$  and  $d^{n+1}f(m)$  are the maximum and the minimum values of the GSF  $d^{n+1}f : U \times {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{d(n+1)} \longrightarrow {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  on  $H \subseteq U$ , see Cor. 51. We hence have  $|d^{n+1}f(\xi)| \leq K$  for all  $\xi \in H$ . Take any strictly positive number  $P \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}_{>0}$  such that  $P \geq K$  and any strictly positive infinitesimal  $p \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}_{>0}$  so that  $\frac{p}{P} \approx 0$  and hence  $\left(\frac{p}{P}\right)^{n+1} \leq \frac{p}{P}$ . Set  $R := \min\left(\frac{r}{2}, \frac{p}{P}\right)$ , then  $R \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}_{>0}$  since both r and  $\frac{p}{P}$  are invertible. If  $k \in B_R(0)$  then  $[a, a+k] \subseteq H \subseteq U$ . We can therefore apply (i) to get (7.4). Finally

$$\left|\frac{\mathbf{d}^{n+1}f(\xi)}{(n+1)!}k^{n+1}\right| \le \frac{K}{(n+1)!}R^{n+1} \le \frac{P}{(n+1)!} \cdot \left(\frac{p}{P}\right)^{n+1} \le \frac{P}{(n+1)!} \cdot \frac{p}{P} \approx 0.$$

The following definitions allow us to state Taylor formulas in Peano and in infinitesimal form. The latter has no remainder term thanks to the use of an equivalence relation that permits the introduction of a language of nilpotent infinitesimals, see e.g. [35] for a similar formulation. For simplicity, we only present the 1-dimensional case.

**Definition 54.** (i) Let  $U \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  be a sharp neighborhood of 0 and  $P, Q: U \longrightarrow {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  be maps defined on U. Then we say that

$$P(u) = o(Q(u))$$
 as  $u \to 0$ 

if there exists a function  $R: U \longrightarrow {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  such that

$$\forall u \in U: \ P(u) = R(u) \cdot Q(u) \quad \text{and} \quad \lim_{u \to 0} R(u) = 0,$$

where the limit is taken in the sharp topology.

(ii) Let  $x, y \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  and  $k, j \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ , then we write  $x =_j y$  if there exist representatives  $(x_{\varepsilon}), (y_{\varepsilon})$  of x, y, respectively, such that

$$x_{\varepsilon} - y_{\varepsilon}| = O(\rho_{\varepsilon}^{\frac{1}{j}}).$$
(7.6)

We will read  $x =_j y$  as x is equal to y up to j-th order infinitesimals. Finally, if  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ , we set  $D_{kj} := \left\{ x \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}} \mid x^{k+1} =_j 0 \right\}$ , which is called the set of k-th order infinitesimals for the equality  $=_j$ , and

$$D_{\infty j} := \left\{ x \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}} \mid \exists k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0} : x^{k+1} =_{j} 0 \right\}$$

which is called the set of infinitesimals for the equality  $=_j$ .

Of course, the reformulation of Def. 54 (i) for the classical Landau's little-oh is particularly suited to the case of a ring like  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ , instead of a field. The intuitive interpretation of  $x =_j y$  is that for particular (e.g. physics-related) problems one is not interested in distinguishing quantities whose difference |x - y| is less than an infinitesimal of order j. In fact, if  $x =_j y$  we can write  $x_{\varepsilon} = y_{\varepsilon} + r_{\varepsilon}$  with  $r_{\varepsilon} \to 0$  of

order at most  $\rho_{\varepsilon}^{\frac{1}{j}}$ . The idea behind taking  $\frac{1}{j}$  in (7.6) is to obtain the property that the greater the order j of the infinitesimal error, the greater the difference |x - y|is allowed to be. This is a typical property in rings with nilpotent infinitesimals (see e.g. [35, 62]). The set  $D_{ki}$  represents the neighborhood of infinitesimals of k-th order for the equality  $=_j$ . Once again, the greater the order k, the bigger is the neighborhood (see Theorem 55 (viii) below). Note that if  $x =_j y$ , then  $x_{\varepsilon} = y_{\varepsilon} + o\left(\rho_{\varepsilon}^{\frac{1}{j}-a}\right)$  for all  $a \in (0, 1/j]_{\mathbb{R}}$ . In particular,  $x_{\varepsilon} = y_{\varepsilon} + o\left(\rho_{\varepsilon}\right)$  implies x = y, whereas x = y yields only  $x_{\varepsilon} = y_{\varepsilon} + o(\rho_{\varepsilon}^{1-a})$  for all  $a \in (0,1]_{\mathbb{R}}$ . On the other hand, it is not hard to prove the embedding  ${}^{\bullet}\mathbb{R} \subseteq {}^{\rho}\mathbb{R}/=_{i}$  of the ring of Fermat reals  $\ \mathbb{R}$  of [35] for all j < 1.

**Theorem 55.** Let  $f \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(U, {}^{\rho}\mathbb{R})$  be a generalized smooth function defined in the sharply open set  $U \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ . Let  $x, \delta \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ , with  $\delta > 0$  and  $[x - \delta, x + \delta] \subseteq U$ . Let k, l,  $j \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ . Then

- (i)
- $\forall n \in \mathbb{N} : f(x+u) = \sum_{r=0}^{n} \frac{f^{(r)}(x)}{r!} u^r + o(u^n) \text{ as } u \to 0.$ The definition of  $x =_j y$  does not depend on the representatives of x, y. (ii)
- (iii)  $=_i$  is an equivalence relation on  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ .
- (iv) If  $x =_j y$  and  $l \ge j$ , then  $x =_l y$ . Therefore,  $D_{nj} \subseteq D_{nl}$ .
- If  $\forall^0 j \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ :  $x =_j y$ , then x = y. (v)
- (vi) If  $x =_i y$  and  $z =_i w$  then  $x + z =_i y + w$ . If x and z are finite, then  $x \cdot z =_i y \cdot w.$
- (vii)  $\forall h \in D_{kj} : h \approx 0.$
- (viii)  $D_{mj} \subseteq D_{kj} \subseteq D_{\infty j}$  if  $m \le k$ .
- (ix)  $D_{kj}$  is a subring of  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ . For all  $h \in D_{kj}$  and all finite  $x \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ , we have  $x \cdot h \in D_{kj}$ .
- Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  and assume that j, k and f satisfy (x)

$$\forall z \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}} \, \forall \xi \in [x - \delta, x + \delta] : \ z =_j 0 \ \Rightarrow \ z \cdot f^{(n+1)}(\xi) =_k 0.$$

$$(7.7)$$

Then, we have

$$\forall u \in D_{nj}: f(x+u) =_k \sum_{r=0}^n \frac{f^{(r)}(x)}{r!} u^r.$$

(xi) For all  $n \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  there exist  $e \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$  such that  $e \leq j$ , and  $\forall u \in D_{ne}$ :  $f(x+u) = \sum_{r=0}^{n} \frac{f^{(r)}(x)}{r!} u^{r}.$ 

*Proof.* In order to prove (i) we set  $P(u) = f(x+u) - \sum_{r=0}^{n} \frac{f^{(r)}(x)}{r!} u^r$ ,  $Q(u) = u^n$ and  $R(u) = u \cdot \int_0^1 \frac{f^{(n+1)}(x+tu)}{n!} (1-t)^n dt$  for  $u \in B_{\delta}(0)$ . The segment  $[x-u, x+u] \subseteq B_{\delta}(x) \subseteq U$ , so Thm. 53 (ii) yields  $P(u) = Q(u) \cdot R(u)$  for all  $u \in U_x$ . As in the previous proof, set

$$K := \max\left(\left|f^{(n+1)}(M)\right|, \left|f^{(n+1)}(m)\right|\right)$$

so that  $|f^{(n+1)}(\xi)| \leq K$  for all  $\xi \in [x - \delta, x + \delta]$ , then

$$|R(u)| \le |u| \cdot \left| \int_0^1 \frac{f^{(n+1)}(x+tu)}{n!} (1-t)^n \, \mathrm{d}t \right| \le |u| \cdot \frac{K}{(n+1)!}$$

which goes to 0 as  $u \to 0$  in the sharp topology.

The proofs of (ii)-(ix) are simple. We only prove that  $D_{kj}$  is closed with respect to sums. Let  $x, y \in D_{kj}$  so that

$$\left|\frac{x_{\varepsilon}^{k+1}}{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{\frac{1}{j}}}\right| \le M \quad , \quad \left|\frac{y_{\varepsilon}^{k+1}}{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{\frac{1}{j}}}\right| \le N \tag{7.8}$$

for  $\varepsilon$  small and for some  $M, N \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ . Then

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \frac{(x_{\varepsilon} + y_{\varepsilon})^{k+1}}{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{\frac{1}{j}}} \right| &\leq \sum_{r=0}^{k+1} \binom{k+1}{r} \left| \frac{x_{\varepsilon}^{k+1}}{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{\frac{1}{j}}} \right|^{\frac{r}{k+1}} \left| \frac{y_{\varepsilon}^{k+1}}{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{\frac{1}{j}}} \right|^{\frac{k+1-r}{k+1}} \\ &\leq \sum_{r=0}^{k+1} \binom{k+1}{r} M^{\frac{r}{k+1}} N^{\frac{k+1-r}{k+1}}, \end{aligned}$$

proving the claim.

In order to show (x), we first note that  $x =_i y$  is equivalent to

$$\exists A \in \mathbb{R}_{>0} : \ |x - y| \le A \cdot \mathrm{d}\rho^{\frac{1}{j}}.$$

We again use the notation  $K := \max\left(\left|f^{(n+1)}(M)\right|, \left|f^{(n+1)}(m)\right|\right)$  and note that for some  $\xi \in [x - \delta, x + \delta], K = |f^{(n+1)}(\xi)|$ . We have

$$\left| f(x+u) - \sum_{r=0}^{n} \frac{f^{(r)}(x)}{r!} u^{r} \right| \leq \frac{K}{(n+1)!} \cdot |u|^{n+1}$$
$$= \frac{1}{(n+1)!} \cdot \left| f^{(n+1)}(\xi) \right| \cdot |u|^{n+1}.$$
(7.9)

In particular, if  $u \in D_{nj}$  then  $u^{n+1} =_j 0$ , and assumption (7.7) yields  $f^{(n+1)}(\xi) \cdot u^{n+1} =_k 0 =_k |f^{(n+1)}(\xi)| \cdot |u|^{n+1}$ . This and (7.9) yield the conclusion.

To prove (xi), we proceed as above but taking  $u \in D_{ne}$  in order to find  $0 < e \leq j$ such that  $|f^{(n+1)}(\xi)| \cdot |u|^{n+1} =_j 0$ . For moderateness  $|f^{(n+1)}(\xi)| \leq d\rho^{-Q}$  and  $|u|^{n+1} \leq A \cdot d\rho^{\frac{1}{e}}$  for some  $Q, A \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$  because  $u \in D_{ne}$ . It suffices to take e > 0sufficiently small so that  $\frac{1}{e} - Q \geq \frac{1}{j}$ .

### 8. Multidimensional integration and hyperlimits

In this section we want to introduce integration of GSF over functionally compact sets with respect to an arbitrary Borel measure  $\mu$ .

The possibility to achieve results mirroring classical limit theorems for this notion of integral is closely linked to the introduction of the notion of hyperlimit, i.e. of limits of sequences of generalized numbers  $a = (a_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} : {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{N}} \longrightarrow {}^{\sigma} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ , where  $\sigma$  and  $\rho$ are two gauges (see Def. 1) and  $n \to +\infty$  along generalized natural numbers, i.e. for

$$n \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{N}} := \left\{ [n_{\varepsilon}] \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}} \mid n_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{N} \,\,\forall \varepsilon \right\}.$$

Mimicking nonstandard analysis, the numbers  $n \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{N}}$  are called *hypernatural* numbers. To glimpse the necessity of studying  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{N}}$ , it suffices to note that  $\frac{1}{n} < d\rho^q$  is always false for  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  but it can be satisfied for suitable  $n \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{N}}$ . Therefore, if  $\lim_{n \to +\infty} a_n = 0$  in the classical sense, i.e. for  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and with respect to the sharp topology, then necessarily  $a_n$  is infinitesimal for  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  sufficiently large. This represents a severe limitation for this notion of limit. It is also clear from the fact that  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  with the sharp topology is an ultra-pseudometric space, see e.g. [98], and hence

a series in  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  converges in the sharp topology if and only if its general term  $a_n \to 0$ as  $n \to +\infty$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , in the sharp topology, see [61].

8.1. Integration over functionally compact sets. In section 6, we already defined a notion of integral over intervals using the notion of primitive. This notion does not help if we want to define the integral  $\int_D f$  of a GSF f over a domain  $D \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$  which is more general than an interval. In this case, it is natural to try an  $\varepsilon$ -wise definition of the type  $\int_D f \, d\mu := \left[ \int_{D_\varepsilon} f_\varepsilon \, d\mu \right] \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ , where the net  $(f_\varepsilon)$ defines the GSF f and the net  $(D_{\varepsilon})$  determines, in some way, the subset  $D \subseteq {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$ , e.g.  $D = [D_{\varepsilon}]$  in case of internal sets. In pursuing this idea, it is important to recall that the internal set (interval)  $[0,1] = [[0,1]_{\mathbb{R}}]$  can also be defined by a net of finite sets. Indeed, if int(-) is the integer part function, and we set

$$N_{\varepsilon} := \operatorname{int} \left( \rho_{\varepsilon}^{-1/\varepsilon} \right)$$
$$K_{\varepsilon} := \{ \rho_{\varepsilon}^{1/\varepsilon}, 2\rho_{\varepsilon}^{1/\varepsilon}, \dots, N_{\varepsilon}\rho_{\varepsilon}^{1/\varepsilon} \}$$
(8.1)

then the Hausdorff distance  $d_{\rm H}([0,1]_{\mathbb{R}}, K_{\varepsilon}) = \rho_{\varepsilon}^{1/\varepsilon}$  and hence  $[0,1] = [K_{\varepsilon}]$  (see also [116, 43]). Consequently, if  $\lambda$  is the Lebesgue measure on  $\mathbb{R}$ , we have that the generalized number  $[\lambda([0,1]_{\mathbb{R}})] = 1$ , whereas  $[\lambda(K_{\varepsilon})] = 0$  and, in general,  $\left[\int_{[0,1]_{\mathbb{R}}} f_{\varepsilon} d\lambda\right] \neq \left[\int_{K_{\varepsilon}} f_{\varepsilon} d\lambda\right] = 0.$  Therefore, even the definition of integral over an interval cannot be easily accomplished by proceeding  $\varepsilon$ -wise, i.e. on defining nets.

If we try to understand when such an  $\varepsilon$ -wise definition can be accomplished, it turns out that we have to consider an enlargement  $\overline{B^{\rm E}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^m}(K_{\varepsilon})$  and then take  $m \to +\infty$ . This is indeed quite natural if one keeps in mind that  $[K_{\varepsilon}] = [L_{\varepsilon}]$  if and only if the Hausdorff distance  $d_{\rm H}(K_{\varepsilon}, L_{\varepsilon})$  defines a negligible nets, (see [116, 43]). In the following, we say that  $(K_{\varepsilon})$  is a representative of  $K \in_{\mathrm{f}} {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$  if  $K = [K_{\varepsilon}]$ ,  $(K_{\varepsilon})$  is sharply bounded, and  $K_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{R}^n$  for all  $\varepsilon$ .

**Definition 56.** Let  $\mu$  be a Borel measure on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and let K be a functionally compact subset of  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$ . Then we call  $K \mu$ -measurable if the limit

$$\mu(K) := \lim_{\substack{m \to \infty \\ m \in \mathbb{N}}} [\mu(\overline{B^{\mathsf{E}}}_{\rho^m_{\varepsilon}}(K_{\varepsilon}))]$$
(8.2)

exists for some representative  $(K_{\varepsilon})$  of K. The limit is taken in the sharp topology on  ${}^{\rho}\mathbb{R}$ , and  $\overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_r(A) := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : d(x, A) < r\}.$ 

In the following result, we will prove that this definition satisfies our requirements. We will occasionally integrate generalized functions more general than GSF:

**Definition 57.** Let  $K \in_{\mathbf{f}} {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{n}$ . Let  $(\Omega_{\varepsilon})$  be a net of open subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^{n}$ , and  $(f_{\varepsilon})$ be a net of continuous maps  $f_{\varepsilon} \colon \Omega_{\varepsilon} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ . Then we say that

 $(f_{\varepsilon})$  defines a generalized integrable map :  $K \longrightarrow {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ 

if

- (i)
- $$\begin{split} & K \subseteq \langle \Omega_{\varepsilon} \rangle \text{ and } [f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})] \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}} \text{ for all } [x_{\varepsilon}] \in K. \\ & \forall (x_{\varepsilon}), (x'_{\varepsilon}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n}_{\rho} : \ [x_{\varepsilon}] = [x'_{\varepsilon}] \in K \ \Rightarrow \ (f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})) \sim_{\rho} (f_{\varepsilon}(x'_{\varepsilon})). \end{split}$$
  (ii)

If  $f \in \mathbf{Set}(K, {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$  is such that

$$\forall [x_{\varepsilon}] \in K : f([x_{\varepsilon}]) = [f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})]$$
(8.3)

we say that  $f: K \longrightarrow {}^{\rho}\mathbb{R}$  is a generalized integrable function.

We will again say that f is defined by the net  $(f_{\varepsilon})$  or that the net  $(f_{\varepsilon})$  represents f. The set of all these generalized integrable functions will be denoted by  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{GI}(K, {}^{\rho}\mathbb{R})$ .

E.g., if  $f = [f_{\varepsilon}(-)]|_{K} \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(K, {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}})$ , then both f and  $|f| = [|f_{\varepsilon}(-)|]|_{K}$  are integrable on K.

As in Lemma 18, we may assume without loss of generality that  $f_{\varepsilon}$  are continuous maps defined on the whole of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

**Theorem 58.** Let  $K \subseteq {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$  be  $\mu$ -measurable.

- The definition of  $\mu(K)$  is independent of the representative  $(K_{\varepsilon})$ . (i)
- There exists a representative  $(K_{\varepsilon})$  of K such that  $\mu(K) = [\mu(K_{\varepsilon})]$ . (ii)
- (iii) Let  $(K_{\varepsilon})$  be any representative of K and let  $f = [f_{\varepsilon}(-)]|_{K} \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GI}(K, {}^{\rho}\mathbb{R}).$ Then

$$\int_{K} f \, \mathrm{d}\mu := \lim_{m \to \infty} \left[ \int_{\overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(K_{\varepsilon})} f_{\varepsilon} \, \mathrm{d}\mu \right]$$

exists and its value is independent of the representative  $(K_{\varepsilon})$ .

There exists a representative  $(K_{\varepsilon})$  of K such that (iv)

$$\int_{K} f \,\mathrm{d}\mu = \left[ \int_{K_{\varepsilon}} f_{\varepsilon} \,\mathrm{d}\mu \right] \tag{8.4}$$

for each  $f = [f_{\varepsilon}(-)]|_{K} \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GI}(K, {}^{\rho}\mathbb{R})$ . From (8.4), it also follows that

 $\begin{aligned} \left| \int_{K} f \, \mathrm{d}\mu \right| &\leq \int_{K} |f| \, \mathrm{d}\mu. \\ If (8.4) \text{ holds, then the same holds for any representative } (L_{\varepsilon}) \text{ of } K \text{ with } \\ L_{\varepsilon} \supseteq K_{\varepsilon}, \forall^{0} \varepsilon. \end{aligned}$ (v)

*Proof.* (i) Let  $(L_{\varepsilon})$  be another representative. As  $[K_{\varepsilon}] \subseteq [L_{\varepsilon}]$ , we have that  $(\sup_{x\in K_{\varepsilon}} d(x,L_{\varepsilon}))_{\varepsilon} =: (n_{\varepsilon})$  is negligible, so  $K_{\varepsilon} \subseteq \overline{B^{\mathsf{E}}}_{n_{\varepsilon}}(L_{\varepsilon})$ , and  $\mu(\overline{B^{\mathsf{E}}}_{\rho^m_{\varepsilon}}(K_{\varepsilon})) \leq 0$  $\mu(\overline{B^{E}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m-1}}(L_{\varepsilon}))$ . Also using this inequality with the roles of  $K_{\varepsilon}$  and  $L_{\varepsilon}$  interchanged, we see that  $\lim_{m\to\infty} [\mu(\overline{B^{E}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(L_{\varepsilon}))]$  exists and that it equals  $\lim_{m\to\infty} [\mu(\overline{B^{E}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(K_{\varepsilon}))]$ .

(ii) Call  $[c_{\varepsilon}] := \mu(K)$  and let  $K = [L_{\varepsilon}]$ . By definition of  $\mu$ -measurable set and by the previous point (i), for any  $q \in \mathbb{N}$ , there exists  $m_q \in \mathbb{N}$  (w.l.o.g.  $m_q \geq q$ ) and  $\varepsilon_q > 0$  (w.l.o.g.  $\varepsilon_q < \varepsilon_{q-1}$  and  $\varepsilon_q < 1/q$ ) such that

$$|\mu(\overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m_{q}}}(L_{\varepsilon})) - c_{\varepsilon}| \le \rho_{\varepsilon}^{q}, \qquad \forall \varepsilon \le \varepsilon_{q}$$

Now let  $q_{\varepsilon} := q$  if  $\varepsilon \in (\varepsilon_{q+1}, \varepsilon_q]$ . Then  $q_{\varepsilon} \to \infty$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$  and

$$\left[\mu(\overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m_{q_{\varepsilon}}}}(L_{\varepsilon}))\right] = [c_{\varepsilon}] = \mu(K).$$

As also  $(\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m_{q_{\varepsilon}}})$  is negligible, we have  $K = [\overline{B^{E}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}}{}^{m_{q_{\varepsilon}}}_{\sigma_{\varepsilon}}(L_{\varepsilon})]$  and hence the conclusion follows for  $K_{\varepsilon} := \overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m_{q_{\varepsilon}}}}(L_{\varepsilon}).$ 

(iii)–(iv). Choose a representative  $(K_{\varepsilon})$  as in part (ii). Then

$$\left|\int_{\overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(K_{\varepsilon})} f_{\varepsilon} \,\mathrm{d}\mu - \int_{K_{\varepsilon}} f_{\varepsilon} \,\mathrm{d}\mu\right| \leq \mu(\overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(K_{\varepsilon}) \setminus K_{\varepsilon}) \sup_{\overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(K_{\varepsilon})} |f_{\varepsilon}|.$$

As  $[\mu(\overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(K_{\varepsilon}) \setminus K_{\varepsilon})] = [\mu(\overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(K_{\varepsilon}))] - [\mu(K_{\varepsilon})] \to 0$  as  $m \to \infty$  and since  $(\sup_{\overline{B^E}_{e^m}(K_{\varepsilon})} | f_{\varepsilon} |)$  is moderate for some m and decreasing in m, we find that

$$\lim_{m \to \infty} \left[ \int_{\overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(K_{\varepsilon})} f_{\varepsilon} \, \mathrm{d}\mu \right] = \left[ \int_{K_{\varepsilon}} f_{\varepsilon} \, \mathrm{d}\mu \right]$$

exists. Independence of the representative of K follows as in part (i), if  $f_{\varepsilon} \geq 0$ . The general case follows by considering the positive and negative part of  $f_{\varepsilon}$ .

(v) Let  $f_{\varepsilon} \geq 0$ . Then by assumption,  $[\int_{K_{\varepsilon}} f_{\varepsilon} d\mu] \leq [\int_{L_{\varepsilon}} f_{\varepsilon} d\mu]$ . For the converse inequality, observe that  $[\int_{L_{\varepsilon}} f_{\varepsilon} d\mu] \leq [\int_{\overline{B^{E}} \rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}(L_{\varepsilon})} f_{\varepsilon} d\mu]$  for each  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ . Again the general case follows by considering the positive and negative part of  $f_{\varepsilon}$ .

The following Lemma provides an alternative characterization of  $\mu$ -measurability:

**Lemma 59.** A functionally compact set K is  $\mu$ -measurable if and only if there exists a representative  $(K_{\varepsilon})$  of K such that  $[\mu(K_{\varepsilon})] = [\mu(L_{\varepsilon})]$ , for each representative  $(L_{\varepsilon})$ of K with  $L_{\varepsilon} \supseteq K_{\varepsilon}$ ,  $\forall^{0} \varepsilon$ .

*Proof.*  $\Rightarrow$ : by the previous Thm. 58.

 $\Leftarrow$ : it suffices to show that  $\lim_{m\to\infty} [\mu(\overline{B^{E}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(K_{\varepsilon}))] = [\mu(K_{\varepsilon})]$ . Seeking a contradiction, suppose that there exists  $q \in \mathbb{N}$  for which it does not hold that

$$\exists M \,\forall m \ge M \,\forall^0 \varepsilon : \ |\mu(\overline{B^{\mathsf{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^m}(K_{\varepsilon})) - \mu(K_{\varepsilon})| \le \rho_{\varepsilon}^q.$$

Then we can construct a strictly increasing sequence  $(m_k)_k \to \infty$  and a strictly decreasing sequence  $(\varepsilon_k)_k \to 0$  such that  $|\mu(\overline{B^{\varepsilon}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon_k}^{m_k}}(K_{\varepsilon_k})) - \mu(K_{\varepsilon_k})| > \rho_{\varepsilon_k}^q, \forall k$ . Let  $L_{\varepsilon} := \overline{B^{\varepsilon}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m_k}}(K_{\varepsilon})$ , whenever  $\varepsilon \in (\varepsilon_{k+1}, \varepsilon_k], \forall k$ . Then  $K = [L_{\varepsilon}]$ , but  $[\mu(K_{\varepsilon})] \neq [\mu(L_{\varepsilon})]$ , as  $|\mu(L_{\varepsilon}) - \mu(K_{\varepsilon})| > \rho_{\varepsilon}^q$ , for each  $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_k$   $(k \in \mathbb{N})$ .

**Example 60.** Let  $\lambda$  denote the Lebesgue-measure.

(i) If  $K = \prod_{i=1}^{n} [a_i, b_i]$ , then K is  $\lambda$ -measurable with

$$\int_{K} f \, \mathrm{d}\lambda = \left[ \int_{a_{1,\varepsilon}}^{b_{1,\varepsilon}} dx_{1} \dots \int_{a_{n,\varepsilon}}^{b_{n,\varepsilon}} f_{\varepsilon}(x_{1},\dots,x_{n}) \, \mathrm{d}x_{n} \right]$$

for any representatives  $(a_{i,\varepsilon})$ ,  $(b_{i,\varepsilon})$  of  $a_i$  and  $b_i$ , respectively.

(ii) Let  $\rho_{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon$ , and

$$K := \left\{ \frac{1}{n} \mid n \in \mathbb{N}_{>0} \right\} \cup \{0\}.$$

Then [K] is  $\lambda$ -measurable with  $\lambda([K]) = 0$ . Indeed, the contribution of  $\{1/n \mid n > \varepsilon^{-m/2}\}$  to  $\lambda(\overline{B^{\mathsf{E}}}_{\varepsilon^m}(K))$  is at most  $\varepsilon^{m/2} + 2\varepsilon^m$ , while the contribution of  $\{1/n \mid n \leq \varepsilon^{-m/2}\}$  is at most  $2\varepsilon^m \varepsilon^{-m/2} = 2\varepsilon^{m/2}$ . Thus  $\lim_{m\to\infty} [\lambda(\overline{B^{\mathsf{E}}}_{\varepsilon^m}(K))] = 0$ .

(iii) Let  $\rho_{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon$ , and

$$K := \left\{ \frac{1}{\log n} \mid n \in \mathbb{N}_{>1} \right\} \cup \{0\}.$$

Then [K] is not  $\lambda$ -measurable. For, if  $n \geq \frac{\varepsilon^{-m}}{(\log \varepsilon^{-m})^2}$ , then, by the mean value theorem,

$$\frac{1}{\log n} - \frac{1}{\log(n+1)} \le \frac{1}{n(\log n)^2} \le \frac{\varepsilon^m (\log \varepsilon^{-m})^2}{\left(\log \left(\frac{\varepsilon^{-m}}{(\log \varepsilon^{-m})^2}\right)\right)^2} \le 2\varepsilon^m$$

for small  $\varepsilon$ . So the contribution of  $\left\{\frac{1}{\log n} \mid n \geq \frac{\varepsilon^{-m}}{(\log \varepsilon^{-m})^2}\right\}$  to  $\lambda(\overline{B^{\mathsf{E}}}_{\varepsilon^m}(K))$  lies between  $\frac{1}{\log(\varepsilon^{-m})}$  and  $\frac{2}{\log(\varepsilon^{-m})}$  for small  $\varepsilon$ . The contribution of  $\left\{\frac{1}{\log n} \mid n < \frac{\varepsilon^{-m}}{(\log \varepsilon^{-m})^2}\right\}$  to  $\lambda(\overline{B^{\mathsf{E}}}_{\varepsilon^m}(K))$  is at most  $\frac{2}{(\log \varepsilon^{-m})^2}$ , which is of a lower order. Thus  $\lim_{m\to\infty} [\lambda(\overline{B^{\mathsf{E}}}_{\varepsilon^m}(K))]$  does not exist. 8.2. Hyperfinite limits. We start by defining the set of hypernatural numbers in  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  and the set of  $\rho$ -moderate nets of natural numbers. For a deeper study of these notions, see [83].

**Definition 61.** We set

(i)  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{N}} := \left\{ [n_{\varepsilon}] \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}} \mid n_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{N} \quad \forall \varepsilon \right\}$ (ii)  $\mathbb{N}_{\rho} := \left\{ (n_{\varepsilon}) \in \mathbb{R}_{\rho} \mid n_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{N} \quad \forall \varepsilon \right\}.$ 

Therefore,  $n \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{N}}$  if and only if there exists  $(x_{\varepsilon}) \in \mathbb{R}_{\rho}$  such that  $n = [\operatorname{int}(|x_{\varepsilon}|)]$ . Clearly,  $\mathbb{N} \subset {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{N}}$ . Note that the integer part function  $\operatorname{int}(-)$  is not well-defined on  ${}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ . In fact, if  $x = 1 = \left[1 - \rho_{\varepsilon}^{1/\varepsilon}\right] = \left[1 + \rho_{\varepsilon}^{1/\varepsilon}\right]$ , then  $\operatorname{int}\left(1 - \rho_{\varepsilon}^{1/\varepsilon}\right) = 0$ , whereas  $\operatorname{int}\left(1 + \rho_{\varepsilon}^{1/\varepsilon}\right) = 1$ , for  $\varepsilon$  sufficiently small. Similar counterexamples can be constructed for floor and ceiling functions.

However, the nearest integer function is well defined on  ${}^{\rho}\mathbb{N}$ .

**Lemma 62.** Let  $(n_{\varepsilon}) \in \mathbb{N}_{\rho}$  and  $(x_{\varepsilon}) \in \mathbb{R}_{\rho}$  be such that  $[n_{\varepsilon}] = [x_{\varepsilon}]$ . Let rpi :  $\mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{N}$  be the function rounding to the nearest integer with the breaking towards positive infinity. Then  $\operatorname{rpi}(x_{\varepsilon}) = n_{\varepsilon}$  for  $\varepsilon$  small. The same result holds using rmi :  $\mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{N}$ , the function rounding half towards  $-\infty$ .

*Proof.* We have  $\operatorname{rpi}(x) = \lfloor x + \frac{1}{2} \rfloor$ , where  $\lfloor - \rfloor$  is the floor function. For  $\varepsilon$  small,  $\rho_{\varepsilon} < \frac{1}{2}$  and, since  $[n_{\varepsilon}] = [x_{\varepsilon}]$ , for such  $\varepsilon$  we can also have  $n_{\varepsilon} - \rho_{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{2} < x_{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{2} < n_{\varepsilon} + \rho_{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{2}$ . But  $n_{\varepsilon} \leq n_{\varepsilon} - \rho_{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{2}$  and  $n_{\varepsilon} + \rho_{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{2} < n_{\varepsilon} + 1$ . Therefore  $\lfloor x_{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{2} \rfloor = n_{\varepsilon}$ . An analogous argument can be applied to  $\operatorname{rni}(-)$ .

Actually, this lemma does not allow us to define a *nearest integer* function ni :  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{N}} \longrightarrow \mathbb{N}_{\rho}$  as  $\operatorname{ni}([x_{\varepsilon}]) := \operatorname{rpi}(x_{\varepsilon})$  because if  $[x_{\varepsilon}] = [n_{\varepsilon}]$ , the equality  $n_{\varepsilon} = \operatorname{rpi}(x_{\varepsilon})$  holds only for  $\varepsilon$  small. We should therefore consider the function ni as valued in the germs for  $\varepsilon \to 0^+$  generated by nets in  $\mathbb{N}_{\rho}$ . A simpler approach is to choose a representative  $(n_{\varepsilon}) \in \mathbb{N}_{\rho}$  for each  $x \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{N}}$  and to define  $\operatorname{ni}(x) := (n_{\varepsilon})$ . Clearly, we must consider the net  $(\operatorname{ni}(x)_{\varepsilon})$  only for  $\varepsilon$  small, such as in equalities of the form  $x = [\operatorname{ni}(x)_{\varepsilon}]$ . This is what we do in the following

**Definition 63.** The nearest integer function ni(-) is defined by:

- (i) ni :  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{N}} :\longrightarrow \mathbb{N}_{\rho}$
- (ii) If  $[x_{\varepsilon}] \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{N}}$  and ni $([x_{\varepsilon}]) = (n_{\varepsilon})$  then  $\forall^{0}\varepsilon : n_{\varepsilon} = \operatorname{rpi}(x_{\varepsilon})$ .

In other words, if  $x \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{N}}$ , then  $x = [\operatorname{ni}(x)_{\varepsilon}]$  and  $\operatorname{ni}(x)_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{N}$  for all  $\varepsilon$ .

We first consider the notion of hyperlimit. As we will see clearly in Example 66(i), a key point in the definition of hyperlimit is to consider *two* gauges. This is a natural way of proceeding because different gauges define different topologies. On the other hand, the notion of hyperlimit corresponds exactly to that of limit in the sharp topology on  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  of a generalized sequence (hypersequence), i.e. defined on the directed set  ${}^{\sigma}\widetilde{\mathbb{N}}$ .

**Definition 64.** Let  $\rho$ ,  $\sigma$  be two gauges (see Def. 1). Let  $(a_n)_n : {}^{\sigma}\widetilde{\mathbb{N}} \longrightarrow {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  be a  $\sigma$ -hypersequence of  $\rho$ -generalized numbers. Finally let  $l \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ . Then we say that

l is the hyperlimit of  $(a_n)_n$ 

if

$$\forall q \in \mathbb{N} \,\exists M \in {}^{\sigma}\mathbb{N} \,\forall n \in {}^{\sigma}\mathbb{N} : n \ge M \Rightarrow |a_n - l| < \mathrm{d}\rho^q.$$

$$(8.5)$$

Remark 65.

(i) In a hyperlimit, we are considering  ${}^{\sigma}\widetilde{\mathbb{N}}$  as an ordered set directed by  $\leq$ :

$$n, m \in {}^{\sigma}\mathbb{N} \Rightarrow n \lor m = [\max(\mathrm{ni}(n)_{\varepsilon}, \mathrm{ni}(m)_{\varepsilon})] \in {}^{\sigma}\mathbb{N}.$$

On the other hand, on  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  we are considering the sharp topology (which is Hausdorff). In fact, if  $l, \lambda$  are hyperlimits of  $a : {}^{\sigma}\widetilde{\mathbb{N}} \longrightarrow {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ , then

$$|l - \lambda| \le |l - a_M| + |a_M - \lambda| \le 2\mathrm{d}\rho^{q+1} < \mathrm{d}\rho^q$$

for all q. So  $l = \lambda \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ . We will therefore use the notations

$$l = \mathop{\stackrel{\rho}{\underset{n \in {}^{\sigma} \widetilde{\mathbb{N}}}}}_{n \in {}^{\sigma} \widetilde{\mathbb{N}}} a_n$$

or simply  $l = \lim_{n \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{N}}} a_n$  if  $\sigma = \rho$ .

(ii) A sufficient condition to extend an ordinary sequence  $a : \mathbb{N} \longrightarrow {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  of  $\rho$ generalized numbers to the whole of  ${}^{\sigma}\widetilde{\mathbb{N}}$  is

$$\forall n \in {}^{\sigma} \mathbb{N} : (a_{\mathrm{ni}(n)_{\varepsilon}}) \in \mathbb{R}_{\rho}.$$

$$(8.6)$$

In fact, in this way  $a_n$  is well-defined because of Lem. 62; on the other hand, using (8.6), we have defined an extension of the old sequence a because if  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , then  $\operatorname{ni}(n)_{\varepsilon} = n$  for  $\varepsilon$  small and hence we get  $a_n = [a_n]$ . For example, the sequence of infinities  $a_n = \frac{1}{n} + \mathrm{d}\rho^{-1}$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  can be extended to any  ${}^{\sigma}\widetilde{\mathbb{N}}$ , whereas  $a_n = \mathrm{d}\sigma^{-n}$  can be extended as  $a : {}^{\sigma}\widetilde{\mathbb{N}} \longrightarrow {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  only for certain gauges  $\rho$ , e.g. if the gauges satisfy

$$\exists N \in \mathbb{N} \,\forall n \in \mathbb{N} \,\forall^0 \varepsilon : \ \sigma_{\varepsilon}^n \ge \rho_{\varepsilon}^N,$$

e.g.  $\sigma_{\varepsilon} \geq -\log(\rho_{\varepsilon})^{-1}$ .

### Example 66.

(i) The following example strongly motivates the use of two gauges. Let  $\rho$  be a gauge and set  $\sigma_{\varepsilon} := \exp\left(-\rho_{\varepsilon}^{-\frac{1}{\rho_{\varepsilon}}}\right)$ , so that also  $\sigma$  is a gauge. We have

$${}^{\rho} \lim_{n \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{N}}} \ \frac{1}{\log n} = 0 \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}} \quad \text{whereas} \quad \not{\square} {}^{\rho} \lim_{n \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{N}}} \ \frac{1}{\log n}.$$

In fact, if n > 1, we have  $0 < \frac{1}{\log n} < d\rho^q$  if and only if  $\log n > d\rho^{-q}$ , i.e.  $n > e^{d\rho^{-q}}$  (in  ${}^{\sigma}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ ). We can thus take  $M := \left[ \operatorname{int} \left( e^{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{-q}} \right) + 1 \right] \in {}^{\sigma}\widetilde{\mathbb{N}}$  because  $e^{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{-q}} < \exp\left( \rho_{\varepsilon}^{-\frac{1}{\rho_{\varepsilon}}} \right) = \sigma_{\varepsilon}^{-1}$  for  $\varepsilon$  small.

Vice versa, by contradiction, if  $\exists {}^{\rho} \lim_{n \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{N}}} \frac{1}{\log n} =: l \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$ , then by the definition of hyperlimit from  ${}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{N}}$  to  ${}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  we would get the existence of  $M \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{N}}$  such that

$$\forall n \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{N}} : n \ge M \implies \frac{1}{\log n} - \mathrm{d}\rho < l < \frac{1}{\log n} + \mathrm{d}\rho.$$
(8.7)

Since M is  $\rho$ -moderate, we always have  $0 < \frac{1}{\log M} - d\rho$ , so l > 0. Thus  $d\rho^p < |l|$  for some  $p \in \mathbb{N}$ . Setting

$$q := \min \left\{ p \in \mathbb{N} \mid \mathrm{d}\rho^p < |l| \right\} + 1,$$

we get that  $|l_{\bar{\varepsilon}_k}| < \rho_{\bar{\varepsilon}_k}^q$  for some sequence  $(\bar{\varepsilon}_k)_k \downarrow 0$ . Therefore

$$\frac{1}{\log M_{\bar{\varepsilon}_k}} < l_{\bar{\varepsilon}_k} + \rho_{\bar{\varepsilon}_k} \le |l_{\bar{\varepsilon}_k}| + \rho_{\bar{\varepsilon}_k} < \rho_{\bar{\varepsilon}_k}^q + \rho_{\bar{\varepsilon}_k}$$

and hence  $M_{\bar{\varepsilon}_k} > \exp\left(\frac{1}{\rho_{\bar{\varepsilon}_k}^q + \rho_{\bar{\varepsilon}_k}}\right)$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , which is in contradiction with  $M \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  because  $q \geq 1$ .

(ii) For all  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ , we have  $\lim_{n \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{N}}} \frac{1}{n^k} = 0$ . In fact, for all  $n \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{N}}_{>0}$ , we have  $0 < \frac{1}{n^k} < d\rho^q$  if and only if  $n^k > d\rho^{-q}$ , i.e.  $n > d\rho^{-\frac{q}{k}}$ . Thus, it suffices to take  $M_{\varepsilon} := \operatorname{int} \left(\rho_{\varepsilon}^{-\frac{q}{k}}\right) + 1$  in the definition of hyperlimit. Analogously, we can treat rational functions having degree of denominator greater or equal to that of the numerator.

8.3. **Properties of multidimensional integral.** We start by proving the change of variable formula.

**Lemma 67.** Let  $K = [K_{\varepsilon}]$  be functionally compact and  $\varphi = [\varphi_{\varepsilon}] \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(K, {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{d})$ with det $(d\varphi)(x)$  invertible for each  $x \in K$ . If  $\varphi$  is injective on K, then the  $\varphi_{\varepsilon}$  are injective on  $K_{\varepsilon}, \forall^{0}\varepsilon$ .

Proof. By contradiction, suppose that for each  $\eta > 0$ , there exists  $\varepsilon < \eta$  such that  $\varphi_{\varepsilon}$  is not injective on  $K_{\varepsilon}$ . Then we find for such  $\varepsilon$  some  $x_{\varepsilon}, y_{\varepsilon} \in K_{\varepsilon}$  with  $x_{\varepsilon} \neq y_{\varepsilon}$  and  $\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon}) = \varphi_{\varepsilon}(y_{\varepsilon})$ . For all other  $\varepsilon$ , define  $x_{\varepsilon} = y_{\varepsilon} \in K_{\varepsilon}$  arbitrary. Then  $x := [x_{\varepsilon}], y := [y_{\varepsilon}] \in K$  and  $\varphi(x) = \varphi(y)$ . As  $\varphi$  is injective, x = y. But then this contradicts the local injectivity of  $\varphi_{\varepsilon}$  on  $B_{r_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})$  for some  $[r_{\varepsilon}] > 0$ , see also [42, Thm. 6] and [26].

**Theorem 68.** Let  $K \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{n}$  be  $\lambda$ -measurable, where  $\lambda$  is the Lebesgue measure, and let  $\varphi \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(K, {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{d})$  be such that  $\varphi^{-1} \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(\varphi(K), {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{n})$ . Then  $\varphi(K)$  is  $\lambda$ -measurable and

$$\int_{\varphi(K)} f \, \mathrm{d}\lambda = \int_{K} (f \circ \varphi) \left| \det(\mathrm{d}\varphi) \right| \, \mathrm{d}\lambda$$

for each  $f \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(\varphi(K), {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}).$ 

*Proof.* Let  $x \in \overline{B^{\mathbb{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(K_{\varepsilon})$ . Then there exists  $y \in K_{\varepsilon}$  such that  $|x - y| \leq \rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}$ . As  $\varphi \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(K, {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{d}),$ 

$$|\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x) - \varphi_{\varepsilon}(y)| \le |x - y| \sup_{\overline{B^{E}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(K_{\varepsilon})} \| \mathrm{d}\varphi_{\varepsilon} \| \le \rho_{\varepsilon}^{m - M}$$

for some  $M \in \mathbb{N}$  (not depending on m). Thus  $\varphi_{\varepsilon}(\overline{B^{\mathsf{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(K_{\varepsilon})) \subseteq \overline{B^{\mathsf{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m-M}}(\varphi_{\varepsilon}(K_{\varepsilon}))$ . Applying this to  $\varphi^{-1}$ , we find that also  $\overline{B^{\mathsf{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(\varphi_{\varepsilon}(K_{\varepsilon})) \subseteq \varphi_{\varepsilon}(\overline{B^{\mathsf{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m-M}}(K_{\varepsilon}))$  for some  $M \in \mathbb{N}$ . Now let  $f_{\varepsilon} \geq 0$ . As  $(\det(d\varphi_{\varepsilon}^{-1}))$  is moderate,  $|\det(d\varphi_{\varepsilon})(x)| > 0$  for each  $x \in K$ . Thus by Lem. 67, w.l.o.g  $\varphi_{\varepsilon}$  are injective. Then

$$\int_{\overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(\varphi_{\varepsilon}(K_{\varepsilon}))} f_{\varepsilon} \,\mathrm{d}\lambda \leq \int_{\varphi_{\varepsilon}(\overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m-M}}(K_{\varepsilon}))} f_{\varepsilon} \,\mathrm{d}\lambda = \int_{\overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m-M}}(K_{\varepsilon})} (f_{\varepsilon} \circ \varphi_{\varepsilon}) |\det \mathrm{d}\varphi_{\varepsilon}| \,\mathrm{d}\lambda$$

and

$$\int_{\overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m+M}}(K_{\varepsilon})} (f_{\varepsilon} \circ \varphi_{\varepsilon}) |\det \mathrm{d}\varphi_{\varepsilon}| \,\mathrm{d}\lambda = \int_{\varphi_{\varepsilon}(\overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m+M}}(K_{\varepsilon}))} f_{\varepsilon} \,\mathrm{d}\lambda \leq \int_{\overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(\varphi_{\varepsilon}(K_{\varepsilon}))} f_{\varepsilon} \,\mathrm{d}\lambda$$

46

Since  $\lim_{m\to\infty} \left[ \int_{\overline{B^{E}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m-M}}(K_{\varepsilon})} (f_{\varepsilon} \circ \varphi_{\varepsilon}) | \det d\varphi_{\varepsilon} | d\lambda \right]$  exists, it follows from the previous inequalities that also  $\lim_{m\to\infty} \left[ \int_{\overline{B^{E}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(\varphi_{\varepsilon}(K_{\varepsilon}))} f_{\varepsilon} d\lambda \right]$  exists, with the same value. The general case follows by considering the positive and negative part of  $f_{\varepsilon}$ .  $\Box$ 

We now consider the problem of additivity of the integral.

**Definition 69.** Let K, L be functionally compact. Then we call K and L strongly disjoint if the following equivalent conditions hold:

- (i) for each representative  $(K_{\varepsilon})$  of K and  $(L_{\varepsilon})$  of L,  $K_{\varepsilon} \cap L_{\varepsilon} = \emptyset$ ,  $\forall^0 \varepsilon$
- (ii) for some (and thus each) representative  $(K_{\varepsilon})$  of K and  $(L_{\varepsilon})$  of L, there exists  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $\overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(K_{\varepsilon}) \cap \overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(L_{\varepsilon}) = \emptyset, \forall^{0} \varepsilon$
- (iii)  $\forall e \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}: e^2 = e, e \neq 0 \Rightarrow Ke \cap Le = \emptyset$
- (iv)  $\forall H \subseteq_0 I : K|_H \cap L|_H = \emptyset$
- (v)  $x \neq y$  for each subpoint x of K and y of L.

**Definition 70.** Let K, L be functionally compact. Then we call K and L almost strongly disjoint if the following equivalent conditions hold:

- (i) for each representative  $(K_{\varepsilon})$  of K and  $(L_{\varepsilon})$  of L,  $[\mu(K_{\varepsilon} \cap L_{\varepsilon})] = 0$
- (ii) for some (and thus each) representative  $(K_{\varepsilon})$  of K and  $(L_{\varepsilon})$  of L

$$\lim_{m \to \infty} \left[ \mu(\overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(K_{\varepsilon}) \cap \overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(L_{\varepsilon})) \right] = 0.$$

The equivalence of the conditions follows by a similar argument as in Lem. 59, e.g.:

Lemma 71. The conditions in Def. 70 are equivalent.

*Proof.*  $(i) \Rightarrow (ii)$ : let  $K = [K_{\varepsilon}]$  and  $L = [L_{\varepsilon}]$ . Seeking a contradiction, suppose that there exists  $q \in \mathbb{N}$  for which it does not hold that

$$\exists M \,\forall m \geq M \,\forall^0 \varepsilon : \ \mu(\overline{B^{\scriptscriptstyle E}}_{\rho^m_{\varepsilon}}(K_{\varepsilon}) \cap \overline{B^{\scriptscriptstyle E}}_{\rho^m_{\varepsilon}}(L_{\varepsilon})) \leq \rho^q_{\varepsilon}.$$

Then we can construct a strictly increasing sequence  $(m_k)_k \to \infty$  and a strictly decreasing sequence  $(\varepsilon_k)_k \to 0$  s.t.  $\mu(\overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon_k}}^{m_k}(K_{\varepsilon_k}) \cap \overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon_k}}^{m_k}(L_{\varepsilon_k})) > \rho_{\varepsilon_k}^q, \forall k.$ 

Let  $K'_{\varepsilon} := \overline{B^{\mathsf{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m_{k}}}(K_{\varepsilon})$  and  $L'_{\varepsilon} := \overline{B^{\mathsf{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m_{k}}}(L_{\varepsilon})$ , whenever  $\varepsilon \in (\varepsilon_{k+1}, \varepsilon_{k}]$ ,  $\forall k$ . Then  $K = [K'_{\varepsilon}]$  and  $L = [L'_{\varepsilon}]$ , but  $[\mu(K'_{\varepsilon} \cap L'_{\varepsilon})] \neq 0$ , as  $\mu(K'_{\varepsilon} \cap L'_{\varepsilon}) > \rho_{\varepsilon}^{q}$ , for each  $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_{k}$   $(k \in \mathbb{N})$ .

 $(ii) \Rightarrow (i)$ : let  $(K_{\varepsilon})$ ,  $(L_{\varepsilon})$  as in (ii), and  $K = [K'_{\varepsilon}]$  and  $L = [L'_{\varepsilon}]$ . For each  $q \in \mathbb{N}$ , we have that

$$\left[\mu(\overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(K_{\varepsilon}) \cap \overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(L_{\varepsilon}))\right] \leq \mathrm{d}\rho^{q}$$

for sufficiently large  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ . As  $[K'_{\varepsilon}] \subseteq [K_{\varepsilon}], K'_{\varepsilon} \subseteq \overline{B^{\mathsf{E}}}_{\rho^{m}_{\varepsilon}}(K_{\varepsilon}), \forall^{0}\varepsilon$ , and similarly for L, and thus also  $[\mu(K'_{\varepsilon} \cap L'_{\varepsilon})] \leq \mathrm{d}\rho^{q}$ .  $\Box$ 

E.g., if  $a \leq b \leq c$ , then [a, b] and [b, c] are almost strongly disjoint. Obviously, strongly disjoint sets are almost strongly disjoint. Recall that the union of two internal sets is usually not internal, but

$$K \lor L := [K_{\varepsilon} \cup L_{\varepsilon}] = \{e_S x + e_{S^c} y : x \in K, y \in L, S \subseteq [0, 1]\}$$

is the smallest internal set containing K and L [87]. E.g.,  $[a, b] \lor [b, c] = [a, c]$ .

**Theorem 72.** If K, L are almost strongly disjoint  $\mu$ -measurable subsets of  ${}^{\rho}\mathbb{R}^{n}$ , then  $K \vee L$  is also  $\mu$ -measurable and for each  $f \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GI}(K \vee L, {}^{\rho}\mathbb{R})$ 

$$\int_{K \vee L} f \, \mathrm{d}\mu = \int_{K} f \, \mathrm{d}\mu + \int_{L} f \, \mathrm{d}\mu.$$
Proof. As  $\overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(K_{\varepsilon} \cup L_{\varepsilon}) = \overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(K_{\varepsilon}) \cup \overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(L_{\varepsilon}),$ 

$$\left[\int_{\overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(K_{\varepsilon} \cup L_{\varepsilon})} f \, \mathrm{d}\mu\right] = \left[\int_{\overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(K_{\varepsilon})} f \, \mathrm{d}\mu\right] + \left[\int_{\overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(L_{\varepsilon})} f \, \mathrm{d}\mu\right] - \left[\int_{\overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(K_{\varepsilon}) \cap \overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(L_{\varepsilon})} f \, \mathrm{d}\mu\right].$$

Since

$$\left| \left[ \int_{\overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(K_{\varepsilon}) \cap \overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(L_{\varepsilon})} f \, \mathrm{d}\mu \right] \right| \leq \left[ \mu(\overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(K_{\varepsilon}) \cap \overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(L_{\varepsilon})) \right] \cdot \left[ \sup_{\overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(K_{\varepsilon}) \cap \overline{B^{\mathrm{E}}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{m}}(L_{\varepsilon})} |f| \right] \stackrel{m \to \infty}{\to} 0$$

we see that  $K \vee L$  is  $\mu$ -measurable with  $\int_{K \vee L} f \, d\mu = \int_K f \, d\mu + \int_L f \, d\mu$ .

**Example 73.** Let  $S \subseteq [0, 1[$  with  $0 \in \overline{S}$  and  $0 \in \overline{S^c}$ . Let  $K_{\varepsilon} = \begin{cases} [0, 1], & \varepsilon \in S \\ [0, 3], & \varepsilon \in S^c \end{cases}$  and

 $L_{\varepsilon} = \begin{cases} [2,3], & \varepsilon \in S \\ [0,3], & \varepsilon \in S^c. \end{cases} \text{ Then } K \cap L = \emptyset \text{ and } \mu(K \vee L) = 2e_S + 3e_{S^c} \neq 2e_S + 6e_{S^c} = 0 \end{cases}$ 

 $\mu(K) + \mu(L)$ . Thus the condition that K and L are almost strongly disjoint cannot be replaced by the condition that  $K \cap L = \emptyset$ .

**Theorem 74.** Let  $K \Subset_f {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$ . Let  $f_n \in {}^{\rho} \mathcal{GI}(K, {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^d)$ ,  $\forall n \in {}^{\sigma} \widetilde{\mathbb{N}}$ . If  ${}^{\rho} \lim_{n \in {}^{\sigma} \widetilde{\mathbb{N}}} f_n(x)$  exists for each  $x \in K$ , then the convergence is uniform over K and the limit function is integrable on K.

*Proof.* We first show that the sequence is uniformly Cauchy, i.e. that for each  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ 

$$\exists N \in \mathbb{N} \,\forall k, l \in {}^{\sigma} \widetilde{\mathbb{N}} \,\forall x \in K : \ k, l \ge \mathrm{d}\sigma^{-N} \ \Rightarrow \ |f_k(x) - f_l(x)| \le \mathrm{d}\rho^m.$$
(8.8)

Seeking a contradiction, suppose that for some  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , we have

$$\forall N \in \mathbb{N} \,\exists k, l \in {}^{\sigma} \widetilde{\mathbb{N}}, k, l \geq \mathrm{d}\sigma^{-N} \,\exists x \in K : \ |f_k(x) - f_l(x)| \not\leq \mathrm{d}\rho^m.$$

We thus construct sequences  $(k_N)_N$  and  $(l_N)_N$  in  ${}^{\sigma}\widetilde{\mathbb{N}}$ , with  $k_N, l_N \geq d\sigma^{-N}$  for which there exist  $x_N \in K$  s.t.  $|f_{k_N}(x_N) - f_{l_N}(x_N)| \leq d\rho^m$ ,  $\forall N \in \mathbb{N}$ . Let  $K = [K_{\varepsilon}]$ and  $f_k = [f_{k,\varepsilon}]$ . We thus find  $S_N \subseteq (0,1]$  with  $0 \in \overline{S_N}$  such that  $|f_{k_N,\varepsilon}(x_{N,\varepsilon}) - f_{l_N,\varepsilon}(x_{N,\varepsilon})| \geq \rho_{\varepsilon}^m$  for each  $\varepsilon \in S_N$ . Then choose a decreasing sequence  $(\varepsilon_n)_n \to 0$ such that

$$\begin{split} \varepsilon_1 &\in S_1 \\ \varepsilon_2 &\in S_2; \varepsilon_3 \in S_1; \\ \varepsilon_4 &\in S_3; \varepsilon_5 \in S_2; \varepsilon_6 \in S_1; \\ \dots \end{split}$$

Let  $x_{\varepsilon_n} := x_{N,\varepsilon_n}$  if  $\varepsilon_n \in S_N$ , for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Extend to a net  $(x_{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon}$  with  $x_{\varepsilon} \in K_{\varepsilon}, \forall \varepsilon$ . Then  $xe_{U_N} = x_Ne_{U_N}$  for some  $U_N \subseteq S_N$  with  $0 \in \overline{U_N}$ , and therefore  $|f_{k_N}(x) - f_{l_N}(x)|e_{U_N} \ge d\rho^m e_{U_N}, \forall N$ . We thus contradict the fact that  $(f_n(x))_{n \in \tilde{\mathbb{N}}}$  is a convergent hypersequence.

By taking the limit for  $l \to \infty$  in (8.8), we conclude that  $(f_n)_{n \in {}^{\sigma} \widetilde{\mathbb{N}}}$  is uniformly convergent on K.

For each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , fix a representative  $(f_{[\mathrm{d}\sigma^{-n}],\varepsilon})$ , where  $[\mathrm{d}\sigma^{-n}] := [\mathrm{int}(\sigma_{\varepsilon}^{-n})] \in {}^{\sigma}\widetilde{\mathbb{N}}$ , of  $f_{[\mathrm{d}\sigma^{-n}]}$  with  $\sup_{x \in K_{\varepsilon}} |f_{[\mathrm{d}\sigma^{-n}],\varepsilon}(x)| \leq \rho_{\varepsilon}^{-M}$ ,  $\forall \varepsilon \in (0,1]$ ,  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}$  (some  $M \in \mathbb{N}$ , independent of n). For each  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , there exists  $N_m \in \mathbb{N}$  such that

$$\forall n, n' \ge N_m \, \forall^0 \varepsilon : \, \sup_{x \in K_{\varepsilon}} |f_{[\mathrm{d}\sigma^{-n}],\varepsilon}(x) - f_{[\mathrm{d}\sigma^{-n'}],\varepsilon}(x)| \le \rho_{\varepsilon}^m.$$

Then for each  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , there exists some  $\varepsilon_k > 0$  such that

$$\forall \varepsilon \leq \varepsilon_k \,\forall m \leq k \,\forall n, n' \in [N_m, k] : \sup_{x \in K_{\varepsilon}} |f_{[\mathrm{d}\sigma^{-n}],\varepsilon}(x) - f_{[\mathrm{d}\sigma^{-n'}],\varepsilon}(x)| \leq \rho_{\varepsilon}^m.$$

W.l.o.g.,  $(\varepsilon_k)_k \downarrow 0$ . Let  $n_{\varepsilon} := k$ , for  $\varepsilon \in (\varepsilon_{k+1}, \varepsilon_k]$ . Then

$$\forall m \in \mathbb{N} \, \forall n \in \mathbb{N}, n \ge N_m \, \forall^0 \varepsilon : \sup_{x \in K_{\varepsilon}} |f_{[\mathrm{d}\sigma^{-n}],\varepsilon}(x) - f_{[\mathrm{d}\sigma^{-n}\varepsilon],\varepsilon}(x)| \le \rho_{\varepsilon}^m.$$

Thus the limit function  $f = [f_{[\mathrm{d}\sigma^{-n_{\varepsilon}}],\varepsilon}(-)] \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GI}(K,{}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}).$ 

**Theorem 75.** Let  $K \Subset_f {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$  be  $\mu$ -measurable. Let  $f_n \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GI}(K, {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^d)$ ,  $\forall n \in {}^{\sigma}\widetilde{\mathbb{N}}$ . If  ${}^{\rho}\lim_{n \in {}^{\sigma}\widetilde{\mathbb{N}}} f_n(x)$  exists for each  $x \in K$ , then  ${}^{\rho}\lim_{n \in {}^{\sigma}\widetilde{\mathbb{N}}} f_n$  is integrable on K and

$${}^{\rho} \lim_{n \in {}^{\sigma} \widetilde{\mathbb{N}}} \int_{K} f_{n} \, \mathrm{d}\mu = \int_{K} {}^{\rho} \lim_{n \in {}^{\sigma} \widetilde{\mathbb{N}}} f_{n} \, \mathrm{d}\mu.$$

*Proof.* By Thm. 74,  $(f_n)_n$  uniformly converges to some  $f = [f_{\varepsilon}(-)]$ . Then for all  $q \in \mathbb{N}$  we have

$$\left|\int_{K} f_n - \int_{K} f\right| \le \int_{K} |f_n - f| \le \mathrm{d}\rho^q \mu(K)$$

as soon as  $n \in {}^{\sigma}\widetilde{\mathbb{N}}$  is large enough.

#### 9. Sheaf properties

The aim of this section is to establish appropriate sheaf properties for GSF. That this task is not entirely straightforward can be seen from the following example, which can be easily reformulated in other non-Archimedean settings:

**Example 76.** Let  $i : {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}} \to {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  be as in Rem. 40, i.e., i(x) := 1 if  $x \approx 0$  and i(x) := 0 otherwise. The domain  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  of this function is the disjoint union of the sharply open sets  $D_{\infty} = \{x \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}} \mid x \approx 0\}$  and its complement  $D_{\infty}^{c}$ . Moreover,  $i|_{D_{\infty}} \equiv 1$  and  $i|_{D_{\infty}^{c}} \equiv 0$  are both GSF. However, as we have seen in the remark following Cor. 48, i itself is *not* a GSF. This shows that  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}$  is not a sheaf with respect to the sharp topology.

Trivially, if we introduce the space of (sharply) locally defined GSF by means of  $f \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\mathcal{C}_{loc}^{\infty}(X,Y)$  if  $f: X \to Y$ , and  $\forall x \in X \exists r \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}_{>0} : f|_{B_r(x)\cap X} \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(B_r(x)\cap X,Y)$ , then  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\mathcal{C}_{loc}^{\infty}(-,Y)$  is naturally a sheaf with respect to the sharp topology. By Example 76, however,  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\mathcal{C}_{loc}^{\infty}(X,Y)$  is strictly larger than  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(X,Y)$ . This fact can be viewed as a necessary trade-off between the classical statement of locality for generalized functions, on the one hand, and the requirement to preserve classical

theorems from smooth analysis on the other. In the above example, it is the validity of an intermediate value theorem in our setting that precludes the function i from qualifying as a GSF. Conversely, it follows that this result does not hold in  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{\rm loc}(X,Y)$ . Any theory of generalized functions that is based on set-theoretical functions and includes actual infinitesimals has to face these dichotomies related to the total disconnectedness of its non-Archimedean ring of scalars.

The general scheme of this section is:

- (a) We are searching for a new compatibility/coherence condition for an arbitrarily indexed family  $(f_j)_{j \in J}$  of GSF (throughout this section, J will be an arbitrary set), which allows us to prove a corresponding sheaf property. We will call this property dynamic compatibility condition (DCC).
- (b) The DCC must imply the classical one. Note that for particular types of covers the classic coherence condition may still work, e.g. covers made of near-standard points and large open sets (see Cor. 87 below) or those made of increasing sequences of internal sets (see Thm. 77 below).
- (c) The DCC must be a necessary condition if we assume that the sections  $(f_j)_{j \in J}$  glue together into a GSF.
- (d) The sheaf property based on the DCC should be a particular case of the general abstract notion of sheaf (see Sec. 10).

We start from the following sheaf property (originally proved in [116]):

**Theorem 77.** Let  $X \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$ ,  $Y \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^d$  and  $K_q \in {}^{f}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$ ,  $f_q \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(K_q, Y)$  for all  $q \in \mathbb{N}$ , where  $X = \bigcup_{q \in \mathbb{N}} K_q$ ,  $K_q \subseteq int(K_{q+1})$  and  $f_{q+1}|_{K_q} = f_q$  for each  $q \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then there exists a unique  $f \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(X, Y)$  such that  $f|_{K_q} = f_q$  for all  $q \in \mathbb{N}$ .

Proof. Let  $f_q = [f_{q,\varepsilon}(-)]$  and  $K_q = [K_{q,\varepsilon}]$ , for each  $q \in \mathbb{N}$ . By Lem. 11(v), there exist  $k_q \in \mathbb{N}$  ( $k_q$  recursively chosen so that  $(k_q)_q$  is increasing) such that  $B_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{k_q}}^{\mathsf{E}}(K_{q,\varepsilon}) \subseteq K_{q+1,\varepsilon}$ , for each  $q, \varepsilon$ . We may assume  $Y \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  (in general, one can apply the one-dimensional case componentwise). Let  $\theta \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  with  $\theta(x) = 0$ , if  $|x| \ge 1$  and  $\theta(x) \ge 0$ , for each  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  with  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \theta = 1$  and let  $r \odot \theta_r(x) := r^{-n} \theta(r^{-1}x)$ , for  $r \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ . Let  $1_A$  denote the characteristic function of a set  $A \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ , and set

$$\varphi_{q,\varepsilon} := \mathbf{1}_{K_{q+3,\varepsilon} \setminus K_{q,\varepsilon}} * \rho_{\varepsilon}^{k_{q+3}} \odot \theta, \quad \forall q, \varepsilon.$$

If  $y \in B_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{k}q+3}^{\mathbb{E}}(x) \cap K_{q,\varepsilon}$ , then  $x \in B_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{k}q}^{\mathbb{E}}(K_{q,\varepsilon}) \subseteq K_{q+1,\varepsilon}$ , and hence  $B_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{k}q+3}^{\mathbb{E}}(x) \cap K_{q,\varepsilon} = \emptyset$  if  $x \notin K_{q+1,\varepsilon}$ . If  $x \in K_{q+2,\varepsilon}$ , then  $B_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{k}q+3}^{\mathbb{E}}(x) \subseteq B_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{k}q+2}^{\mathbb{E}}(K_{q+2,\varepsilon}) \subseteq K_{q+3,\varepsilon}$ . Thereby,  $\varphi_{q,\varepsilon}(x) = 1$ , for each  $x \in K_{q+2,\varepsilon} \setminus K_{q+1,\varepsilon}$ . Moreover, stsupp $\varphi_{q,\varepsilon} \subseteq K_{q+3,\varepsilon} + B_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{k}q+3}^{\mathbb{E}}(0) = B_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{k}q+3}^{\mathbb{E}}(K_{q+3,\varepsilon}) \subseteq K_{q+4,\varepsilon}$ . Further,  $\sup_{x\in\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\partial^{\alpha}\varphi_{q,\varepsilon}(x)| \leq \rho_{\varepsilon}^{-k_{q+3}|\alpha|} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\partial^{\alpha}\theta|$  by the properties of the convolution. Let  $\varphi_{\varepsilon} := \sum_{q\in\mathbb{N}} \varphi_{q,\varepsilon}$ . Then  $\varphi_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\bigcup_{q\in\mathbb{N}} K_{q,\varepsilon})$  and for each q,  $(\sup_{x\in K_{q,\varepsilon}} |\partial^{\alpha}\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x)|) \in \mathbb{R}_{\rho}$ . Also  $\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x) \geq 1$ , for each  $x \in \bigcup_{q\in\mathbb{N}} K_{q,\varepsilon}$ . Let  $\psi_{q,\varepsilon} := \varphi_{q,\varepsilon}/\varphi_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ . Then  $\sum_{q\in\mathbb{N}} \psi_{q,\varepsilon}(x) = 1$ , for each  $x \in \bigcup_{q\in\mathbb{N}} K_{q,\varepsilon}$ . Since  $\sup_{x\in K_{q,\varepsilon}} |1/\varphi_{\varepsilon}(x)| \leq 1$ , we find that  $(\sup_{x\in\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\partial^{\alpha}\psi_{q,\varepsilon}(x)|) \in \mathbb{R}_{\rho}$ , for each q. Let  $f_{\varepsilon} := \sum_{q\in\mathbb{N}} \psi_{q,\varepsilon} \cdot f_{q+3,\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\bigcup_{q\in\mathbb{N}} K_{q,\varepsilon})$ , for each  $\varepsilon$  (recall that stsupp $\psi_{q,\varepsilon} \subseteq K_{q+3,\varepsilon}$ ). Then for each  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{d}$  and  $x = [x_{\varepsilon}] \in K_{N}$  (without loss of generality,  $x_{\varepsilon} \in K_{N,\varepsilon}$ , for each  $\varepsilon$ ),

$$|\partial^{\alpha} f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})| \leq \sum_{q \leq N+3} |\partial^{\alpha} (\psi_{q,\varepsilon} \cdot f_{q+3,\varepsilon})(x_{\varepsilon})| \in \mathbb{R}_{\rho}$$

and

$$|f_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon}) - f_{N,\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})| \leq \sum_{q \leq N+3} |\psi_{q,\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})| |f_{q+3,\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon}) - f_{N,\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})| \sim_{\rho} 0$$

since stsupp $\psi_{q,\varepsilon} \subseteq K_{q+3,\varepsilon}$ . Hence  $f \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(X,Y)$  with  $f|_{K_N} = f_N$ .

This property allows us to firstly prove a sheaf property for  $K = [K_{\varepsilon}] \in \mathbb{F}^{n}$ and secondly to use Thm. 77 to extend it to domains X that satisfy the previous assumptions, i.e. the following

**Definition 78.** Let  $X \subseteq {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$ , then we say that X admits a functionally compact exhaustion if there exists a sequence  $(K_q)_{q \in \mathbb{N}}$  such that

 $\begin{array}{ll} (\mathrm{i}) & K_q \Subset_{\mathrm{f}} {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n; \\ (\mathrm{ii}) & K_q \subseteq \mathrm{int} \, (K_{q+1}); \\ (\mathrm{iii}) & X = \bigcup_{q \in \mathbb{N}} K_q. \end{array}$ 

For example, every strongly internal set  $X = \langle A_{\varepsilon} \rangle$  admits a functionally compact exhaustion since we can consider

$$K_{q\varepsilon} := \overline{B^{\varepsilon}}_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{-q}}(0) \cap \overline{B^{\varepsilon}}_{-\rho_{\varepsilon}^{q}}(A_{\varepsilon}) \qquad \forall q \in \mathbb{N}$$

$$K_{q} := [K_{q\varepsilon}] \Subset_{\mathrm{f}} X \qquad (9.1)$$

$$X = \bigcup_{q \in \mathbb{N}} K_{q}$$

where  $\overline{B^{E}}_{-r}(A) := \{x \in A \mid d(x, A^{c}) \geq r\}$ . Other simple examples are e.g. the intervals (0, a] or  $(-\infty, a]$ .

9.1. The Lebesgue generalized number. We first introduce a notation for a specified Lebesgue number:

**Lemma 79.** Let 
$$K \in \mathbb{R}^n$$
 and  $(V_j)_{j \in J}$  be an open cover of  $K$ . For  $x \in K$ , set  

$$\sigma(x) := \sup\{r \in \mathbb{R}_{>0} \mid \exists j \in J : B_r^{E}(x) \subseteq V_j\} \qquad (9.2)$$

$$\sigma := \frac{1}{2}\min\{\sigma(x) \mid x \in K\}; \text{ if } K = \emptyset, \text{ set } \sigma := 1.$$

Then  $\sigma(-): K \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}_{>0}$  is a continuous function and  $\sigma$  is a Lebesgue number of  $(V_j)_{j \in J}$  for K, *i.e.* 

$$\forall x \in K \,\exists j \in J : \ B^{\mathsf{E}}_{\sigma}(x) \subseteq V_j. \tag{9.3}$$

We use the notation Lebnum  $((V_j)_{j \in J}, K) =: \sigma$ .

*Proof.* See the proof of [12, Thm. 1.6.11].

**Lemma 80.** Let  $K = [K_{\varepsilon}] \Subset_{f} {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{n}$  with  $K_{\varepsilon} \Subset \mathbb{R}^{n}$  for all  $\varepsilon$ . Assume that

$$K \subseteq \bigcup_{j \in J} U_j, \tag{9.4}$$

where  $U_j = \langle U_{j\varepsilon} \rangle$  are strongly internal sets, and set

$$s_{\varepsilon} := \text{Lebnum}\left( (U_{j\varepsilon})_{j\in J}, K_{\varepsilon} \right)$$
$$s := [s_{\varepsilon}] \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}_{\geq 0}.$$

Then s > 0.

*Proof.* By contradiction, assume that  $s \neq 0$ , so that  $s_{\varepsilon_k} < \rho_{\varepsilon_k}^k$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  and for some sequence  $(\varepsilon_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \downarrow 0$ . By definition of Lebnum we can write  $s_{\varepsilon_k} = \frac{1}{2}\sigma(x_{\varepsilon_k}) < \rho_{\varepsilon_k}^k$  for some  $x_{\varepsilon_k} \in K_{\varepsilon_k} \Subset \mathbb{R}^n$ . By (9.2) we hence have

$$\forall k \in \mathbb{N} \,\forall j \in J : \ B_{2\rho_{\varepsilon_{1}}^{k}}^{\mathrm{E}}(c_{\varepsilon_{k}}) \not\subseteq U_{j\varepsilon_{k}}.$$

$$(9.5)$$

Note that the conclusion is trivial if  $K_{\varepsilon} = \emptyset$  for  $\varepsilon$  small. We can therefore assume that there exists some  $h_{\varepsilon} \in K_{\varepsilon}$  for all  $\varepsilon$ . Let  $x_{\varepsilon} := x_{\varepsilon_k}$  if  $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_k$  and  $x_{\varepsilon} := h_{\varepsilon}$  otherwise, so that  $x_{\varepsilon} \in K_{\varepsilon} \subseteq \bigcup_{j \in J} U_{j\varepsilon}$  for small  $\varepsilon$  (see Lem. 11(i) and recall that  $K \subseteq \bigcup_{j \in J} U_j \subseteq \langle \bigcup_{j \in J} U_{j\varepsilon} \rangle$ ). Thereby,  $x := [x_{\varepsilon}] \in K \subseteq \bigcup_{j \in J} U_j$ . So,  $x \in U_j$  for some  $j \in J$ , and hence  $\overline{B_R(x)} \subseteq U_j = \langle U_{j\varepsilon} \rangle$  for some  $R \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}_{>0}$ , so that  $B_{R_{\varepsilon_k}}^{\mathsf{E}}(x_{\varepsilon_k}) \subseteq U_{j\varepsilon_k}$  for  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  sufficiently large by Lem. 11(i) and (2.6). Since also  $2\rho_{\varepsilon_k}^k < R_{\varepsilon_k}$  for  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  sufficiently large, we can finally say that  $B_{2\rho_{\varepsilon_k}}^{\mathsf{E}}(x_{\varepsilon_k}) \subseteq B_{R_{\varepsilon_k}}^{\mathsf{E}}(x_{\varepsilon_k}) \subseteq U_{j\varepsilon_k}$ , which contradicts (9.5).

On the basis of this result, we can set

Lebnum 
$$\left( \left( U_j \right)_{j \in J}, K \right) =: s \in {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}_{>0}$$

Assumption (9.4) cannot be replaced by the weaker  $K \subseteq \langle \bigcup_{j \in J} U_{j\varepsilon} \rangle$ : let  $K_{\varepsilon} := [-1,1]_{\mathbb{R}}, J := \{1,2\}, c_{1\varepsilon} := -1, c_{2\varepsilon} := 1, r_{1\varepsilon} := 1 + e^{-1/\varepsilon} =: r_{2\varepsilon}$ . Then

$$[K_{\varepsilon}] \subseteq \langle B_{r_{1\varepsilon}}^{\mathsf{E}}(c_{1\varepsilon}) \cup B_{r_{2\varepsilon}}^{\mathsf{E}}(c_{2\varepsilon}) \rangle = \langle (-2 - e^{-1/\varepsilon}, 2 + e^{-1/\varepsilon})_{\mathbb{R}} \rangle$$

but  $s_{\varepsilon} = \text{Lebnum}((U_{j\varepsilon})_{j\in J}, K_{\varepsilon}) \leq e^{-1/\varepsilon}$  because for x = 0 the largest ball contained in a set of the covering is  $B_{e^{-1/\varepsilon}}^{\text{E}}(0)$ .

#### 9.2. The dynamic compatibility condition.

## Definition 81.

- (i) Let  $[J] := \{(j_{\varepsilon}) \mid j_{\varepsilon} \in J, \forall \varepsilon\} = J^{I}$ .
- (i) Let  $X \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{n}, Y \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{d}$  and  $f \in \mathbf{Set}(X,Y)$ . Let  $K \subseteq_{\mathbf{f}} X \subseteq \bigcup_{j \in J} U_{j}$ , and assume that for all  $j \in J$  we have  $f_{j} := f|_{U_{j} \cap X} \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(U_{j} \cap X,Y)$ . Then we say that  $(f_{j})_{j \in J}$  satisfies the dynamic compatibility condition (DCC) on the cover  $(K \cap U_{j})_{j \in J}$  if for all  $j \in J$  there exist nets  $(f_{j\varepsilon})$  defining  $f_{j}$ , for each  $j \in J$ , such that setting  $U_{\overline{j}} := \langle U_{j\varepsilon,\varepsilon} \rangle$ , we have:
  - (a)  $\forall \overline{j} = (j_{\varepsilon}) \in [J] \forall [x_{\varepsilon}] \in U_{\overline{j}} \cap K \forall \alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n : (\partial^{\alpha} f_{j_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})) \in \mathbb{R}^d_{\rho}.$
  - (b)  $\forall \bar{j} = (j_{\varepsilon}), \bar{h} = (h_{\varepsilon}) \in [J] \forall [x_{\varepsilon}] \in K \cap U_{\bar{j}} \cap U_{\bar{h}} : [f_{j_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})] = [f_{h_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})].$

Finally, we say that  $(f_j)_{j \in J}$  satisfies the DCC on the cover  $(U_j)_{j \in J}$  if it satisfies the DCC on each functionally compact set contained in X. The adjective dynamic underscores that we are considering  $\varepsilon$ -depending indices  $\overline{j} = (j_{\varepsilon}) \in [J]$ .

Remark 82.

- (i) Taking constant  $\bar{j}$  and  $\bar{h}$  in Def. 81(b), we have that DCC is stronger than the classical compatibility condition for  $(f_j)_{j \in J}$  on  $K \Subset_f X$ .
- (ii) DCC is a necessary condition if the sections  $(f_j)_{j \in J}$  glue into a GSF  $f = [f_{\varepsilon}(-)]$  because in this case we can take  $f_{j\varepsilon} = f_{\varepsilon}$  for all  $j \in J$ .
- (iii) The notation  $U_{\bar{j}} := \langle U_{j_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon} \rangle$  used to state the DCC was introduced merely for simplicity of notations. In fact, in general it is not possible to prove the independence from the representative net  $(U_{j\varepsilon})$ : if  $U_j = \langle V_{j\varepsilon} \rangle$ , we can have

 $d_{\mathrm{H}}(U_{j\varepsilon}^{c}, V_{j\varepsilon}^{c}) = \rho_{\varepsilon}^{j/\varepsilon}$ , but taking  $\bar{j} = (\varepsilon)$  we would have  $d_{\mathrm{H}}(U_{\varepsilon,\varepsilon}^{c}, V_{\varepsilon,\varepsilon}^{c}) = \rho_{\varepsilon}$  and hence  $U_{\bar{j}} = \langle U_{\varepsilon,\varepsilon} \rangle \neq V_{\bar{j}} = \langle V_{\varepsilon,\varepsilon} \rangle$ .

In the next and final subsection we prove that the DCC implies the sheaf property.

## 9.3. Proof of the sheaf property.

**Lemma 83.** Let K,  $K^+$  be functionally compact sets with  $K \subseteq int(K^+) \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$ . Let  $Y \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^d$  and  $f \in \mathbf{Set}(K^+, Y)$ . Let  $K^+ \subseteq \bigcup_{i \in J} U_i$ , where  $U_i = \langle U_{i\varepsilon} \rangle$  are strongly internal sets and for all  $j \in J$  we have  $f_j := f|_{U_j \cap K^+} \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(U_j \cap K^+, Y)$ . Let  $K^+ = [K^+_{\varepsilon}]$ . Assume that, for some representatives  $(f_{j\varepsilon})_{\substack{j \in J\\ \varepsilon \in I}}$  of  $(f_j)_{j\in J}$  we have

$$\forall m \in \mathbb{N} \,\forall^0 \varepsilon \,\forall j, k \in J : \sup_{K_{\varepsilon}^+ \cap U_{j\varepsilon} \cap U_{k\varepsilon}} |f_{k\varepsilon} - f_{j\varepsilon}| \le \rho_{\varepsilon}^m.$$
(9.6)

Then  $f \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(K, Y)$ .

*Proof.* Let  $K = [K_{\varepsilon}]$ . By changing the representative  $(K_{\varepsilon}^+)_{\varepsilon}$  of  $K^+$ , we may assume that there exists  $S \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $B_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{S}}(K_{\varepsilon}) \subseteq K_{\varepsilon}^{+}, \forall \varepsilon \ [116, \text{Lemma 3.12}].$  We have that  $K_{\varepsilon}^+ \subseteq \bigcup_{j \in J} U_{j,\varepsilon}, \forall \varepsilon \leq \varepsilon_0$ , for some  $\varepsilon_0 > 0$  (proof by contradiction). Let  $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0]$ . By compactness of  $K_{\varepsilon}^+, K_{\varepsilon}^+ \subseteq U_{j_1, \varepsilon} \cup \cdots \cup U_{j_{l_{\varepsilon}}, \varepsilon}$  for some  $l_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{N}$ . Call  $V_k := U_{j_k,\varepsilon} \setminus (U_{j_1,\varepsilon} \cup \cdots \cup U_{j_{k-1},\varepsilon})$ , and let

$$f_{\varepsilon} := \sum_{k=1}^{l_{\varepsilon}} f_{j_k,\varepsilon} 1_{V_k}$$

Then  $f_{\varepsilon}$  is locally integrable. Let  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ . By (9.6), we find  $\varepsilon_m > 0$  such that

$$\forall j,k \in J \,\forall \varepsilon \leq \varepsilon_m : \sup_{K_{\varepsilon}^+ \cap U_{j,\varepsilon} \cap U_{k,\varepsilon}} |f_{k,\varepsilon} - f_{j,\varepsilon}| \leq \rho_{\varepsilon}^m.$$

Further, by the definition of  $f_{\varepsilon}$ , we then also have

$$\forall j \in J \, \forall \varepsilon \leq \varepsilon_m : \sup_{K_{\varepsilon}^+ \cap U_{j,\varepsilon}} |f_{\varepsilon} - f_{j,\varepsilon}| \leq \rho_{\varepsilon}^m.$$

W.l.o.g.,  $\varepsilon_m \downarrow 0$ . Let  $q_{\varepsilon} := q$ , for each  $\varepsilon \in (\varepsilon_{(q+1)^2}, \varepsilon_{q^2}]$   $(q \in \mathbb{N})$ . Then

$$\forall j \in J \,\forall \varepsilon \le \varepsilon_0 : \sup_{K_{\varepsilon}^+ \cap U_{j,\varepsilon}} |f_{\varepsilon} - f_{j,\varepsilon}| \le \rho_{\varepsilon}^{q_{\varepsilon}^2}.$$

Let b be a smooth map  $\mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  with  $\int b = 1$  and  $\operatorname{stsupp}(b) \subseteq B_1(0)$ , and let

$$\delta_{q,\varepsilon}(x) := \rho_{\varepsilon}^{-nq} b\left(\frac{x}{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{q}}\right)$$

We show that  $(f_{\varepsilon} * \delta_{q_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon}$  is a representative of f, thereby proving that  $f \in$  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(K, {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^d)$ . We therefore take  $x = [x_{\varepsilon}] \in K$ , and we prove that

- $\begin{array}{ll} \text{(i)} & (\partial^{\alpha}(f_{\varepsilon} \ast \delta_{q_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon})(x_{\varepsilon})) \in \mathbb{R}^{d}_{\rho}, \, \forall \alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{n} \\ \text{(ii)} & [(f_{\varepsilon} \ast \delta_{q_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon})(x_{\varepsilon})] = f(x). \end{array}$

Let  $j \in J$  such that  $x \in U_j$ . Then there exists  $S \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $B_{\rho_{\varepsilon}}(x_{\varepsilon}) \subseteq K_{\varepsilon}^+ \cap U_{j,\varepsilon}$ .  $\forall^0 \varepsilon$ . To prove (i) and (ii), it suffices to see that  $(\partial^{\alpha} (f_{\varepsilon} * \delta_{q_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon})(x_{\varepsilon}) - \partial^{\alpha} f_{j,\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon}))_{\varepsilon}$  is negligible for each  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n$ .

Let  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n$ . Then

$$\begin{aligned} |\partial^{\alpha}(f_{\varepsilon} * \delta_{q_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon})(x_{\varepsilon}) - \partial^{\alpha}(f_{j,\varepsilon} * \delta_{q_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon})(x_{\varepsilon})| &= |((f_{\varepsilon} - f_{j,\varepsilon}) * \partial^{\alpha}\delta_{q_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon})(x_{\varepsilon})| \\ &= \rho_{\varepsilon}^{-|\alpha|q_{\varepsilon}} \left| \int (f_{\varepsilon} - f_{j,\varepsilon})(x_{\varepsilon} - \rho_{\varepsilon}^{q_{\varepsilon}}u)\partial^{\alpha}b(u) \, du \right| \leq C_{\alpha}\rho_{\varepsilon}^{-|\alpha|q_{\varepsilon}} \sup_{B_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{q_{\varepsilon}}}(x_{\varepsilon})} |f_{\varepsilon} - f_{j,\varepsilon}| \\ &\leq C_{\alpha}\rho_{\varepsilon}^{(q_{\varepsilon} - |\alpha|)q_{\varepsilon}} \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} &|\partial^{\alpha}(f_{j,\varepsilon} \ast \delta_{q_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon})(x_{\varepsilon}) - \partial^{\alpha}f_{j,\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})| = \left| \int (\partial^{\alpha}f_{j,\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon} - y) - \partial^{\alpha}f_{j,\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon}))\delta_{q_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon}(y)\,dy \right| \\ &\leq C \sup_{u \in B_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{q_{\varepsilon}}}(x_{\varepsilon})} |\partial^{\alpha}f_{j,\varepsilon}(u) - \partial^{\alpha}f_{j,\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon})| \leq C\rho_{\varepsilon}^{q_{\varepsilon}} \max_{|\beta| = |\alpha| + 1} \sup_{u \in B_{\rho_{\varepsilon}^{q_{\varepsilon}}}(x_{\varepsilon})} |\partial^{\beta}f_{j,\varepsilon}(u)| \\ &\leq C\rho_{\varepsilon}^{q_{\varepsilon} - N_{j,\alpha}} \end{aligned}$$

for sufficiently small  $\varepsilon$ , by Thm. 17 (i). Combining both inequalities, we conclude that  $(\partial^{\alpha}(f_{\varepsilon} * \delta_{q_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon})(x_{\varepsilon}) - \partial^{\alpha}f_{j,\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon}))_{\varepsilon}$  is  $\rho$ -negligible.

**Lemma 84.** Let K,  $K^+$  be functionally compact sets with  $K \subseteq int(K^+) \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$ . Let  $Y \subseteq {}^{\rho} \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^d$  and  $f \in \mathbf{Set}(K^+, Y)$ . Let  $K^+ \subseteq \bigcup_{j \in J} U_j$ , where for all  $j \in J$  we have  $f_j := f|_{U_j \cap K^+} \in {}^{\rho} \mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(U_j \cap K^+, Y)$  and  $U_j$  is a strongly internal set. Assume that  $(f_j)_{i \in J}$  satisfies the DCC on the cover  $(K^+ \cap U_j)_{i \in J}$ . Then  $f \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(K, Y)$ .

*Proof.* Let  $s_{\varepsilon} := \frac{1}{2}$ Lebnum  $\left( (U_{j\varepsilon})_{j \in J}, K_{\varepsilon}^{+} \right)$ . By Lemma 80,  $s := [s_{\varepsilon}] > 0$ .

We define a cover  $(V_x)_{x \in K^+}$  of  $K^+$  as follows. Let  $x = [x_{\varepsilon}] \in K^+$ , where  $x_{\varepsilon} \in K_{\varepsilon}^+$ ,  $\forall \varepsilon. \text{ Then there exist } j_{\varepsilon} \in J \text{ such that } B_{2s_{\varepsilon}}^{E}(x_{\varepsilon}) \subseteq U_{j_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon}, \forall \varepsilon. \text{ We then define } V_{x} := \langle B_{s_{\varepsilon}}^{E}(x_{\varepsilon}) \rangle, \text{ and we denote } \bar{j}(x) := [j_{\varepsilon}] \in [J]. \text{ By condition (a), } (f_{j_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon}) \text{ defines } I = [j_{\varepsilon}] \in [J].$ a generalized smooth map  $f_{\overline{j}(x)} \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(V_x \cap K^+, Y)$ . In order to conclude that  $f \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(K, Y)$  by Lemma 83, it suffices to show that:

(i)

$$\begin{split} &f_{\bar{\jmath}(x)}=f|_{V_x\cap K^+},\,\forall x\in K^+.\\ &\forall m\in\mathbb{N}\,\forall^0\varepsilon\,\forall x,y\in K^+:\,\sup_{K_\varepsilon^+\cap V_{x,\varepsilon}\cap V_{y,\varepsilon}}|f_{\bar{\jmath}(y),\varepsilon}-f_{\bar{\jmath}(x),\varepsilon}|\leq\rho_\varepsilon^m. \end{split}$$
(ii)

Proof of (i): Let  $x \in K^+$ . Let  $y \in V_x \cap K^+$ . We want to show that  $f_{\overline{i}(x)}(y) = f(y)$ . As  $y \in K^+$ , we have  $y \in U_j$  for some  $j \in J$ . Thus  $y \in K^+ \cap U_j \cap V_x \subseteq K^+ \cap U_j \cap U_{\overline{j}(x)}$ , and condition (b) yields  $f(y) = f_j(y) = f_{\overline{j}(x)}(y)$ .

Proof of (ii): By contradiction, suppose that there exists  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  and, for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , there exist  $\varepsilon_n > 0$  with  $(\varepsilon_n)_n$  decreasingly tending to 0 and  $x_n, y_n \in K^+$ and  $z_{\varepsilon_n} \in K^+_{\varepsilon_n} \cap V_{x_n,\varepsilon_n} \cap V_{y_n,\varepsilon_n}$  such that

$$|f_{j_{\varepsilon_n},\varepsilon_n}(z_{\varepsilon_n}) - f_{h_{\varepsilon_n},\varepsilon_n}(z_{\varepsilon_n})| > \rho_{\varepsilon_n}^m$$
(9.7)

where we denote  $j_{\varepsilon_n} := \overline{j}(x_n)_{\varepsilon_n}$  and  $h_{\varepsilon_n} := \overline{j}(y_n)_{\varepsilon_n} \in J$ . Then there exist  $x_{\varepsilon_n}, y_{\varepsilon_n} \in K_{\varepsilon_n}^+$  such that  $V_{x_n,\varepsilon_n} = B_{s_{\varepsilon_n}}^E(x_{\varepsilon_n})$  and  $V_{y_n,\varepsilon_n} = B_{s_{\varepsilon_n}}^E(y_{\varepsilon_n})$ . For  $\varepsilon \notin \{\varepsilon_n : n \in \mathbb{N}\}$ , let  $z_{\varepsilon} \in K_{\varepsilon}^+$  be arbitrary. Then  $z \in K^+$ . Let  $j_{\varepsilon} := h_{\varepsilon} := \overline{j}(z)_{\varepsilon}$ , for  $\varepsilon \notin \{\varepsilon_n : n \in \mathbb{N}\}$ . Let  $(z_{\varepsilon}')$  be any representative of z. Then

$$\begin{cases} z'_{\varepsilon} \in B^{E}_{s_{\varepsilon}}(z_{\varepsilon}) \subseteq U_{j_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon} = U_{h_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon} & \forall^{0}\varepsilon \notin \{\varepsilon_{n} : n \in \mathbb{N}\} \\ z'_{\varepsilon_{n}} \in B^{E}_{s_{\varepsilon_{n}}}(z_{\varepsilon_{n}}) \subseteq B^{E}_{2s_{\varepsilon_{n}}}(x_{\varepsilon_{n}}) \subseteq U_{j_{\varepsilon_{n}},\varepsilon_{n}} & \forall n \in \mathbb{N} \text{ large enough} \end{cases}$$

and similarly  $z'_{\varepsilon_n} \in U_{h_{\varepsilon_n},\varepsilon_n}$  for large enough  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Thus  $z \in K^+ \cap U_{\bar{j}} \cap U_{\bar{h}}$ , and condition (b) contradicts (9.7).

54

Using Thm. 77 and a functionally compact exhaustion, see Def. 78, we get

**Theorem 85.** Let  $X \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{n}$  be a set that admits a functionally compact exhaustion,  $Y \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{d}$  and  $f \in \mathbf{Set}(X,Y)$ . Let  $X \subseteq \bigcup_{j \in J} U_{j}$ , where for all  $j \in J$  we have  $f_{j} := f|_{U_{j}\cap X} \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(U_{j}\cap X,Y)$  and  $U_{j}$  is a strongly internal set. Assume that  $(f_{j})_{j \in J}$  satisfies the DCC on the cover  $(U_{j})_{j \in J}$ . Then  $f \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(X,Y)$ .

The usual sheaf properties both for Schwartz distributions and for Colombeau generalized functions do not need any stronger compatibility condition, which ultimately stems from the possibility to use, for these generalized functions, only (near-)standard points (recall Thm. 20 and Thm. 21). This is proved in the following result, which generalizes the aforementioned sheaf properties (see e.g. [50]).

**Theorem 86.** Let  $X \subseteq \left({}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n\right)^{\bullet}$ ,  $Y \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^d$  and let  $f: X \longrightarrow Y$  be a set-theoretical map. Suppose that  $X \subseteq \bigcup_{x \in X} B_{r_x}(x)$ , where  $r_x \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$  for all x, and that

$$f|_{B_{r_x}(x)\cap X} \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(B_{r_x}(x)\cap X, Y)$$

for all  $x \in X$ . Then  $f \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(X,Y)$ .

*Proof.* For every  $x \in X$ , let  $f|_{B_{r_x}(x)} =: v^x \in {^\rho \mathcal{GC}^\infty}(B_{r_x}(x) \cap X)$  and let  $v^x$  be defined by the net  $(v^x_{\varepsilon})$  with  $v^x_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}^\infty(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^d)$ . Recall that by  $x^\circ \in \mathbb{R}^n$  we denote the standard part of any  $x \in ({^\rho \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}}^n)^{\bullet}$ . Pick a countable, locally finite open (in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ ) refinement  $(U_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$  of  $(B^{\mathsf{E}}_{r_x/2}(x^\circ))_{x \in X}$  and let  $(\chi_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$  be a partition of unity with stsupp $\chi_i \Subset U_i$  for all  $i \in \mathbb{N}$ . For any  $i \in \mathbb{N}$  pick  $x_i \in X$  such that  $U_i \subseteq B^{\mathsf{E}}_{r_{x_i}/2}(x^\circ)$  and set

$$f_{\varepsilon} := \sum_{i \in \mathbb{N}} \chi_i v_{\varepsilon}^{x_i} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^d).$$

Then the net  $(f_{\varepsilon})$  defines a GSF of the type  $X \longrightarrow Y$ : indeed, we will show that  $f(z) = v^{z}(z) = [f_{\varepsilon}(z_{\varepsilon})]$  for all  $z = [z_{\varepsilon}] \in X$ :

$$\begin{split} f_{\varepsilon}(z_{\varepsilon}) - v_{\varepsilon}^{z}(z_{\varepsilon}) &= \sum_{i \in \mathbb{N}} \chi_{i}(z_{\varepsilon})(v_{\varepsilon}^{x_{i}}(z_{\varepsilon}) - v_{\varepsilon}^{z}(z_{\varepsilon})) = \\ &= \sum_{\{i \mid z^{\circ} \in B_{3r_{x_{i}}/4}(x_{i})\}} \chi_{i}(z_{\varepsilon})(v_{\varepsilon}^{x_{i}}(z_{\varepsilon}) - v_{\varepsilon}^{z}(z_{\varepsilon})) + \\ &+ \sum_{\{i \mid z^{\circ} \notin B_{3r_{x_{i}}/4}(x_{i})\}} \chi_{i}(z_{\varepsilon})(v_{\varepsilon}^{x_{i}}(z_{\varepsilon}) - v_{\varepsilon}^{z}(z_{\varepsilon})) = \\ &=: A_{\varepsilon} + B_{\varepsilon}. \end{split}$$

Since  $z_{\varepsilon} \to z^{\circ}$ , for small  $\varepsilon$  all  $z_{\varepsilon}$  remain in a compact set and since the supports of the  $\chi_i$  form a locally finite family it follows that both  $A_{\varepsilon}$  and  $B_{\varepsilon}$  are in fact finite sums for small  $\varepsilon$ . To estimate the summands in  $A_{\varepsilon}$ , note that  $z^{\circ} \in B_{3r_{x_i}/4}(x_i)$ implies that  $z \in B_{r_{x_i}}(x_i)$ , so  $v^{x_i}(z) = f|_{B_{r_{x_i}}(x_i)}(z) = f(z) = v^z(z)$ . Hence  $[A_{\varepsilon}] = 0$ . Concerning  $B_{\varepsilon}, z^{\circ} \notin B_{3r_{x_i}/4}(x_i)$  implies that  $|z^{\circ} - x_i^{\circ}| > r_{x_i}/2$ . On the other hand, if  $\chi_i(z_{\varepsilon}) \neq 0$  then  $z_{\varepsilon} \in U_i \subseteq B_{r_{x_i}/2}^{\varepsilon}(x_i^{\circ})$ , implying  $|z^{\circ} - x_i^{\circ}| \le r_{x_i}/2$ . Hence  $B_{\varepsilon} = 0$ . Consequently,  $[f_{\varepsilon}(z_{\varepsilon})] = [v_{\varepsilon}^z(z_{\varepsilon})]$ , as claimed.

The following is the sheaf property for Fermat covers.

**Corollary 87.** Let  $X \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^n$ ,  $Y \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^d$  and let  $f : X \longrightarrow Y$  be a set-theoretical map. Suppose that  $X \subseteq \bigcup_{j \in J} U_j$ , where each  $U_j$  is a large open set, and that

$$f|_{U_i \cap X} \in {}^{\rho} \mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(U_i \cap X, Y)$$

for all  $j \in J$ . Then

- (i) If  $X \subseteq \left({}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{n}\right)^{\bullet}$ , then  $f \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(X,Y)$ . (ii) If X contains its converging subpoints and all points of X are finite, then  $f \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(X,Y).$

*Proof.* To prove property (i), let  $s = x^{\circ}$ ,  $x \in X$ . Then  $x \in U_{j_x}$  for some  $j_x \in J$ , and hence  $B_{r_{j_x}}(x) \subseteq U_{j_x}$  for some  $r_{j_x} \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ . Therefore  $s = x^{\circ} \in B_{r_{j_x}}^{E}(x^{\circ})$  and so  $X^{\circ} \subseteq \bigcup_{x \in X} B^{\mathrm{E}}_{r_{i_{\alpha}}}(x^{\circ})$ . Claim (i) now follows directly from Cor. 86. Property (ii) follows by (i) and Thm. 21 applied to  $f|_{X'}$ , where  $X' := \{x \in X \mid x \in X \}$ 

x is near-standard $\}$ .  $\square$ 

It is now natural to ask whether the sheaf property Thm. 85 could be inscribed into the general notion of sheaf on a site. This is one of the aims of the next Sec. 10.

#### 10. The Grothendieck topos of generalized smooth functions

As we argued in the introduction, function spaces and Cartesian closedness are considered by many authors as important features for mathematics and mathematical physics. Even if Colombeau's theory of generalized functions can be extended to any locally convex space E, on the other hand, in [72] (p. 2) it is stated that: "locally convex topology is not appropriate for non-linear questions in infinite dimensions", and indeed a different approach to infinite dimensional spaces is to embed smooth manifolds into a Cartesian closed category  $\mathcal{C}$  (see [37] for a review of this type of approaches). Similar lines of thought can be found in [63, 64], but where generalized functions are seen as functionals, hence not following Cauchy-Dirac's original conception but Schwartz' conception instead. We first motivate and introduce the few notions of category theory that we need in the present section. Indeed, only basic preliminaries of category theory are needed to understand this section: definition of category and basic examples, functors and natural transformation. Our basic references for this section are [78, 59, 7]. As it is customary, we write  $D \in \mathbb{D}$ to denote that D is an object of the category  $\mathbb{D}$ , we write  $A \xrightarrow{f} B$  in  $\mathbb{D}$  to say that  $f \in \mathbb{D}(A, B)$  and  $\mathbb{D}^{\text{op}}$  for the opposite of  $\mathbb{D}$  (see e.g. [79]). Only in this section, we use both the notations  $f \cdot g := g \circ f$  for arrows  $X \xrightarrow{f} Y \xrightarrow{g} Z$  in some category, and the notation  $\bar{j} = (\bar{j}_{\varepsilon}) \in [J]$ .

10.1. Coverages, sheaves and sites. The notion of coverage on a category allows one to define more abstractly the concept of sheaf without being forced to consider a topological space. Nevertheless, the classical example to keep in mind to have a first understanding of the following definitions is a sheaf (e.g. of continuous functions) defined on the poset of open sets  $\mathbb{D} = \mathbb{D}(X)$  in some topological space X.

We first define families with common codomain D:

**Definition 88.** Let  $\mathbb{D}$  be a category and let  $D \in \mathbb{D}$ . Then we say that  $\mathcal{F} \in \operatorname{Fam}(D)$ is a family with common codomain D if there exist a set  $J \in \mathbf{Set}$  and families  $(D_j)_{i \in J}, (i_j)_{i \in J}$  such that:

(i)  $D_j \xrightarrow{i_j} D$  in  $\mathbb{D}$  for all  $j \in J$ .

(ii) 
$$\mathcal{F} = \left( D_j \xrightarrow{i_j} D \right)_{j \in J}.$$

A coverage is a class of families with a common codomain that is closed with respect to pullback, in the precise sense stated in the following

**Definition 89.** Let  $\mathbb{D}$  be a category, then we say that  $\Gamma$  is a *coverage on*  $\mathbb{D}$  if:

- (i)  $\Gamma : \operatorname{Obj}(\mathbb{D}) \longrightarrow \mathbf{Set}$ , where  $\operatorname{Obj}(\mathbb{D})$  is the class of objects of the category  $\mathbb{D}$ .
- (ii)  $\forall D \in \mathbb{D} : \Gamma(D) \subseteq \operatorname{Fam}(D)$ . Families in  $\Gamma(D)$  are called *covering families of* D.
- (iii) If  $D \in \mathbb{D}$ ,  $\left(D_j \xrightarrow{i_j} D\right)_{j \in J} \in \Gamma(D)$  is a covering family of D, and  $C \xrightarrow{g} D$  is an arbitrary arrow of  $\mathbb{D}$ , then there exists a covering family of C,  $\left(C_k \xrightarrow{h_k} C\right)_{k \in K} \in \Gamma(C)$  such that

(iv) A pair  $(\mathbb{D}, \Gamma)$ , of a category and a coverage on it, is called a *site*.

For example, let  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{OGC}^{\infty}$  be the category of sharply open sets  $U \subseteq {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^{u}$  (all possible dimensions  $u \in \mathbb{N}$  are included) and GSF. Let  $\Gamma(U)$  contains open coverings and inclusions:  $\left(U_{j} \stackrel{i_{j}}{\longrightarrow} U\right)_{j \in J} \in \Gamma(U)$  if and only if  $U_{j} \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{OGC}^{\infty}$ ,  $i_{j} : U_{j} \hookrightarrow U$  and  $\bigcup_{j \in J} U_{j} = U$ . Then  $({}^{\rho}\mathcal{OGC}^{\infty}, \Gamma)$  is a site and property (10.1) holds simply by taking K = J and  $C_{j} := g^{-1}(U_{j}) \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{OGC}^{\infty}$  as covering family of C, and  $\bar{g} := g|_{C_{j}}$ . Note that these simple steps do not work in the category  ${}^{\rho}S\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}$  of strongly internal sets and GSF because in general  $g^{-1}(U_{j})$  is not strongly internal (only the inclusion  $g^{-1}(\langle A_{\varepsilon} \rangle) \subseteq \langle g_{\varepsilon}^{-1}(A_{\varepsilon}) \rangle$  holds). In this case, a general method is to express the open set  $g^{-1}(U_{j})$  as a union of strongly internal sets. This implies that we have to take a different index set K for the covering family  $C_{k} \hookrightarrow C$ .

Using the notion of coverage, we can define the notion of compatible family:

**Definition 90.** Let  $(\mathbb{D}, \Gamma)$  be a site and  $F : \mathbb{D}^{\text{op}} \longrightarrow \text{Set}$  be a presheaf. Let  $\mathcal{F} = \left(D_j \xrightarrow{i_j} D\right)_{j \in J} \in \Gamma(D)$  be a covering family of  $D \in \mathbb{D}$ . Then, we say that  $(f_j)_{j \in J}$  are compatible on  $\mathcal{F}$  (rel. F) if the following conditions hold: (i)  $f_j \in F(D_j)$  for all  $j \in J$ . In this case  $f_j$  is called a *section*. (ii) For all g, c and  $j, h \in J$ , we have

$$C \xrightarrow{c} D_{h}$$

$$\downarrow^{g} \qquad \downarrow^{i_{h}} \Rightarrow F(g)(f_{j}) = F(c)(f_{h}). \quad (10.2)$$

$$D_{j} \xrightarrow{i_{j}} D$$

A typical way to apply (10.2) is to construct a sort of intersection object  $C = D_h \cap D_j$  and to take as c, g the inclusions. Then, if  $F = \mathbb{D}(-, Y)$ , the equality in (10.2) reduces to the usual compatibility condition  $f_j|_{D_h \cap D_j} = f_h|_{D_h \cap D_j}$ .

We can finally define the notion of sheaf on a site:

**Definition 91.** Let  $(\mathbb{D}, \Gamma)$  be a site. Then we say that F is a *sheaf on*  $(\mathbb{D}, \Gamma)$ , and we write  $F \in Sh(\mathbb{D}, \Gamma)$  if

- $F: \mathbb{D}^{\mathrm{op}} \longrightarrow \mathbf{Set}$  (i.e. F is a presheaf). (i)
- If  $\mathcal{F} = \left(D_j \xrightarrow{i_j} D\right)_{j \in J} \in \Gamma(D)$  is a covering family of  $D \in \mathbb{D}$  and  $(f_j)_{j \in J}$ (ii) are compatible on  $\mathcal{F}$  (rel. F), then

$$\exists ! f \in F(D) \,\forall j \in J : F(i_j)(f) = f_j.$$

$$(10.3)$$

In the classical example of continuous functions on a topological space, F = $\mathcal{C}^{0}(-,Y)$  and the equality in (10.3) becomes  $f|_{D_{j}} = f_{j}$ . Note that, even if the category of open sets and GSF  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{OGC}^{\infty}$  is a site, example 76 shows that  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{OGC}^{\infty}(-,Y)$ is not a sheaf.

10.2. The category of glueable functions. As we mentioned in the introduction to Sec. 9, our main aim here is to show that the DCC is strictly related to the aforementioned definition of sheaf on a site. The strategy we will follow is:

- (a) Define a category  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty} \supset {}^{\rho}\mathcal{S}\mathcal{G}\mathcal{C}^{\infty}$ .
- (b) Define a coverage on  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}$ .
- (c) Show that  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}(-,\mathcal{Y})$  is a sheaf using Thm. 85 and hence the DCC.

Intuitively, we already think that a family of strongly internal sets  $(U_j)_{j \in J}$  is a coverage of the strongly internal set U if, simply,  $U \subseteq \bigcup_{i \in J} U_i$ ; we also intuitively think that  $(f_i)_{i \in J}$  are compatible sections if DCC holds. The following definition reflects this intuition:

**Definition 92.** Let  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}$  be the category of *glueable families*, whose objects are non empty families  $(U_j)_{j \in I} \in {}^{\rho} \mathcal{G} \ell^{\infty}$  of strongly internal sets in some space  ${}^{\rho} \mathbb{R}^{u}$ :

$$J \neq \emptyset, \ \exists u \in \mathbb{N} \ \forall j \in J : \ {}^{\rho} \mathbb{R}^u \supseteq U_j \in {}^{\rho} \mathcal{SGC}^{\infty}.$$

We say that

$$\mathcal{X} \xrightarrow{\varphi} \mathcal{Y} \quad \text{in} \quad {}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}$$

if  $\mathcal{X} = (U_j)_{j \in J}$ ,  $\mathcal{Y} = (V_h)_{h \in H} \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}$  and  $\varphi = ((f_j)_{j \in J}, \alpha)$ , where:

- The map  $\alpha \in \mathbf{Set}(J, H)$  is called a *reparametrization*. (i)
- The family of GSF  $f_j \in {}^{\rho}S\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(U_j, V_{\alpha(j)}), j \in J$ , satisfies the DCC on (ii)  $U := \bigcup_{j \in J} U_j.$

To state condition (ii) more explicitly, let  $u, v \in \mathbb{N}$  be the dimensions of  $(U_j)_{j \in J}$ and  $(V_h)_{h\in H}$  resp. (i.e.  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^u \supseteq U_j$  and  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^v \supseteq V_h$  for all j, h), and set  $V := \bigcup_{h\in H} V_h$ . Then (ii) asks that there exists  $(U_{j\varepsilon})_{j\in J}$  such that for all  $K \Subset_{\mathrm{f}} U$  there exists  $(f_{\cdot}) = \mathcal{C} \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{P}^{u} \mathbb{P}^{v})$  such that

$$(J_{j\varepsilon})_{j\in J} \in \mathcal{L}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n)$$
 such that:

- $\begin{array}{ll} \text{(ii.a)} & f_j = [f_{j\varepsilon}(-)] \mid_{U_j} \text{ for each } j \in J. \\ \text{(ii.b)} & [f_{\bar{\jmath}_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon}(-)] \in {}^{\rho} \mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(U_{\bar{\jmath}} \cap K, V_{\bar{\jmath} \cdot \alpha} \cap V) \text{ for all } \bar{\jmath} = (\bar{\jmath}_{\varepsilon}) \in [J], \text{ where } U_{\bar{\jmath}} := \langle U_{\bar{\jmath}_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon} \rangle. \end{array}$ Note that  $I \xrightarrow{\overline{j}} J \xrightarrow{\alpha} H$  and hence  $\overline{j} \cdot \alpha = \alpha \circ \overline{j} \in [H]$ .
- (ii.c)  $[f_{\bar{\jmath}_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon}(-)] = [f_{\bar{h}_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon}(-)]$  on  $U_{\bar{\jmath}} \cap U_{\bar{h}} \cap K$  for all  $\bar{\jmath}, \bar{h} \in [J]$ .

Composition and identities in  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}$  are defined as follows: Let

$$\mathcal{X} \xrightarrow{\varphi} \mathcal{Y} \xrightarrow{\psi} \mathcal{Z} \quad \text{in} \quad {}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}$$

$$(10.4)$$

58

and set  $\mathcal{X} = (U_j)_{j \in J}, \ \mathcal{Y} = (V_h)_{h \in H}, \ \mathcal{Z} = (W_l)_{l \in L}, \ \varphi = ((f_j)_{j \in J}, \alpha), \ \psi = ((g_h)_{h \in H}, \beta)$ . Then

$$\begin{split} U_j & \xrightarrow{f_j} V_{\alpha(j)} \xrightarrow{g_{\alpha(j)}} W_{\beta(\alpha(j))} \quad \forall j \in J \\ J & \xrightarrow{\alpha} H \xrightarrow{\beta} L, \end{split}$$

and we hence set

$$\varphi \cdot \psi := \left( \left( f_j \cdot g_{\alpha(j)} \right)_{j \in J}, \alpha \cdot \beta \right)$$
$$1_{\mathcal{X}} := \left( \left( 1_{U_j} \right)_{j \in J}, 1_J \right).$$

The following lemma confirms the correctness of this definition.

## **Lemma 93.** ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}$ is a category.

Proof. We essentially have to prove the closure with respect to composition, i.e. that (10.4) implies  $\varphi \cdot \psi : \mathcal{X} \longrightarrow \mathcal{Z}$  in  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}$ . We implicitly use the notations of the previous definition. For all  $K = [K_{\varepsilon}] \Subset_{\mathbf{f}} U$ , we have  $f_{\overline{j}} := [f_{\overline{j}_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon}(-)] \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(U_{\overline{j}} \cap K, V_{\overline{j}\cdot\alpha} \cap V))$ , and hence for  $\overline{j} \in [J]$  we get  $f_{\overline{j}}([U_{\overline{j}_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon} \cap K_{\varepsilon}]) :=: \hat{K} \Subset_{\mathbf{f}} V_{\overline{j}\cdot\alpha} \cap V$ . Using  $\hat{K}$  and  $\overline{j} \cdot \alpha :=: \overline{h} \in [H]$  with the arrow  $\psi$ , we obtain  $g_{\overline{h}} := [g_{\overline{h}_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon}(-)] \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V_{\overline{h}} \cap \hat{K}, W_{\overline{h}\cdot\beta} \cap W)$  for some nets  $(g_{h\varepsilon})_{h,\varepsilon}$ . Therefore

$$(f_{\bar{\jmath}} \cdot g_{\bar{\jmath} \cdot \alpha})|_{U_{\bar{\jmath}} \cap K} = \left[g_{\alpha(\bar{\jmath}_{\varepsilon}),\varepsilon}\left(f_{\bar{\jmath}_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon}(-)\right)\right] \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(U_{\bar{\jmath}} \cap K, W_{\bar{\jmath} \cdot \alpha \cdot \beta} \cap W).$$

This shows that condition (ii.b) of Def. 92 holds for  $\varphi \cdot \psi = \left( \left( f_j \cdot g_{\alpha(j)} \right)_{j \in J}, \alpha \cdot \beta \right)$ . To prove condition (ii.c) take  $x = [x_{\varepsilon}] \in U_{\overline{j}} \cap U_{\overline{l}} \cap K$ , then  $f_{\overline{j}}(x) = f_{\overline{l}}(x) \in V_{\overline{j} \cdot \alpha} \cap V_{\overline{l} \cdot \alpha} \cap \hat{K}$  and hence  $g_{\overline{j} \cdot \alpha} (f_{\overline{j}}(x)) = g_{\overline{l} \cdot \alpha} (f_{\overline{l}}(x))$ , which is our conclusion. Properties of identities trivially hold.

Note that  ${}^{\rho}SGC^{\infty} \subseteq {}^{\rho}G\ell^{\infty}$  through the embedding:

$$\begin{split} U &\in {}^{\rho} \mathcal{SGC}^{\infty} \mapsto (U)_{\bar{1}} \in {}^{\rho} \mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty} \\ f &\in {}^{\rho} \mathcal{SGC}^{\infty}(U,V) \mapsto ((f)_{\bar{1}}, \bar{1} \longrightarrow \bar{1}) \in {}^{\rho} \mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty} \left( (U)_{\bar{1}}, (V)_{\bar{1}} \right), \end{split}$$

where  $\overline{\mathbb{1}} := \{*\}$  is any singleton set. The converse is also possible using the sheaf Thm. 85: In fact, if  $((f_j)_{j\in J}, \alpha) \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}((U_j)_{j\in J}, (V_h)_{h\in H})$ , then the DCC holds and hence there exists a unique  $f \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{SGC}^{\infty}(U, V)$  such that  $f|_{U_j} = f_j$  for all  $j \in J$ . If we set gl $((f_j)_{j\in J}, \alpha) := f$  then

$$\operatorname{gl}(\varphi \cdot \psi) = \operatorname{gl}\left(\left(f_j \cdot g_{\alpha(j)}\right)_{j \in J}, \alpha \cdot \beta\right) = \operatorname{gl}(\varphi) \cdot \operatorname{gl}(\psi)$$

because setting  $gl(\varphi) =: f$  and  $gl(\psi) =: g$ , we have  $(f \cdot g)|_{U_j} = f|_{U_j} \cdot g|_{V_{\alpha(j)}} = f_j \cdot g_{\alpha(j)}$ , i.e. the unique GSF obtained by gluing  $(f_j \cdot g_{\alpha(j)})_{j \in J}$  is  $f \cdot g$ . Finally  $gl(1_{\mathcal{X}}) = 1_U = 1_{gl(\mathcal{X})}$  and hence  $gl: {}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty} \longrightarrow {}^{\rho}\mathcal{SGC}^{\infty}$  is a (clearly non injective) functor.

10.3. Coverage of glueable functions. We now introduce a coverage on the category  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}$  of glueable families:

**Definition 94.** Let  $\mathcal{E} = (W_e)_{e \in E} \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}$ . Then we say that  $\gamma \in \Gamma(\mathcal{E})$  if there exists a non empty  $J \in \mathbf{Set}$  such that:

- (i)  $\gamma = (\gamma_j)_{j \in J}$  and  $\gamma_j = ((i_h)_{h \in J}, \delta)$  for all  $j \in J$ .
- (ii)  $J \xrightarrow{\delta} E$  is a surjective map.
- (iii)  $i_j : D_j \longrightarrow W_{\delta(j)}$  for all  $j \in J$ , where  $(D_j)_{j \in J} \in {}^{\rho} \mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}$ . Because of this property,  $\delta$  is called a *refinement map*.
- (iv)  $W_e = \bigcup \{ D_j \mid \delta(j) = e, j \in J \}$  for all  $e \in E$ .

Remark 95.

- (i) Note that the index set J of γ = (γ<sub>j</sub>)<sub>j∈J</sub> is the same used in (i<sub>h</sub>)<sub>h∈J</sub>. Moreover, the two components of γ<sub>j</sub> do not depend on j ∈ J. This may appear to be a strange property for a coverage, but note that our intuition here is guided by viewing the inclusions (D<sub>j</sub> <sup>ij</sup>→ W)<sub>j∈J</sub> as a coverage of W := ⋃<sub>e∈E</sub> W<sub>e</sub>. On the other hand, note that in Def. 92 of glueable families, in the DCC (ii) we need the whole family (f<sub>j</sub>)<sub>j∈J</sub> and not only the single GSF f<sub>j</sub>. Similarly, we need to consider the entire family of inclusions (i<sub>h</sub>)<sub>h∈J</sub> and not the single i<sub>h</sub>. For this reason, we cannot directly consider the family (D<sub>j</sub> <sup>ij</sup>→ W)<sub>j∈J</sub>, made of single inclusions, as a coverage.
- (ii) Condition (iv) implies  $W = \bigcup_{j \in J} D_j = \bigcup_{j \in J} W_{\delta(j)}$ . We will see more clearly later that this condition allows us to prove the uniqueness part of (10.3).
- (iii) If  $W_e \neq \emptyset$  for all  $e \in E$ , then (iv) directly implies that  $\delta$  has to be a surjective map.

**Theorem 96.**  $\Gamma$  is a coverage on  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}$ .

*Proof.* From Def. 94(iii) it follows that  $\gamma_j \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}\left((D_j)_{j\in J}, \mathcal{E}\right)$ , i.e. property Def. 88(i). To prove the closure with respect to pullbacks, take  $\eta \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{E})$ , where  $\mathcal{C} =: (V_c)_{c\in C}$  and  $\eta =: ((g_c)_{c\in C}, \beta)$ . Since  $(g_c)_{c\in C}$  satisfies the DCC (see Def. 92(ii), i.e. Def. 92(ii.a), (ii.b)), we can use Thm. 85 to get

$$\exists ! g \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(V, W) \,\forall c \in C : g|_{V_c} = g_c,$$

where  $V := \bigcup_{c \in C} V_c$ . We can hence consider  $g^{-1}(D_j)$  and cover it with strongly internal sets:

$$\forall j \in J \exists H_j \neq \emptyset \exists (B_{jh})_{h \in H_j} \forall h \in H_j : B_{jh} \in {}^{\rho} S \mathcal{G} \mathcal{C}^{\infty}, \ g^{-1}(D_j) = \bigcup_{h \in H_j} B_{jh}.$$

Set  $B_{jhc} := B_{jh} \cap V_c \in {}^{\rho} S \mathcal{GC}^{\infty}, K := \{(j, h, c) \mid j \in J, h \in H_j, c \in C\}, \nu : (j, h, c) \in K \mapsto c \in C, a_k : B_k \longrightarrow V_{\nu(k)}, \text{ and } \alpha_k := ((a_k)_{k \in K}, \nu).$  Then K is non empty

because  $C, H_j, J \neq \emptyset$ , and we have

$$B = \bigcup_{k \in K} B_k = \bigcup_{c \in C} \bigcup_{j \in J} \bigcup_{h \in H_j} B_{jhc} = \bigcup_{c \in C} V_c \cap \bigcup_{j \in J} \bigcup_{h \in H_j} B_{jh} = V \cap \bigcup_{j \in J} g^{-1}(D_j) =$$
$$= V \cap g^{-1} \left( \bigcup_{j \in J} D_j \right) = V \cap g^{-1}(D) = V \cap g^{-1}(W) = V.$$

To prove property (iv) of Def. 94 for the new covering family  $(\alpha_k)_{k\in K}$ , take  $x \in V_c \subseteq V$ , so that  $g(x) \in W$ . Thereby,  $x \in g^{-1}(D_j)$  for some  $j \in J$ , and hence  $x \in B_{jh} \subseteq B_{jhc}$  for some  $h \in H_j$ . Setting  $k := (j, h, c) \in K$ , we have  $\nu(k) = c$  and  $x \in B_k$ . This shows that  $(\alpha_k)_{k\in K} \in \Gamma(\mathcal{C})$ . Finally, let  $(\delta)_1^{-1}$  be any left inverse of  $\delta$ , i.e.  $(\delta)_1^{-1} \cdot \delta = \delta \circ (\delta)_1^{-1} = 1_E$  (recall Def. 94(ii)), and setting  $\mathcal{B}_k := (B_k)_{k\in K}$ ,  $\mu := ((g_k|_{B_k})_{k\in K}, \nu \cdot \beta \cdot (\delta)_1^{-1})$ , we have

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathcal{B}_k & \stackrel{\alpha_k}{\longrightarrow} & \mathcal{C} \\ \forall k \in K \, \exists j \in J \, \exists \mu : & \left| \begin{array}{c} \mu & & \\ & & \\ \mathcal{D}_j & \stackrel{\gamma_j}{\longrightarrow} & \mathcal{E} \end{array} \right. \end{array}$$

i.e. the claim Def. 89(iii).

**Definition 97.** The category of sheaves  ${}^{\rho}T\mathcal{GC}^{\infty} := Sh\left({}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty},\Gamma\right)$  (and natural transformations as arrows) is called the *Grothendieck topos of generalized smooth functions* (see e.g. [78, 59, 7] and references therein).

10.4. The sheaf of glueable functions. We are now able to show that the DCC is the key property to prove the following

**Theorem 98.** For each  $\mathcal{Y} \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}$ , the functor  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}(-,\mathcal{Y})$  is a sheaf on the site  $({}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty},\Gamma)$ , *i.e.* it satisfies Def. 91:  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}(-,\mathcal{Y}) \in {}^{\rho}T\mathcal{G}\mathcal{C}^{\infty}({}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty},\Gamma)$ .

Proof. We use the notations of Def. 94. Let  $(\gamma_j)_{j\in J} = ((i_h)_{h\in J}, \delta)_{j\in J} \in \Gamma(\mathcal{E})$ be a covering family and let  $\varphi_j = ((f_h^j)_{h\in J}, \alpha^j) \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}(\mathcal{D}_j, \mathcal{Y}), \ j \in J$ , be a compatible family of sections, where  $\mathcal{D}_j := (D_h)_{h\in J} =: \mathcal{D}_0$  (recall Rem. 95(i) about the independence from  $j \in J$ ). Note explicitly that by Def. 94(i) the covering family  $(\gamma_j)_{j\in J}$  is indexed by the same set J as its inclusions  $(i_h)_{h\in J}$ ; moreover, the glueable family  $(f_h^j)_{h\in J}$  is also indexed by J because by Def. 92, any arrow in the category  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}$  is indexed by the same set of its domain which, in this case, is  $\mathcal{D}_0 = (D_h)_{h\in J}$ . Set  $\mathcal{Y} =: (V_l)_{l\in L}$ . We first want to prove that the compatibility of sections  $(\varphi_j)_{j\in J}$  allows us to show that both  $(f_h^j)_{h\in J}$  and  $\alpha^j$  do not actually depend on j. We therefore take  $i \in J$  and define  $\mathcal{D}_0 \cap \mathcal{D}_0 := (D_h \cap D_k)_{(h,k)\in J^2} \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}$ ,  $i_{hk}: D_h \cap D_k \longrightarrow D_h$ ,  $i_{kh}: D_h \cap D_k \longrightarrow D_k$ ,  $\nu_1: (h,k) \in J^2 \mapsto h \in J$ ,  $\nu_2: (h,k) \in J^2 \mapsto k \in J$ ,  $\iota_1 := ((i_{hk})_{(h,k)\in J^2}, \nu_1)$ ,  $\iota_2 := ((i_{kh})_{(h,k)\in J^2}, \nu_2)$ . The

compatibility condition (10.2) for the functor  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}(-,\mathcal{Y})$  yields

$${}^{p}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}(-,\mathcal{Y})(\iota_{1})(\varphi_{j}) = {}^{p}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}(-,\mathcal{Y})(\iota_{2})(\varphi_{i})$$

$$\left(\left(i_{hk}\cdot f^{j}_{\nu_{1}(h,k)}\right)_{(h,k)\in J^{2}},\nu_{1}\cdot\alpha^{j}\right) = \left(\left(i_{kh}\cdot f^{i}_{\nu_{2}(h,k)}\right)_{(h,k)\in J^{2}},\nu_{2}\cdot\alpha^{i}\right)$$

$$\left(\left(f^{j}_{h}|_{D_{h}\cap D_{k}}\right)_{hk},\nu_{1}\cdot\alpha^{j}\right) = \left(\left(f^{i}_{k}|_{D_{h}\cap D_{k}}\right)_{hk},\nu_{2}\cdot\alpha^{i}\right).$$

Thereby, for h = k we get  $f_h^j = f_h^i$  and, for arbitrary  $h, k \in J$ , we also have  $(\nu_1 \cdot \alpha^j)(h, k) = (\nu_2 \cdot \alpha^i)(h, k)$ , i.e.  $\alpha^j(h) = \alpha^i(k)$ . This equality, since  $J \neq \emptyset$ , implies that  $\alpha^i = \alpha^j =: \alpha_c \in L$  is constant. Therefore, as a consequence of the compatibility condition, we have that both components of  $\varphi_j$  do not depend on  $j \in J$ : our sections can hence be simply written as  $\varphi_j =: ((f_h)_{h \in J}, \alpha_c)$ . Note also that all the GSF  $f_h : D_h \longrightarrow V := V_{\alpha_c}$  have the same codomain. The glueable family  $(f_h)_{h \in J}$  satisfies the DCC because of Def. 92(ii) and we can hence apply Thm. 85 to obtain a unique  $f \in {}^{\rho} \mathcal{GC}^{\infty}(D, V)$  such that  $f|_{D_j} = f_j$  for each  $j \in J$ , where  $D = \bigcup_{j \in J} D_j$ . We can finally set  $\bar{\alpha} : e \in E \mapsto \alpha_c \in L$  and  $\varphi := ((f|_{W_e})_{e \in E}, \bar{\alpha})$  to obtain the existence part of the conclusion:

$${}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}(-,\mathcal{Y})(\gamma_j)(\varphi) = \gamma_j \cdot \varphi = \left(\left(f|_{W_{\delta(h)}\cap D_h}\right)_{h\in J}, \delta \cdot \bar{\alpha}\right) = \left(\left(f|_{D_h}\right)_{h\in J}, \alpha\right) = \varphi_j.$$

To prove the uniqueness of the glued section, assume that  $\hat{\varphi} = \left( \left( \hat{f}_e \right)_{e \in E}, \hat{\alpha} \right) \in {}^{\rho} \mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{Y})$  is another section such that  ${}^{\rho} \mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}(-, \mathcal{Y})(\gamma_j)(\hat{\varphi}) = \varphi_j$  for all  $j \in J$ . This equality gives

$$\left(\left(\hat{f}_{\delta(h)}|_{D_h}\right)_{h\in J}, \delta\cdot\hat{\alpha}\right) = \left(\left(f_h\right)_{h\in J}, \alpha\right)$$
(10.5)

Take  $e \in E$  and  $x \in W_e$ , then condition Def. 94(iv) yields the existence of  $h \in J$  such that  $\delta(h) = e$  and  $x \in D_h$ . Therefore, using (10.5) we obtain

$$\hat{f}_e(x) = \hat{f}_{\delta(h)}|_{D_h \cap W_e}(x) = f_h|_{W_e}(x) = f|_{W_e}(x),$$

i.e.  $\hat{f}_e = f|_{W_e}$  for all  $e \in E$ . Finally, (10.5) also gives  $\hat{\alpha} = (\delta)_{l}^{-1} \cdot \alpha$ .

10.5. Concrete sites and generalized diffeological spaces. In this final section, we want to sketch one of the many possibilities that we can start to explore using the Grothendieck topos  ${}^{\rho}T\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}$ . The idea is to show that the site  $({}^{\rho}\mathcal{G\ell}^{\infty}, \Gamma)$  is a concrete site. In this way, considering the space of concrete sheaves over this site, we get a category of spaces that extends usual smooth manifolds but it is closed with respect to operations such as: arbitrary subspaces, products, sums, function spaces, etc. (see [58, 62, 7, 34, 37] and references therein for similar approaches). As above, all the necessary categorical notions will be introduced).

**Definition 99.** Let  $\mathbb{D}$  be a category and  $F : \mathbb{D}^{\text{op}} \longrightarrow \mathbf{Set}$  be a functor. Then, we say that F is representable if  $F \simeq \mathbb{D}(-, D)$  for some  $D \in \mathbb{D}$ . Moreover, if  $(\mathbb{D}, \Gamma)$  is a site, then we say that  $(\mathbb{D}, \Gamma)$  is a subcanonical site if every representable functor F is a sheaf  $F \in \mathrm{Sh}(\mathbb{D}, \Gamma)$ .

Since in Thm. 98 we proved that  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}(-,\mathcal{Y})$  is a sheaf, directly from Def. 99 it follows that  $({}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty},\Gamma)$  is a subcanonical site.

A concrete site is a site whose objects can be thought of as an underlying set with a structure. The idea is that if  $\mathbb{1} \in \mathbb{D}$  is a terminal object, then  $|D| := \mathbb{D}(\mathbb{1}, D) \in \mathbf{Set}$ 

is the underlying set of  $D \in \mathbb{D}$  and if  $f : C \longrightarrow D$  in  $\mathbb{D}$ , then  $|f| := \mathbb{D}(\mathbb{1}, f) : x \in |C| \mapsto x \cdot f = f \circ x \in |D|$  is the set-theoretical map corresponding to the arrow f. These maps have a natural relation with covering families of  $\Gamma$ , as stated in the following

**Definition 100.** We say that  $(\mathbb{D}, \Gamma, \mathbb{1})$  is a concrete site if:

- (i)  $(\mathbb{D}, \Gamma)$  is a subcanonical site.
- (ii)  $1 \in \mathbb{D}$  is a terminal object, i.e.  $1 \in \mathbb{D}$  and  $\forall D \in \mathbb{D} \exists ! t \in \mathbb{D}(D, 1)$ .

 $\mathbb{D}(\mathbb{1}, D) =: |D|$  is called the *underlying set of*  $D \in \mathbb{D}$ . For  $f \in \mathbb{D}(C, D)$ , the map  $|f| := \mathbb{D}(\mathbb{1}, f) : |C| \longrightarrow |D|$  is called the *function associated to the morphism* f.

- (iii) The functor  $\mathbb{D}(\mathbb{1},-):\mathbb{D}\longrightarrow \mathbf{Set}$  is faithful, i.e. for all  $f, g \in \mathbb{D}(C,D)$ , if |f| = |g|, then f = g.
- (iv) If  $\left(D_j \xrightarrow{i_j} D\right)_{j \in J} \in \Gamma(D)$ , then the associated maps trivially cover |D|, i.e.:

$$\bigcup_{j \in J} |i_j| \, (|D_i|) = |D|. \tag{10.6}$$

For example, let us define a terminal object in the category  ${^\rho {\cal G}}\ell^\infty$  of glueable spaces as:

$$\mathbb{1} := (\{0\})_{\bar{\mathbb{1}}} \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}$$

where  $\overline{\mathbb{1}} = \{*\}$ . Note that, if we view  $\mathbb{R}^n = \mathbf{Set}(\{1, \ldots, n\}, \mathbb{R})$ , then Card  $(\mathbb{R}^0) = 1$ and hence Card  $\binom{\rho \widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^0}{\rho} = \operatorname{Card}\left(\left(\mathbb{R}^0\right)^I / \sim_{\rho}\right) = 1$ . Therefore,  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^0 = \{0\}$  is the trivial ring. It is also a strongly internal set because  $B_1(0) = \left\{x \in {}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}^0 \mid |x - 0| < 1\right\} = \{0\}$ .

What is  $\varphi \in {}^{\rho} \mathcal{G} \ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{1}, \mathcal{X}) = |\mathcal{X}|$  in this case? Set  $\varphi = ((f)_{\overline{\mathbb{1}}}, \alpha)$  and  $\mathcal{X} = (U_j)_{j \in J}$ , then  $\alpha : \overline{\mathbb{1}} \longrightarrow J$  and  $f : \{0\} \longrightarrow U_{\alpha(*)}$ , which can be identified with the pair  $(f(0), \alpha(*)) \in U_{\alpha(*)} \times \{\alpha(*)\}$ . Therefore,

$$|\mathcal{X}| = {}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{1},\mathcal{X}) \simeq \sum_{j\in J} U_j = \bigcup_{j\in J} U_j \times \{j\}.$$

Similarly,  $\psi = \left( (f_j)_{j \in J}, \alpha \right) \in {}^{\rho} \mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty} \left( (U_j)_{j \in J}, (V_l)_{l \in L} \right)$  can be identified with the map:

$$|\psi|: (x,j) \in \sum_{j \in J} U_j \mapsto (f_j(x), \alpha(j)) \in \sum_{l \in L} V_l,$$

i.e. with the map  $(x, j) \mapsto (f(x), \alpha(j))$ , where  $f \in {}^{\rho}\mathcal{GC}^{\infty}\left(\bigcup_{j \in J} U_j, \bigcup_{l \in L} V_l\right)$  is obtained by gluing  $(f_j)_{j \in J}$ . This implies condition Def. 100(iii), whereas Def. 100(iv) follows from Rem. 95(ii):

**Theorem 101.**  $({}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}, \Gamma)$  is a concrete site.

It is well known that a sheaf  $F \in \operatorname{Sh}(\mathbb{D}, \Gamma)$  can be thought of as a generalized space defined by the information  $F(D) \in \operatorname{Set}$  associated to each test space  $D \in \mathbb{D}$ . The idea of *concrete sheaf* is that it is this kind of generalized space defined by an underlying set of points  $F(\mathbb{1})$ . For example, any  $y \in {}^{\rho} \mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{1}, \mathcal{Y})$  can be identified with the map  $\sum_{0} \{0\} \times \{0\} = \{(0,0)\} \longrightarrow \sum_{l \in L} V_l$ , and hence  ${}^{\rho} \mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{1}, \mathcal{Y}) \simeq$  $\sum_{l \in L} V_l$ . **Definition 102.** Let  $(\mathbb{D}, \Gamma, \mathbb{1})$  be a concrete site. Then we say that F is a concrete sheaf (and we write  $F \in \text{CSh}(\mathbb{D}, \Gamma, \mathbb{1})$ ) if:

(i) 
$$F \in \operatorname{Sh}(\mathbb{D}, \Gamma)$$
.  
(ii) For all  $s \in F(D)$ , let  $\underline{s} : p \in |D| \mapsto F(p)(s) \in F(\mathbb{1})$ , then we have  
 $\forall D \in \mathbb{D} \forall s, t \in F(D) : s = t \Rightarrow s = t$ .

Similarly to what we did above, we can prove that  ${}^{\rho}\mathcal{G}\ell^{\infty}(-,\mathcal{Y})$  is a concrete sheaf.

#### 11. Conclusions and future perspectives

Sobolev and Schwartz solved the problem "how to derive continuous functions?". Also Sebastiao e Silva (see [100]) solved the same problem without relying on functional analysis at all, but instead using only a formal approach and arriving at an isomorphic solution. We solved the problem: "how to derive continuous functions obtaining set-theoretical functions, unrestrictedly composable, extending the usual classical theorems of calculus and allowing for infinitesimal and infinite values?". This second problem doesn't appear to have a trivial formal solution.

We have shown that GSF theory has features that closely resemble classical smooth functions. In contrast, some differences have to be carefully considered, such as the fact that the new ring of scalars  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  is not a field, it is not totally ordered, it is not order complete, so that its theory of supremum and infimum is more involved (see [83]), and its intervals are not connected in the sharp topology because the set of all the infinitesimals is a clopen set. Almost all these properties are necessarily shared by other non-Archimedean rings because their opposites are incompatible with the existence of infinitesimal numbers.

Conversely, the ring of Robinson-Colombeau generalized numbers  ${}^{\rho}\widetilde{\mathbb{R}}$  is a framework where the use of infinitesimal and infinite quantities is available, it is defined using elementary mathematics, and with a strong connection with infinitesimal and infinite functions of classical analysis. As proved in [28], this leads to a better understanding and opens the possibility to define new models of physical systems. We can hence state that GSF theory is potentially a good framework for mathematical physics.

As we started to see in Sec. 10.5, the category of concrete sheaves over the concrete site of gluable families contains the category of strongly open sets and GSF and hence, also the category of ordinary smooth functions on open sets. In future works, we will build on this and show that it also contains the category of smooth manifolds (more generally all diffeological spaces). This opens the possibility to study singular differential geometry using non-Archimedean methods and, as is typical of topos theory, interesting connections with logic.

Finally, as we will see in the next two papers of this series ([77, 44]), GSF theory is also an interesting non-Archimedian framework for the mathematical analysis of singular non-linear ordinary and partial differential equations.

#### References

- Abbati, M.C., Maniá, A., Differential Geometry of Spaces of Mappings with Applications on Classical Field Theory, Dipartimento di Matematica Universitá degli Studi di Trento, Lecture Notes Series UTN LNS, 2000.
- [2] Abraham, R., Marsden, J.E., Ratiu, T., Manifolds, Tensors, Analysis and Applications, second ed., Springer-Verlag, 1988.
- [3] Aragona, J., Fernandez, R., Juriaans, S.O., A discontinuous Colombeau differential calculus, Monatsh. Math. 144, 13–29 (2005).
- [4] Aragona, J., Fernandez, R., Juriaans, S.O., Natural topologies on Colombeau algebras, *Topol. Methods Nonlinear Anal.* 34 (2009), no. 1, 161–180.
- [5] Aragona, J., Fernandez, R., Juriaans, S.O., Oberguggenberger, M., Differential calculus and integration of generalized functions over membranes, Monatsh Math (2012) 166:1–18.
- [6] Bär, C., Ginoux, N., Pfäffle, F., Wave equations on Lorentzian manifolds and quantization, ESI Lectures in Mathematics and Physics. European Mathematical Society (EMS), Zürich, 2007.
- [7] Baez, J.C., Hoffnung, A.E., Convenient Categories of Smooth Spaces, Transactions of the American Mathematical Society, Vol. 363, n. 11, November 2011, pp. 5789–5825.
- [8] Bampi, F., Zordan, C., Higher order shock waves, Journal of Applied Mathematics and Physics, 41, (1990), 12–19.
- [9] Bell, J.L., A Primer of Infinitesimal Analysis, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1998.
- [10] Biagioni, H.A. A Nonlinear Theory of Generalized Functions, Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1421, Springer, Berlin, 1990.
- [11] Bogoliubov, N.N., Shirkov, D.V., The Theory of Quantized Fields. New York, Interscience, 1959.
- [12] Burago, D., Burago, Y., Ivanov, S., A Course in Metric Geometry, Graduate Studies in Mathematics, American Mathematical Society, 2001.
- [13] Burtscher, A., Kunzinger, M., Algebras of generalized functions with smooth parameter dependence, Proc. Edinburgh Math. Soc. (Series 2), Vol. 55, Issue 01, pp 105–124, 2012.
- [14] Chen, K.T., On Differentiable Spaces. Categories in Continuum Physics Volume 1174, pp. 38–42, Springer–Verlag, Berlin, 1982.
- [15] Colombeau, J.F., New generalized functions and multiplication of distributions. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1984.
- [16] Colombeau, J.F., Elementary introduction to new generalized functions. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1985.
- [17] Colombeau, J.F., Multiplication of distributions A tool in mathematics, numerical engineering and theoretical Physics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, 1992.
- [18] Cutland, N., Kessler, C., Kopp, E., Ross, D., On Cauchy's notion of infinitesimal. British J. Philos. Sci., 39(3):375–378, 1988.
- [19] Delcroix, A., Remarks on the embedding of spaces of distributions into spaces of Colombeau generalized functions. Novi Sad J. Math. 35, no. 2, 27?40, 2005.
- [20] Dirac, P.A.M., The physical interpretation of the quantum dynamics, Proc. R. Soc. Lond. A, 113, 1926–27, 621–641.
- [21] Egorov, Yu. V., A contribution to the theory of generalized functions, Russ. Math. Surveys, 45(5), 3–40, 1990.
- [22] Eidelheit, M., Zur Theorie der Systeme linearer Gleichungen, Stud. Math. 6, 139–148, 1936.
- [23] Engelking, R., Dimension theory, Elsevier/North-Holland, 1979.
- [24] Engquist, B., Tornberg, A.K., Tsai, R., Discretization of Dirac delta functions in level set methods. Journal of Computational Physics, 207:28–51, 2005.
- [25] Erlacher, E., Grosser, M., Inversion of a 'discontinuous coordinate transformation' in general relativity, Appl. Anal. 90 (2011) 1707–1728.
- [26] Erlacher, E., Grosser, M., Inversion of Colombeau generalized functions, Proc. Edinb. Math. Soc. 56 (2013) 469–500.
- [27] Evans, L.C., Partial Differential Equations, Amer. Mathematical Society, Graduate Studies in Mathematics, 2010.
- [28] Frederico, G.S.F., Giordano, P., Bryzgalov, A.A., Lazo, M.J., Calculus of variations and optimal control for generalized functions. See arXiv:2011.09660.

- [29] Friedlander, F.G., The wave equation on a curved space-time, Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics, Cambridge University Press, 1975.
- [30] Frölicher, A., Kriegl, A., Linear spaces and differentiation theory, John Wiley & sons, Chichester, 1988.
- [31] Garetto, C., Hörmann, G., Oberguggenberger, M., Generalized oscillatory integrals and Fourier integral operators. *Proc. Edinb. Math. Soc.* (2) 52 (2009), no. 2, 351–386.
- [32] Garetto, C., Vernaeve, H., Hilbert C-modules: Structural properties and applications to variational problems. Transactions of the American Mathematical Society, Vol. 363, n. 4, 2011 2047-2090.
- [33] Geroch, R., Traschen, J., Strings and other distributional sources in general relativity, *Phys. Rev.* D 36 (1987) 1017–1031.
- [34] Giordano, P., Fermat reals: Nilpotent infinitesimals and infinite dimensional spaces. arXiv:0907.1872, July 2009.
- [35] Giordano, P., The ring of Fermat reals. Advances in Mathematics, 225 (4): 2050–2075, 2010.
- [36] Giordano, P., Infinitesimals without logic. Russian J. of Math. Phys., 17 (2): 159–191, 2010.
- [37] Giordano, P., Infinite dimensional spaces and Cartesian closedness. J. of Math. Phys., Analysis, Geometry, 7 (3): 225–284, 2011.
- [38] Giordano, P., Fermat-Reyes method in the ring of Fermat reals. Advances in Mathematics, 228: 862–893, 2011.
- [39] Giordano, P., Kunzinger, M., Topological and algebraic structures on the ring of Fermat reals, Israel J. Math., 193 (2013), 459–505.
- [40] Giordano, P., Kunzinger, M., New topologies on Colombeau generalized numbers and the Fermat-Reyes theorem, *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications* 399 (2013) 229–238. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jmaa.2012.10.005
- [41] Giordano, P., Kunzinger, M., A convenient notion of compact sets for generalized functions. Proceedings of the Edinburgh Mathematical Society, Volume 61, Issue 1, February 2018, pp. 57-92.
- [42] Giordano P., Kunzinger M., Inverse Function Theorems for Generalized Smooth Functions. Chapter in: Special issue ISAAC - Dedicated to Prof. Stevan Pilipovic for his 65 birthday. Eds. M. Oberguggenberger, J. Toft, J. Vindas and P. Wahlberg, Volume 260 of the series Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, Springer International Publishing, pp 95-114.
- [43] Giordano, P., Kunzinger, M., Vernaeve, H., Strongly internal sets and generalized smooth functions. Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications, volume 422, issue 1, 2015, pp. 56–71.
- [44] Giordano, P., Luperi Baglini, L., A Grothendieck topos of generalized functions III: normal PDE. See https://www.mat.univie.ac.at/~giordap7/ToposIII.pdf
- [45] Giordano, P., LuperiBaglini, L., Asymptotic gauges: generalization of Colombeau type algebras. Math. Nachr. Volume 289, Issue 2-3, pages 247–274, 2016.
- [46] Giordano, P., Nigsch, E., Unifying order structures for Colombeau algebras. Math. Nachr. Volume 288, Issue 11-12, pages 1286–1302, 2015.
- [47] Grant, J.D.E., Mayerhofer, E., Steinbauer, R., The wave equation on singular space-times. Comm. Math. Phys. 285 (2009), no. 2, 399–420.
- [48] Gonzales Dominguez, A., Scarfiello, R., Nota sobre la formula v.p.  $\frac{1}{x} \cdot \delta = -\frac{1}{2}\delta'$ , Rev. Un. Mat,. Argentina 1 (1956), 53–67.
- [49] Grant, K.D.E., Mayerhofer, E., Steinbauer, R., The wave equation on singular space-times, Commun. Math. Phys., 285 (2009), 399–420.
- [50] Grosser, M., Kunzinger, M., Oberguggenberger, M., Steinbauer, R., Geometric theory of generalized functions, Kluwer, Dordrecht, 2001.
- [51] Grosser, M., Nigsch, E. A., Full and special Colombeau Algebras. Proc. Edinb. Math. Soc., 61 (2018), no. 4, 961-994.
- [52] Gsponer, A., A concise introduction to Colombeau generalized functions and their applications in classical electrodynamics. European J. Phys. 30 (2009), no. 1, 109–126.
- [53] Hörmander., L., The analysis of linear partial differential operators. Springer-Verlag, 1983. The analysis of linear partial differential operators. Springer-Verlag, 1983.
- [54] Hörmann, G., Oberguggenberger, M., Pilipović, S., Microlocal hypoellipticity of linear partial differential operators with generalized functions as coefficients. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* 358 (2006), no. 8, 3363–3383.

66

- [55] Hörmann, G., Kunzinger, M., Steinbauer, R., Wave equations on non-smooth space-times. in Asymptotic Properties of Solutions to Hyperbolic Equations, M. Ruzhansky and J. Wirth (Eds) Progress in Mathematics 301. Birkhäuser, pp. 162–186, (2012).
- [56] Hoskins, R.F., The Sousa Pinto approach to nonstandard generalised functions, in *The Strength of Nonstandard Analysis*, I. van den Berg, V. Neves (Eds), Springer, pp. 76–91, 2006.
- [57] Hosseini, B., Nigam, N., Stockie, J.M., On regularizations of the Dirac delta distribution, Journal of Computational Physics, Volume 305, 2016, Pages 423–447.
- [58] Iglesias-Zemmour., P., Diffeology. Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, 185, AMS, Providence, 2013.
- [59] Johnstone, P.T., Sketches of an elephant: a topos theory compendium, Vol. 2, Oxford Logic Guides, 44, Clarendon Press, Oxford, 2002.
- [60] Katz, M.G., Tall, D., A Cauchy-Dirac delta function. Foundations of Science, 2012. See http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10699-012-9289-4 and http://arxiv.org/abs/1206.0119.
- [61] Koblitz, N., p-adic Numbers, p-adic Analysis, and Zeta-Functions, Springer-Verlag, 1984.
- [62] Kock, A., Synthetic Differential Geometry, Cambridge Univ. Press, London Math. Soc. Lect. Note Series 51, Cambridge Univ. Press, 1981.
- [63] Kock, A., Reyes, G., Some calculus with extensive quantities: wave equation. Theory and Applications of Categories, Vol. 11, No. 14, 2003, pp. 321–336.
- [64] Kock, A., Reyes, G., Categorical distributions theory; heat equation. See arXiv math/0407242v1, 2004.
- [65] Kunzinger, M. Generalized functions valued in a smooth manifold, Monatsh. Math. 137 31–49, 2002.
- [66] Kunzinger, M., Nigsch, E., Manifold-valued generalized functions in full Colombeau spaces. Commentationes Mathematicae Universitatis Carolinae, 52(4), 519–534, 2011. See also arXiv:1103.5845v1, 2011.
- [67] Kunzinger, M., Steinbauer, R., A rigorous solution concept for geodesic and geodesic deviation equations in impulsive gravitational waves, J. Math. Phys. 40 (1999) 1479–1489.
- [68] Kunzinger, M., Steinbauer, R., A note on the Penrose junction conditions, Class. Quantum Grav. 16 (1999), 1255–1264.
- [69] Kunzinger, M., Steinbauer, R., Foundations of a nonlinear distributional geometry, Acta Appl. Math. 71, no. 2, 179–206, 2002.
- [70] Kunzinger, M., Steinbauer, R., Vickers, J.A. Intrinsic characterization of manifold-valued generalized functions, Proc. London Math. Soc. 87(2) 451–470, 2003.
- [71] Kunzinger, M., Steinbauer, R., Vickers, J.A. Sheaves of nonlinear generalized functions and manifold-valued distributions, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 361 5177–5192, 2009.
- [72] Kriegl, A., Michor, P. W., The convenient setting of global analysis. Mathematical Surveys and Monographs 53. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1997.
- [73] Laugwitz, D., Definite values of infinite sums: aspects of the foundations of infinitesimal analysis around 1820. Arch. Hist. Exact Sci. **39** (1989), no. 3, 195–245.
- [74] Lavendhomme, R., Basic Concepts of Synthetic Differential Geometry, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 1996.
- [75] Lecke, A., Luperi Baglini, L., Giordano, P., The classical theory of calculus of variations for generalized functions. Accepted in Advances in Nonlinear Analysis, 2017.
- [76] Lojasiewicz, S., Sur la valeur et la limite d'une distribution en un point, Studia Math. 16 (1957), 1-36.
- [77] Luperi Baglini, L., Giordano, P., A Grothendieck topos of generalized functions II: ODE. See https://www.mat.univie.ac.at/~giordap7/ToposII.pdf
- [78] Mac Lane, S., Moerdijk, I., Sheaves in Geometry and Logic. A First Introduction to Topos Theory. Springer Verlag, 1992.
- [79] Mac Lane, S., Categories for the Working Mathematician. Springer Verlag, 1998.
- [80] Mayerhofer, E., On Lorentz geometry in algebras of generalized functions. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A 138 (2008), no. 4, 843–871.
- [81] Mikusinski, J., On the square of the Dirac delta distribution, Bull. Acad. Polon. Sci. 14, (1966), 511–513.
- [82] Moerdijk, I., Reyes, G.E., Models for Smooth Infinitesimal Analysis, Springer, Berlin, 1991.

- [83] Mukhammadiev, A., Tiwari, D., Apaaboah, G., Giordano, P., Supremum, Infimum and and hyperlimits of Colombeau generalized numbers. Submitted to Monatshefte f
  ür Mathematik. See arXiv:2006.16197.
- [84] Oberguggenberger, M. Multiplication of Distributions and Applications to Partial Differential Equations, volume 259 of Pitman Research Notes in Mathematics. Longman, Harlow, 1992.
- [85] Oberguggenberger, M., Kunzinger, M., Characterization of Colombeau generalized functions by their pointvalues. *Math. Nachr.* 203 (1999), 147–157.
- [86] Oberguggenberger, M., Pilipović, S., Scarpalézos, D., Positivity and positive definiteness in generalized function algebras, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 328 (2007), no. 2, 1321–1335.
- [87] Oberguggenberger, M., Vernaeve, H., Internal sets and internal functions in Colombeau theory, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 341 (2008) 649–659.
- [88] Penrose, R., The geometry of impulsive gravitational waves, in *General Relativity*, L. O'Raifeartaigh (ed.), Clarendon Press, Oxford (1972) pp 101–115.
- [89] Podolsky, J., Griffiths, J.B., Expanding impulsive gravitational waves. Classical Quantum Gravity 16(9) (1999), pp 2937–2946.
- [90] Podolský, J., Steinbauer, R., Švarc, R., Gyratonic pp-waves and their impulsive limit, Phys. Rev. D 90, 044050 (2014).
- [91] Raju, C.K., Products and compositions with the Dirac delta function, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen., 15, (1982), 381–396.
- [92] Raptis, I., Finitary Spacetime Sheaves, Inter. J. Theor. Phys. 39 (2000), No 6, 1703–1716.
- [93] Robinson, A., Function theory on some nonarchimedean fields, Amer. Math. Monthly 80 (6) (1973) 87–109; Part II: Papers in the Foundations of Mathematics.
- [94] Sämann, C., Steinbauer, R., On the completeness of impulsive gravitational waves, Class. Quantum Grav. 29 (2012) 245011.
- [95] Sämann, C., Steinbauer, R., Geodesic completeness of generalized space-times, arXiv:1310.2362[math.dg].
- [96] Sämann, C., Steinbauer, R., Lecke, A., Podolsky, J., Geodesics in nonexpanding impulsive gravitational waves with Λ. Preprint 2015.
- [97] Scarpalézos, D., Some remarks on functoriality of Colombeau's construction; topological and microlocal aspects and applications, Int. Transf. Spec. Fct. 1998, Vol. 6, No. 1–4, 295–307.
- [98] Scarpalézos, D., Colombeau's generalized functions: topological structures; microlocal properties. A simplified point of view. I. Bull. Cl. Sci. Math. Nat. Sci. Math. No. 25 (2000), 89–114.
- [99] Scarpalézos, D., Colombeau's generalized functions: topological structures; microlocal properties. A simplified point of view. II. Publ. Inst. Math. (Beograd) (N.S.) 76(90) (2004), 111–125.
- [100] Sebastião e Silva, J., Sur une construction axiomatique de la theorie des distributions. Rev. Fac. Ciências Lisboa, 2a serie A, 4, pp. 79-186, 1954/55.
- [101] Shamseddine, K.. New Elements of Analysis on the Levi-Civita Field. PhD thesis, Michigan State University, East Lansing, Michigan, USA, 1999.
- [102] Shamseddine, K., Berz, M., Intermediate value theorem for analytic functions on a Levi-Civita field. Bull. Belg. Math. Soc. Simon Stevin, 14, pp. 1001–1015, 2007.
- [103] Shiraishi, R., On the value of a distribution at a point and the multiplicative product. J. Sci. Hiroshima Univ. Ser. A-I 31, 89–104, 1967.
- [104] Schmieden, C., Laugwitz, D., Eine Erweiterung der Infinitesimalrechnung, Math. Zeitschr., 69, 1–39, 1958.
- [105] Schwartz, L., Théorie des distributions. Hermann, 2 vols., 1950/1951.
- [106] Schwartz, L., Sur l'impossibilité de la multiplication des distributions. Comptes Rendus de L'Academie des Sciences, Paris, 239 (1954) 847-848.
- [107] Souriau, J.M., Structure des Systemes Dynamiques. Dunod, Paris, 1970.
- [108] Souriau, J.M., Groupes diffèrentiels. Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Volume 836. e pp. 91–128. Springer–Verlag, New York, 1981.
- [109] Souriau, J.M., Groupes diffèrentiels et physique mathèmatique. Collection travaux en cours. pp. 75–79. Hermann, Paris, 1984.
- [110] Steinbauer, R., Vickers, J.A., The use of generalized functions and distributions in general relativity, Class. Quantum Grav. 23(10), R91-R114, (2006).

- [111] Steinbauer, R., Vickers, J.A., On the Geroch–Traschen class of metrics, *Class. Quantum Grav.* 26(6):065001, 19, 2009.
- [112] Todorov, T.D., An axiomatic approach to the non-linear theory of generalized functions and consistency of Laplace transforms. Integral Transforms and Special Functions, Volume 22, Is- sue 9, September 2011, p. 695-708.
- [113] Todorov, T.D., Algebraic Approach to Colombeau Theory. San Paulo Journal of Mathematical Sciences, 7 (2013), no. 2, 127-142.
- [114] Todorov, T.D., Vernaeve, H., Full algebra of generalized functions and non-standard asymptotic analysis. Log. Anal. 1 (2008), 205–234.
- [115] Tornberg, A.K., Engquist, B., Numerical approximations of singular source terms in differential equations, Journal of Computational Physics 200 (2004) 462–488.
- [116] Vernaeve, H., Generalized analytic functions on generalized domains, arXiv:0811.1521v1, 2008.
- [117] Vernaeve, H., Ideals in the ring of Colombeau generalized numbers. Comm. Alg., 38 (2010), no. 6, 2199–2228.
- [118] Vernaeve, H. Nonstandard principles for generalized functions, J. Math. Anal. and Appl., Volume 384, Issue 2, 2011, 536–548.
- [119] Vernaeve, H., An Application of Internal Objects to Microlocal Analysis in Generalized Function Algebras, Chapter in: Special issue ISAAC - Dedicated to Prof. Stevan Pilipovic for his 65 birthday. Eds. M. Oberguggenberger, J. Toft, J. Vindas and P. Wahlberg, Volume 260 of the series *Operator Theory: Advances and Applications*, Springer International Publishing, pp 237-251.
- [120] Vickers, J.A., Wilson, J.P., Generalized hyperbolicity in conical spacetimes. Class. Quantum. Grav., 17:1333–1360, 2000.
- [121] Ye, G., Liu, W., The distributional Henstock–Kurzweil integral and applications, Monatsh. Math., Volume 181, Issue 4, pp. 975–989, 2016.

WOLFGANG PAULI INSTITUTE, VIENNA, AUSTRIA Email address: paolo.giordano@univie.ac.at

UNIVERSITY OF VIENNA, AUSTRIA Email address: michael.kunzinger@univie.ac.at

GHENT UNIVERSITY, BELGIUM Email address: Hans.Vernaeve@UGent.be